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COMPANY PROFILE
NGNS

Readboy Education Holding Company Limited (“Readboy” or the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) has been listed
on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2385) since 12 July 2022. The
Group’s primary business involves the design, development, manufacturing
and selling of intelligent learning devices, as well as the provision of
comprehensive educational resources for educational institutions, schools,
teachers, parents and students. The Group’s product portfolio includes
personal student tablets, teaching system solutions, personalised smart
learning terminals, digital and smart classroom solutions, wearable
products, and other accessories. Leveraging advanced technologies such
as artificial intelligence, big data, and cognitive modeling, the Group aims to
deliver flexible, efficient, interactive, and personalised teaching experiences
to its users.

Our Readboy brand was recognised as a reputable technology-powered
education brand in China. We have accumulated over 8.8 million registered
users by December 2023, with daily active users of 0.75 million and our
average monthly active users amounted to over 1.4 million in the past 12
months.

In addition, we have established a nationwide offline distribution network
with deep penetration. As at 31 December 2023, we contracted 80 offline
distributors who controlled a total of 3,497 points of sales located in 528
cities covering 31 provinces and autonomous administrative regions,
including municipalities, across China.

2 Readboy Education Holding Company Limited
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Corporate Information
NEEFR
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERWRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present our annual report for the
year ended 31 December 2023. The past year was a tough year full of
challenges for the Company. We spared no efforts to trial various strategies
to cope with such evolving changes, however, we still recorded a loss.
An overview of the past year and development plan for the future are
summarized as below.

OVERVIEW

Over the past year, the global economy featured volatility and uncertainties.
In response, we took a strategy of flexible operation and continuous
innovation, and successfully maintained the market position of the
Company. We further improved our product lines and services, and attained
significant achievements in the smart wearable devices and supplemental
products in assisting family teaching, which also enhanced our brand
influence.

Regarding our financial performance, the revenue did not meet our
expectation. Even with efficient cost control, the Company still recorded
a decrease of revenue as a result of the combined effect of various
unfavourable factors. We thus realized more than ever that it is crucial to
respond to changes in markets rapidly.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Looking forward, we will stick to our development strategy with innovation
at the core to further advance the product research and development,
especially continuous innovation in smart education devices. Meanwhile, we
will focus on internal operation efficiency and customer service to provide
better products and services.

Digital transformation will be a major pillar of our future development. In
particular, we will invest in the latest technologies to improve our operation
efficiency and sales capacity, and constantly optimise our product lines
based on a better understanding of the market and customer needs
derived from data analysis.

In addition, we will increase efforts in cultivating and recruiting talents as
well as building a culture of curiosity within the Company to improve the
overall capacity and innovation of our teams. Besides, internal and external
trainings will be constantly organized to make sure our team can address
the emerging challenges in market.
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Chairman's Statement
FERS

We will still focus on developing the domestic market, especially on raising S EER BN HEEH - FRI288E
the penetration rate of our products in third-and-fourth-tier cities and rural I RIERRF = T R AN B E AT I5 25
areas. We believe we can serve our customers better by satisfying their %  HII8E - BRF IR A T THHARAR
needs through developing local markets in depth, and thus achieve stable % - FPseME LFHmE BT P HIFR K - WEREF

and sustainable growth. BIRTERIER -
APPRECIATION &)

Last but not least, | would like to express my appreciation to all staff &% + ZERHAE B LBE—FAFEITIEM
for their hard work and dedication, and to our customers, partners and Bt @ LWEREMIHNEF - SEBHEMBRRE QA
shareholders for their continuing support to and trust in the Company over ~ BIISESZ FEAE(E o EEE - BPUKARESE
the past year. Despite challenges and difficulties ahead, we believe we can  BHRIMLE 1 - HMIEHRER - XFEFRE

strive forward with concerted effort and achieve better performance. BREEERE -

Qin Shuguang RBEKX

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer FEEREENTE
Hong Kong, 27 March 2024 BE 2024F 38278
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWN D

INDUSTRY REVIEW
Educational Industry Development

The smart education industry in China has demonstrated strong growth
momentum in recent years, with the market size of the industry reaching
RMB315.9 billion in 2022 and expected to further increase to RMB342
billion in 2023. Such growth is mainly attributable to the active support of
national policies, the rapid development of education informatization and
the growing market demand for smart education. Through the integration
of cloud computing, big data, Internet of Things, artificial intelligence and
other advanced technologies, smart education not only offers innovative
teaching methods, but also effectively achieves education tailored to the
individual needs of students, significantly improving the quality of education
and learning efficiency.
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As a new education method, smart education is emerging from the national
policies such as the New Generation of Artificial Intelligence Development
Plan ((FTi—RATEZ2REEE])). It has obvious advantages over
traditional education modes, especially in promoting interaction between
teachers and students and improving learning efficiency.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
SRR ERE SR

Benefiting from the application of technology, at the end of 2022, the
Internet access rate of primary and secondary schools in China reached
100% across the board, while the penetration rate of multimedia classrooms
also reached 99.5%, indicating the comprehensive enhancement of
education informatization infrastructure and the establishment of a digital
teaching environment.

The rapid development of China’s smart education industry demonstrates
the potential of technological innovation in the field of education and
its broad prospects in line with national strategic guidelines. With
continuous technological advancements and growing market demands,
smart education will undoubtedly continue to drive the progress and
transformation of China’s education industry.

Smart Education Devices Market Overview

With the increasing attention from the China’s education sector and
policy support towards smart education, the smart education devices
market continued growth trends in 2023 and is expected to maintain this
momentum in 2024. The growth in market size reflects the widespread
adoption of online education platforms and digital and smart classroom
solutions and various types of smart classroom devices. Smart education
is transitioning from a singular teaching aid to a comprehensive educational
ecosystem.

Smart education devices include multimedia interactive whiteboards,
personalized learning devices for students, virtual laboratory devices,
and learning management systems driven by data analysis and artificial
intelligence. The application of these devices and systems not only
enhances teaching efficiency but also makes education more personalized
and interactive, thereby improving students’ learning experiences and the
quality of education.

With the great support by the education authorities, digital facilities are
available in much more primary and secondary schools with an increasing
internet access and multimedia classroom penetration, laying a solid
foundation for the expansion of the smart education equipment market.
As such, the smart education equipment suppliers may cooperate with
educational institutions to develop and promote innovative teaching
solutions, and the emerging needs of the education industry can also
be satisfied by better technology and service. In the coming years, it is
expected that the smart education equipment market will become much
larger, benefitting from continuous growth of the gross product of the smart
education industry.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEER R DN

Industry Policies and Standards

Throughout the year, relevant national departments intensified policy
support for the construction of educational informatisation, and introduced
more industrial standards and regulations to ensure the healthy and orderly
development of education informatisation. The Ministry of Education
and other 17 departments jointly issued the Opinions on Strengthening
Science Education in Primary and Secondary Schools in the New Era
(KR Mg R/ NERIEHE TEME R)), which make systematic
deployments on how to strengthen science education under the “double
reduction” policy, so as to support service integration and promote
the high-quality development of education, technology and talents. To
improve school teaching and services, the Opinions calls for schools to
offer science courses across the board, revise and improve curriculum
standards and textbooks, and incorporate teaching-aid books into the
regulatory system. In addition, it is emphasized that experimental teaching
must be strengthened, and primary and secondary school students shall
be organized to carry out scene-based and experiential scientific activities
in science education places. At the same time, it is required to establish
the post of primary school science teachers and strengthen the staffing
for primary and secondary school experimentalists and science teaching
research personnel at all levels of teaching research departments.

Technological Innovation and Application

In 2023, the application of new technologies such as artificial intelligence,
big data and cloud computing became more widespread and impactful in
the education sector. The integration and application of these technologies
further upgraded the functions of smart education devices and thus
improved the education quality and learning efficiency.

Consumer Behaviour Changes

With consumers’ increasing diversified demands for smart education
devices, companies have provided differentiated products and services to
meet the needs of students from different age groups, regions and family
backgrounds.

Diversified Users

Readboy and other companies are committed to education informatization,
expanding their user base to include not only students, but also government
educational departments, schools, teachers, students and parents.
Leveraging the digital and smart classroom solutions, such companies
can not only meet the needs of government and the school administrative
management, but also strengthen the communication between schools and
parents and meet the diverse teaching and learning needs of teachers and
students.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
SRR ERE SR

We currently primarily offer our products under one brand, namely Readboy
(FEZEB). Our Readboy brand was recognised as a reputable technology
powered education brand in China. The major products we sell include
(i) personal student tablets; (ii) digital and smart classroom solutions; (iii)
wearable products and (iv) other products including teaching and learning
accessories, such as smart reader pens, smart scanner pens, and smart
learning desks and chairs. On top of the above, we also generate revenue
from advertisement and content licensing.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2023 Annual, the Group continued to be engaged in the production and
sales of personal student tablets, digital and smart classroom solutions,
wearable products, other products and advertisement and content licensing
in China.

We design, develop, manufacture and market smart learning devices
empowered by digital educational resources targeting primary and
secondary school students in China, creating a flexible, efficient, effective,
interactive and personalised learning experience. We design and develop
our smart learning devices by utilising our in-house research and
development capacities, with a substantial portion of the manufacturing and
assembling process managed by ourselves.

In 2023, our business has experienced an important transformational
period. Following the successful listing in 2022, we faced multiple
challenges in the market and continued to focus on expanding our business
and strengthening our market position. Despite a loss was recorded in our
annual results, we have laid the foundations for the success of our business
amid steady growth in 2024 during the year.

As a leading supplier of smart education solutions, we are committed to
providing our customers with high-quality software and hardware products.
In 2023, we actively developed and marketed innovative products that
address the diverse needs of learners, ranging from early education
machines for preschool education to personalized smart learning terminals
for secondary school students. In addition, we continue to expand our
product lines to meet the learning needs of different age groups. Leveraging
technological innovations, such as the use of artificial intelligence and
big data, we have begun to provide users with a more personalized and
interactive teaching and learning experience.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEER R DN

In terms of education governance solutions, our one-stop education public
service platform has successfully met the needs of education authorities
across the country. This not only represents a technological breakthrough,
but is also a proof that we understand and meet the needs of smart
education governance in various regions. Our digital and smart classroom
solutions have also been successfully implemented in a number of schools,
demonstrating our ability in integrating teaching, management, monitoring
and interactive functions.

At the same time, we are actively expanding our partnerships and have
established a strategic partnership with the Research Center for Language
Intelligence of China (FEIFEE B eefist+ 1) to jointly promote the
development of education informatisation and smart education. Our
customer service team is also making continuous progress to improve
customer satisfaction and sustain long-term relationships with customers.

Although our operating results in 2023 were less favorable than expected,
we believe that our efforts have laid a solid foundation for our future steady
growth. We will continue to leverage our technological and market strengths
and focus on our core products and services with a view to achieving stable
business growth in 2024.

Personal Student Tablets

Personal student tablets designed by Readboy are tailored for personal
end-users who are primary and secondary (including middle and high
school) students aged 6 to 18, equipped with abundant digital educational
resources, including synchronous lesson preparation, review and learning
materials, which are supplemental to the education for compulsory school
education. In addition, Readboy has curated some distinctive learning
resources to meet students’ personalized needs.

Personal student tablets come preloaded with a large number of
courseware resources and are highly customizable to adjust to students’
needs and schools’ teaching plans. It can also connect to Readboy’s
online learning platform, which offers a wealth of recorded video resources,
enabling students to engage in learning anytime, anywhere.
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Readboy’s personal student tablets are dedicated to providing a
comprehensive learning platform for primary and secondary school
students that integrates learning, interaction and entertainment, allowing
students to easily learn outside the classroom and enhance learning
effectiveness. By using our personal student tablets, students can better
adapt to the trend of educational informatization, cultivate independent
learning, and foster the ability for autonomous exploration. Revenue derived
from the sales of the personal student tablets decreased by approximately
40.0% from RMB522.2 million in 2022 Annual to RMB313.1 million in
20283 Annual. The decrease was mainly due to (i) the negative impact on
product sales in the domestic economy influenced by the international
macroeconomic environment; (i) “double reduction” policy and consumer’s
caution in spendings post-pandemic, leading to an overall decrease in
market demand.

Digital and Smart Classroom Solutions

Our digital and smart classroom solutions aim to provide schools with
an integrated set of digital education equipment that deeply empowers
campuses to achieve educational digitization transformation. The digital and
smart classroom solutions include intelligent grading systems, integrated
teaching-researching platforms, digital homework systems, precision
teaching systems, English listening and speaking training systems, parent-
school collaboration platforms, and other software. By deploying our digital
and smart classroom solutions, teachers can more easily organize teaching
activities, improve teaching quality and efficiency, while parents can also
instantly understand their children’s learning progress and jointly focus on
their growth. Our digital and smart classroom solutions primarily target the
primary and secondary school market, provide a more efficient, convenient
and personalized learning environment, driving the enhancement of
educational quality to meet the needs of contemporary education.

Revenue derived from the sales of the digital and smart classroom
solutions decreased by approximately 34.1% from RMB15.3 million in
2022 Annual to RMB10.1 million in 2023 Annual. The decrease is mainly
due to schools vigorously implementing educational digitization strategies
and further adjustment to the policies related to the “National Education
Smart Platform” during the period, leading to reduced purchases of related
products by schools.
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Wearable Products

We believe that under the new era, wearable educational accessories are
playing an increasingly pivotal role in education. They enable students to
access a variety of audio-visual educational resources wirelessly and hands-
free during fragmented time outside the classroom. These devices extend
the educational scenarios, enhancing the joy and motivation of learning
within these fragmented periods. Therefore, we have specifically developed
a smartwatch focused on educational features and functionality. This watch
comes pre-installed with a daily bilingual (Chinese and English) vocabulary
learning feature, and is equipped with traditional functions such as GPS,
video calling, health monitoring and emergency assistance. Revenue from
the sales of wearable products decreased by 67.7% from RMB27.0 million
in 2022 Annual to RMB8.7 million in 2023 Annual, primarily due to (i) the
negative impact of the domestic economy influenced by the international
macroeconomic environment on product sales; (i) “double reduction” policy
and consumer’s caution in spendings post-pandemic, leading to an overall
decrease in market demand.

Other Products

We identify emerging market demands and trends, and continuously
develop teaching and learning auxiliary products compatible with our
smart learning devices, aiming to make learning more fruitful and efficient.
At present, we offer an Al Dictionary Pen. This pen features intelligent
recognition capability and is able to work in tandem with our online content
to recognise and read Chinese or English vocabulary and sentences.

The Al Dictionary Pen provides authentic and pure human pronunciation,
with translations that are comparable to a proficiency level of Test for
English Majors Grade 8, thus it is able to cultivate a fluent sense of English.
It supports multiple languages including Chinese, English, Japanese,
Korean, French, Russian, German and Spanish, providing convenient
operation and quick translation and is able to play text content in a more
natural and fluent manner. For students wishing to enhance their language
learning, the Al Dictionary Pen is undoubtedly a practical tool.

Moreover, our smart scanning pen has an offline real-time translation
feature, capable of translating selected Chinese or English sentences. This
means that no matter where the user is, as long as they have this pen on
hand, they can translate anytime, anywhere, overcoming language barriers,
making learning and communication more convenient.

Revenue from the sales of these accessory products decreased by 46.7%
from RMB29.1 million in 2022 Annual to RMB15.5 million in 2023 Annual
due to (i) the negative impact of the domestic economy influenced by the
international macroeconomic environment on product sales; (ii) “double
reduction” policy and consumer’s caution in spendings post-pandemic,
leading to an overall decrease in market demand.

14 Readboy Education Holding Company Limited
Annual Report 2023

A ZFREm

BMRA  EFHEANHEF  JFHAHE N
B EZHREEZNAE - ©IfEEEER
RE 7N CREEE - BBESNRIRN A
AENSERERHER - BLEXHEHRE THE
B5 0 T BAEERE R (LR A 28 24 A
gh o At - BRMEPIFE T R IRHBE R
EMNENEEF& - W FHRBERTEEAR
MR EF R —mIeE - WhHE T GPS ~ fR4A
B BREEINZ2EHSERIEE - AT TH
ERMEERAH2022FFENARK 2708
B 67.7%E2023F FEMAREKESTH
B TERAR()BREES IR RRIEY
& EREEINNamFER ERBE] X
BEBRR T EBE BB DRI AZIEMNRE
EBHMBHREE -

H A Em

PAFIFEE R AT 5 R MBS - TR
BB ERERTNHEREEREER
EEESEEEERBLDM - BAT - RFHRHEA
A EREABERARITIE - WS
PIEAR EAE - BRI RBAE T SR AR R
Fo

Al ER AR S HEAIE - BIEERELEN
IKEE - FEMAMRABEK - EEP R A
B0l B AMTEZEEES  BRIFE
B  EMEBER  RBHERFER
B HRBENBESTBENBERG - AIFH
FEGEEEERNTA -

s BN B R EE R AR EED
Be > AIABER XA R AFETHFE - ER
EEWAPEEMNRE  REF LAERE @ M
FREESIRERTBE A TTRIE - RRFE SRR - R
BHXREEEINEE

ZEMEEMMNEEWAR2022FFEMHAR
B201 B BILR L 46.7% E2023F FEMAR
A5 BETT - AR () BALES BIRBR AR
REE EmHEXIEETE - R R
R RBEBHERTEBELHEBDREIR A2
EMREE SN MESEH KK -



Management Discussion and Analysis
SRR ERE SR

Advertisement and Content Licensing

Revenue from advertisement and content licensing represented our revenue
derived from third parties placing in-app advertisements with us, and from
those offering our licensed digital educational resources on their platforms
or devices based on profit-sharing arrangements. Typically, we place links
to our clients’ applications on the devices we sell and charge fees based
on the fixed price per click or download stipulated in the contract signed
with the client, as well as the number of clicks by end users. Additionally,
we also license our prerecorded video resources to third-party channels,
who then offer the digital educational resources on their platforms for sale
to end users or install our digital educational resources on their devices for
end users to use. When users purchase digital educational resources from
the platform, we are entitled to a fixed percentage of the total earnings
collected by the channel, and when end users activate the third parties’
devices, we are entitled to collected a fixed amount per activated device.

Revenue generated from advertisement and content licensing increased by
approximately 2.4% from approximately RMB11.7 million in 2022 Annual to
approximately RMB11.9 million in 2023 Annual, primarily as a result of our
efforts in attracting more new third parties to place in-app advertisements
with us and to offer/install our licensed digital educational resources on their
platforms or devices.

Distribution Network

The Group primarily sells its products through third-party offline distributors.
These distributors have their own sales networks and customer bases,
which can assist us in promoting our products more extensively. We also
distribute through online channels comprising of our self-operated online
stores on mainstream e-commerce marketplaces and a limited number of
online distributors.

By selling our products through online channels, we can expose our brand
and products to a broader array of potential customers. Our self-operated
online store provides a convenient shopping platform allowing customers
to easily purchase our products. Simultaneously, we collaborate with
several online distributors, such as mainstream e-commerce platforms like
Taobao and JD.com, offering our customers a more convenient shopping
experience, while expanding the exposure and sales channels of our
products.

Our sales strategy is diversified, relying on both offline distributors and
online sales channels to ensure that our products can be discovered and
purchased by a larger customer base.
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The table below sets forth the revenue contribution by our sales channels:

For the year ended
31 December 2023
BZE2023F12A31H

TREIIRIHEREE DOBARR

For the year ended
31 December 2022
#H=E2022F12 A31H

HEE IEFE
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
AR¥T T ARBTIT
Offline distributors BT 270,279 75.2 487,638 80.6
Self-operated online platforms BEfKTa 44,649 12.4 47,972 7.9
Online distributors 4R _FAESET 28,371 7.9 57,942 9.6
Others EHho 16,073 4.5 11,658 1.9
Total “et 359,372 100.0 605,210 100.0
Note (1):  Revenue derived from others during 2022 Annual and 2023 Annual  BizE(1): 2022 FF[E [ 2023 FFZ K 5 E M AyUR

mainly represented the portion of revenue from (i) third parties who
placed in-app advertisements with us and (i) third parties who offered
our licensed digital educational resources on their platforms under

profit-sharing arrangements.

Readboy Institute of Education Technology

We strive to explore educational resources and deliver high quality digital
educational resources to the Chinese students. In 2017, we established
Readboy Institute of Education Technology. It is our in-house educational
resource research and development center which is mainly responsible
for content research, educational resource design and development,
courseware and pre-recorded video resource production and other relevant
supportive services.
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Corporate Honors RERE

Date Awards/Qualifications Institution

HE %15 EE RIS

January 2023 Specialized and New SMEs Department of Industry and Information

202341 A IR E Technology of Guangdong Province
BRETEMERLE

February 2023 Join Hands to Charity for Love Command Department of Charity

202342 A HFRE  mERT with Thousands of People for 2023 in
Wuguishan Subdistrict
TAEILAE 2023 F A E B ATTIRIESD

February 2023 Science and Technology Award Wuguishan Subdistrict Office of

202342 A R Bl 3 42 Zhongshan
RILT AL EN SR

June 2023 Silver Award for Trademark Brand Cultivation Executive Committee of the 1st

20234 6 A PR mAR S A R Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area (Guangdong) High Value
Trademark Brand Cultivation Competition
F-REBRAER(ER)SBERZ
Mg E RENTEES

September 2023 Industrial Design Center in Zhongshan Bureau of Industry and Information

202349 A AT RGO Technology of Zhongshan
PRI IENEER

November 2023 SSE Star Market Top 30 of Zhongshan in 2023  Municipal CPC Committee of Zhongshan

2023411 A 2023 F LT RHRAIFT {2 3058 and Zhongshan Municipal People's

Government

o ko T L T AR AT
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The revenue of the Group decrease by approximately 40.6% from
RMB605.2 million in 2022 Annual to RMB359.4 million to 2023 Annual. The
decrease was primarily resulted from (i) the negative impact of the domestic
economy influenced by the international macroeconomic environment
on product sales; (i) “double reduction” policy and consumer’s caution
in spendings post-pandemic, leading to an overall decrease in market
demand and product homogeneity offered by different players.

The table below sets forth a summary of revenues derived from each of our
product categories:

B 75 Bl R
LN

AEBRUAR2022FFEH ARKB05.2H
BRI H140.6% E 2023 FEEM AR 359.4
BEIL ° 2R TEZ BN () Bl AL E X EIBIRR
ARBREE EnHEXIEETE: Rl E
WK ] kR BERR T EHEE L EB IR
AREEMREE NS E KR RS HE R
REmBREEL -

TERHEFIRESERERHRABE :

For the year ended December 31

BE12A31ALLEE

2023 2022
2023 2022
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
ARET T AREETTT

Personal student tablets B EAFR 313,132 87.1 522,166 86.3
Digital and smart classroom solutions £ 1% BEfR R 77 22 10,080 2.8 15,299 2.5
Wearable products Al FEEm 8,724 2.4 26,985 4.5
Other products HAbEmMR 15,499 4.4 29,102 4.8
Advertisement and content licensing &% K& AR R #E 11,937 3.3 11,658 1.9
Total MEt 359,372 100.0 605,210 100.0
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For the year ended December 31
BZ12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023 2022 4
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
AR¥T T AREFIT
Personal student tablets B (E A FIR
Devices!" JiEO 215,573 60.0 396,157 65.5
Digital educational B CHEHER
resources and services!” ARG 97,559 27.1 126,009 20.8
Sub-total et 313,132 87.1 522,166 86.3
Digital and smart classroom HERBERRAE
solutions
Devices" Byl 5,954 1.7 10,574 1.7
Digital educational HFR L HHER
resources and services!! AR O 4,126 1.1 4,725 0.8
Sub-total NS 10,080 2.8 15,299 2.5
Wearable products AIFEEm 8,724 2.4 26,985 4.5
Other products HAtbZEm 15,499 4.4 29,102 4.8
Advertisement and content EERARRE
licensing 11,937 3.3 11,658 1.9
Total #mst 359,372 100.0 605,210 100.0
Note: 5L -

(1) During the 2022 Annual and 2023 Annual, we did not separately charge fees
based on digital educational resources we have offered. Instead, we consider

the value of our personal student tablets and the digital and smart classroom

solutions devices represent the aggregate value of the hardware devices and

the associated digital education resources and services. As such, revenue

derived from devices is recognized at the point in time when control of the

devices is transferred to the customers. Revenue derived from the digital

educational resources and services is recognized over the estimated user life

on a straight-line basis.

M
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Cost of Sales

Our cost of sales decreased by approximately 43.3% from RMB471.0
million in 2022 Annual to RMB267.0 million in 2023 Annual. The decrease
was primarily due to the decrease in the sales of tablets during 2023 Annual
which resulted in the corresponding decrease in cost of sales.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Our gross profit decreased by approximately 31.1% from RMB134.2 million
in 2022 Annual to RMB92.4 million in 2023 Annual, primarily due to the
decrease in revenue as discussed above. The gross profit margin increased
from 22.2% in 2022 Annual to 25.7% in 2023 Annual, primarily due to new
products with higher gross profit margin launched during 2023 Annual and
increased sales from self-operated online platform.

Other Income and Gains

Other income and gains decreased by approximately 36.0% from RMB69.1
million in 2022 Annual to RMB44.2 million in 2023 Annual, which was mainly
due to (i) the decrease in exchange gain by RMB11.5 million, resulted
from foreign exchange fluctuation during the year between our functional
currency (ie. RMB) and foreign currency (ie. USD, HKD) which was a result
of the higher depreciation of RMB in 2022 Annual; (i) the decrease in sale
of raw materials and accessory parts by RMB13.0 million in 2023 Annual.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses decreased by approximately 16.2%
from RMB96.4 million in 2022 Annual to RMB80.8 million in 2023 Annual,
which was primarily due to the decease in advertising and marketing
expenses as a result of the decreased sales.

Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses decreased by approximately 27.8% from
RMB54.4 million in 2022 Annual to RMB39.3 million in 2023 Annual which
was primarily due to no incurrence of listing-related expenses during the
year.

Impairment losses on financial assets

Our impairment losses on financial assets increased by approximately
117.5% from RMB1.7 million in 2022 Annual to RMB3.7 million in 2023
Annual which was mainly due to the Group incurred more expected credit
losses on accounts receivable, prepayments, other receivables and other
assets than last year.
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Research and Development Expenses

Our research and development expenses increased by 13.5% from
RMB37.9 million in 2022 Annual to RMB43.0 million in 2023 Annual,
primarily due to intensified competition in the industry which resulted in the
product homogeneity offered by different players. The Company therefore
increased its investment in the development of new products during
the year for enhancing its long-term competitiveness and the increase
in professional service fees and increase in staff costs to motivate our
research and development personnel, reflecting the enhanced research and
development activities in 2023.

Other Expenses

Our other expenses decreased by approximately 50.9% from RMB22.2
million in 2022 Annual to RMB10.9 million in 2023 Annual, primarily due
to a large amount of raw materials and accessory parts disposed in 2022
Annual.

Finance Costs

Our finance costs increased by approximately 783.6% from RMB134,000
in 2022 Annual to RMB1.2 million in 2023 Annual, primarily due to the
increase in interest expenses on interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Changes in fair value of financial assets/liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

The changes in fair value of financial assets/liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss consisted of (i) a gain in fair value of financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss of approximately RMB3.6 million in 2022 Annual
which was related to the issue of an aggregate of 67,288 shares to three
Pre-IPO Investors at a total consideration of USD22.7 million (equivalent to
RMB147.0 million). The carrying amount was derecognised from financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and reclassified to the equity
upon the lapse of redemption right upon the completion of the listing of the
shares of the Company on 12 July 2022. Therefore, there was no changes
in fair value of financial liabilities in 2023 Annual, and (i) a loss in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately RMB19.1
million in 2023 Annual (2022 Annual: a gain of RMB16.5 million) which was
related to the equity investment in a Hong Kong listed company, namely,
Flowing Cloud Technology Ltd (Stock Code: 6610) (“Flowing Cloud”). The
fair value of the listed equity investment were based on the quoted price in
the active stock market.
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(Loss)/Profit Before Tax

As a result of the foregoing, our profit before tax was RMB10.7 million in
2022 Annual and our loss before tax was RMB61.3 million in 2023 Annual.

Income Tax Expense

We recorded income tax expense of RMB11.2 million in 2023 Annual,
mainly as a result of i) the increase in deferred tax expense of contract
liabilities by approximately RMB7.1 million; ii) a reversal of deferred tax
assets of tax losses by approximately RMB6.4 million, which was mainly
due to the deferred tax assets of tax loss cannot be recognised as it is not
considered probable that taxable profits will be available in the foreseeable
future against which the tax losses can be utilised. Income tax credit
amounted to RMB5.9 million was recorded in 2022 Annual.

(Loss)/profit for the year

As a result of the foregoing, we recognized net loss of RMB72.5 million and
net profit of RMB4.9 million for 2023 Annual and 2022 Annual, respectively.
The decrease in profit was mainly attributable to a decrease in gross profit
by approximately RMB41.8 million, a decrease in other income and gains
of approximately RMB24.9 million, a decrease in changes in fair value of
financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss of approximately
RMB39.2 million, as well as an increase in research and development
expenses of approximately RMB5.1 million, which were partially offset by
a decrease in selling and distribution expenses of approximately RMB15.6
million, a decrease in administrative expenses of approximately RMB15.1
million and a decrease in other expenses of approximately RMB11.3 million.
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Non-HKFRS Measures

To supplement the Group’s consolidated financial statements, which are
presented in accordance with HKFRS, we also present adjusted net profit/
net loss as additional financial measures, which are not required by, or
presented in accordance with HKFRS. Adjusted net profit/net loss, as
we present it, represents profit/loss for the year before listing expenses
(applicable for the year 2022 only) and changes in fair value of financial
assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Listing expenses
are expenses in relation to the initial public offering of the shares of the
Company. Changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are non-cash expenses in connection with the Group’s listed
equity investment in Flowing Cloud Technology Ltd (Stock Code: 6610).
Changes in fair value of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(applicable for the year 2022 only) are non-cash expenses in connection
with the shares we issued to our pre-IPO investors. We believe that the
presentation of non-HKFRS measures, when shown in conjunction with the
corresponding HKFRS measures, provides useful information to investors
and management.

While these non-HKFRS measures provide additional financial measures
for investors to assess our operating performance, the use of these non-
HKFRS measures has certain limitations because they do not reflect all
items of income and expense that affect our operations. Our presentation
of these non-HKFRS measures should not be construed as an inference
that our future results will be unaffected by such unusual item.

These non-HKFRS measures should not be considered in isolation or
construed as a substitute for analysis of HKFRSs financial measures. In
addition, as these measures may not be calculated in the same manner by
all companies, our adjusted net profit/net loss (a non-HKFRS measure) may
not be comparable to the same or similarly titted measures presented by
other companies.
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The following table reconciles loss/profit for the year indicated under
HKFRSs to adjusted net loss/net profit (a non-HKFRS measure):

Ti‘%%iﬁ%ﬁ})ﬁﬁi’éﬁﬁkiﬁiﬁﬁlf HHEES
FE R FEE,FHEGEEBMBRE
ERIFTE) R

For the year
ended 31 December
BZ12A31HILEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBTT
(audited) (audited)
€32 (feF==Z)
(Loss)/Profit for the year FR(ER) FE (72,538) 4,856
Add: -
Listing expenses Bl b3 - 21,587
Less: A
Changes in fair value of financial BRARBEFABENERMEE,
assets/liabilities at fair value BENALEEE
through profit or loss (19,116) 20,111
Adjusted net (loss)/net profit for the FREHEF (FE), FAHE
year (a non-HKFRS measure) (EEBUBREERTE) (53,422) 6,332

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group has always pursued a prudent treasury management policy and
actively manages its liquidity position to cope with any demands for capital
for daily operation and future development.

The Group funded and is expected to continue to fund its operations
principally from cash generated from operations, net proceeds from
the initial public offering of shares and unutilized banking facilities. As
at 31 December 2023, the Group had short-term bank borrowings of
approximately RMB55.3 million (as at 31 December 2022: nil), with fixed
interest rate ranging from 3.0% to 3.2%.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group had unutilized banking facilities of
approximately RMB44.7 million (as at 31 December 2022: RMB160.0
million).

Cash Position

The Group’s financial position is sound. As at 31 December 2023, the
Group had cash and cash equivalents of RMB351.5 million (as at 31
December 2022: RMB149.0 million), which primarily consisted of deposits
in bank denominated in RMB, USD and HKD.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2023, our gearing ratio, which is calculated as total
liabilities divided by total assets, was 31.7%, as compared with 27.3% as
at 31 December 2022. The increase was mainly due to the Group’s total
assets decreased at a higher rate than its total liabilities during the year.

Contingent Liabilities and Guarantees

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have significant contingent
liabilities, guarantees or any litigations or claims of material importance (as
at 31 December 2022: Nil).

Significant Investments, Major Acquisitions and Disposals

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any
significant investments, or conduct material acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates. Save as disclosed in the
sections headed “Business” and “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in
the Prospectus, the Group did not have any specific plans for significant
investment or acquisition of material capital assets or other businesses. As
at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any future plan for material
investments or capital assets.

Charge on Group Assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not pledge any group assets (as
at 31 December 2022: Nil).

Exchange Risk

Other than some bank deposits denominated in USD and HKD, the
Group’s business is principally conducted in Renminbi and therefore did not
have any material direct exposure to foreign exchange fluctation in 2023
Annual. Accordingly, the Group considers its exposure to currency risk to
be insignificant. As at 31 December 2023, the Group has not entered into
any hedging transaction against foreign currency risks. However, the Board
will remain alert to any relevant risks and, if necessary, consider to hedge
any material potential foreign exchange risk.
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 419 full-time employees
(as at 31 December 2022: 553 full-time employees). For the year ended
31 December 2023, the Group recognised staff costs of approximately
RMB76.2 million (as at 31 December 2022: RMB70.1 million). The Group
provided employees with salaries and benefits that, in its opinion, were
competitive with market standards and regularly reviewed the remuneration
policies based on employees’ contributions and industry standards. The
Group also contributed to medical insurance, pension insurance, maternity
insurance, unemployment insurance, work-related injury insurance and
housing provident funds for our employees and paid relevant insurance
premiums. In addition, the Group has also engaged external experts to
provide internal training courses for its employees from time to time, with
the aim of enabling the Group’s staff and management at all levels to
enhance their skills and acquire professional knowledge while boosting their
morale. Further, the Group has adopted the RSU Scheme, the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme and the Share Award Scheme to reward the eligible
participants their contribution to the success of the Group and to provide
incentives for their continuing contribution. With the aim to recognise and
motivate the contributions by our employees, the Board and Remuneration
Committee have approved and adopted a share award scheme during the
reporting period. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
28 April 2023 for further details.

Contributions to the defined contribution plan by the Group for its
employees are fully and immediately vested when the contributions are
made and may not be reduced by contributions forfeited by employees who
leave the schemes prior to vesting fully in the contributions. Accordingly,
during the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no forfeited
contributions under the aforementioned defined contribution retirement
benefit plans which may be used by the Group to reduce the contribution
payable

The Group’s employees do not negotiate their terms of employment
through any labor union or by way of collective bargaining agreements.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, no labor dispute had occurred
which materially and adversely affected or was likely to have a material and
adverse effect on the operations of the Group.
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OUTLOOK FOR THE YEAR OF 2024

In the past year, the Group has experienced a challenging period, but we
always believe that sunlight always comes after a storm. In 2023, we have
taken firm steps on the path of transformation despite market volatility and
rising operating costs. We realize that only through continuous innovation
and self-improvement can we maintain a solid foundation in the highly
competitive industry.

Looking forward to 2024, we will continue to pursue our strategy of seeking
success through stability. Our goal goes beyond simply overcoming the
current hurdles; we aim to maintain our leadership position in the field of
smart education through continuous business upgrade and innovation. We
plan to further develop our digital education resources and digital and smart
classroom solutions, and further enhance our collaboration with educational
authorities and schools to provide a more personalized and efficient
teaching experience.

Meanwhile, we will continue to improve and expand our offline distribution
network and strengthen our online channels to achieve broader market
coverage. We will leverage our expertise in artificial intelligence, big data
and advanced technologies to further enhance the functionality of our
products and bring more convenience and value to users.

In terms of product innovation, we will develop more smart learning devices
and educational resources that meet market demands, and continuously
optimize our digital and smart classroom solutions to better meet users’
actual needs. We believe that through precise positioning, we can provide
educational institutions at all levels with one-stop, efficient and sustainable
educational services.

In terms of collaboration, we will continue to work with industry partners
to jointly develop and popularize high-quality digital educational materials
and expand the ecosystem of educational resources. Meanwhile, our
customer service system will be further enhanced to strengthen customer
relationships and improve customer satisfaction.

In 2024, Readboy will continue to pursue innovation and breakthroughs
under the premise of sound business operations, which will not only
facilitate the sustainable growth of the Group, but will also enrich and
deepen the learning and teaching experience of students and educators
in general. We are confident about the future, and firmly believe that our
strategy will enable Readboy to move forward on the journey of intelligent
education with greater strength and determination.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LFEMBEHE

The following table summarises the results, and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022 and
2023:

The summary of the results, and assets and liabilities of the Group for the
years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 was extracted from the
Prospectus.

TR A £ E# E 2019 F « 20204 ~ 2021
F 20224 K 202312 A1 HILFE 7 348 -
BEENBE:

AREBEE 20194 - 20204 K 2021 12 A 31
BILFEZ2E  CENAEMESRHEEHERE

e

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31HLEE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023 2022 £ 2021 £ 20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AREFTRT AREFTIT ARETT
RESULTS B
Revenue g 359,372 605,210 813,181 733,997 669,853
(Loss)/Profit before tax BrEiAT (E5i8),/FE (61,308) 10,729 72,026 102,788 75,906
Income tax (expense)/credit FT{EH: (F) K% (11,230) (5,873) 10,120 (10,775) (6,471)
(Loss)/Profit attributable to ~ £tA &) # A A&
owners of the parent (E518) /F)H (71,447) 5,209 82,146 92,013 69,435
As at 31 December
MW12A31H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023 F 2022 £ 2021 4 20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB’000
ARETT ARETIT ARETRT ARETT ARETT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Total assets WBEE 723,828 962,362 812,902 640,212 509,112
Total liabilities waE 229,690 262,783 553,964 462,425 280,648
Net assets BEEFE 494,138 699,579 258,938 177,787 228,464
Equity attributable to owners &FA B #E A A B
of the parent 495,159 697,808 258,938 177,787 228,464
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESKkSHEERE

FOUNDER AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chen Zhiyong (BRE B), aged 61, is our non-executive Director. He
founded our Group in May 1999 as the chairman of the board of directors
of Readboy Technology from May 1999 to June 2016. To facilitate the
administrative and management convenience of our Group (of which the
main business operation is in the PRC) after his move to Hong Kong in
2016, Mr. Chen resigned from the executive role of Readboy Technology
in June 2016 and has instead taken up an advisory role in Readboy
Technology since then. He was appointed as a non-executive Director
of our Company on 13 April 2021. He is responsible for overseeing the
corporate development and strategic planning of our Group.

Mr. Chen has more than 35 years of extensive experience in the electronics
industry, in particular products research and development. Prior to founding
our Group, Mr. Chen served as a development engineer of Tianjin Central
Scientific Instrument Company (Tianjin Radio No. 1 Factory)* (K2 IREI £
HE2 AR (RIEELZE M) from July 1985 to December 1987, where he
was responsible for product research and development work. From January
1988 to December 1995, Mr. Chen served as the deputy general manager
of marketing department of Zhongshan Xiaobawang Electronic Industry
Co., Ltd* (FII/NBEEEFITEBR2AF]), where he was responsible for
product development and marketing work. From April 1996 to April 2004,
Mr. Chen served as the chairman of the board of directors of Zhongshan
Rijia Electronics Co., Ltd* (FILTH BES FARAA)).

Mr. Chen received his bachelor’s degree in engineering with a major in
electronic physics technology from Zhejiang University* (47T AE2) in July
1983. Mr. Chen is one of our Controlling Shareholders.
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Directors and Senior Management
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Qin Shuguang (EEE3), aged 54, is our chairman, chief executive
officer and executive Director. Mr. Qin was appointed as a Director on
8 February 2021 and was re-designated as the chairman, chief executive
officer and executive Director of our Company on 13 April 2021. Mr. Qin
is responsible for formulating overall operations, management, strategic
planning and business development.

Mr. Qin joined our Group in May 1999 and has been serving as the general
manager of Readboy Technology. Since June 2016, Mr. Qin has been
serving as the chairman of the board of directors of Readboy Technology.
As of the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. Qin also held several directorships in
our subsidiaries, including Readboy Technology, Zhuhai Readboy, Readboy
Education Group, Readboy Education HK and Readboy Technology
Zhongshan.

Mr. Qin has more than 25 years of extensive experience in the electronics
industry. From September 1993 to April 1995, Mr. Qin served as the head
of the planning and operating department of Zhongshan Xiaocbawang
Electronic Industry Co., Ltd* (FIL/NFEEEFTEERAA]). From
May 1995 to March 1999, Mr. Qin served as the legal representative of
Zhongshan Rijia Electronics Co., Ltd* (FILUT BEEZE T AR A A).

Mr. Qin received his bachelor’s degree in engineering with a major in
electrical automation from South China University of Technology* (223 T
KE)in July 1992. Mr. Qin is one of our Controlling Shareholders.

Ms. Liu Zhilan (2|758), aged 49, is our executive Director and deputy
general manager. She was appointed as the deputy general manager of
Readboy Technology on 28 December 2017 and was later appointed as an
executive Director on 13 April 2021. Ms. Liu is responsible for supervising
overall operations, management, strategic planning and business
development.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Liu Zhilan served as an accountant of
Zhongshan Yuncai Cosmetics Co., Ltd* (P LU ERLALRBER R R])
from July 1997 to September 1999. Ms. Liu Zhilan joined our Group since
September 1999 and she has served in various roles related to accounting
or operations. From September 1999 to October 2003, Ms. Liu served as
an accountant of the finance department of Readboy Technology. From
October 2003 to December 2015, Ms. Liu served as the head of the finance
department of Readboy Technology. Ms. Liu performs the responsibility of
the deputy general manager since 2016 and was officially appointed to this
position in 28 December 2017.
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Directors and Senior Management
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Ms. Liu Zhilan received her professional diploma in accounting from
Chenzhou Grain Vocational School* (#iN T EFFEHEZR) in June
1995 and she subsequently graduated from Harbin Institute of Technology*
(MG EE T3 KE) with major in public affairs management (administrative
management) through online learning in July 2018.

Mr. Deng Denghui (8% &), aged 37, is our executive Director and
assistant to general manager. He was appointed as the head of the
education research college (currently known as education technology
college) in February 2019 and was later appointed as an executive Director
on 13 April 2021. Mr. Deng Denghui is responsible for implementing
marketing plan of the Group.

Mr. Deng Denghui joined our Group in July 2011 and he has served in
various roles of Readboy Technology, including research and development
engineer from July 2011 to May 2017; head of product department from
May 2017 to December 2017; head of the operations department from
December 2017 to February 2019 and head of the education research
college (currently known as education technology college) from February
2019 to August 2021. Since August 2021, he has been serving as our
assistant to general manager. As of the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. Deng
Denghui is also a director of Zhuhai Technology.

Mr. Deng received his bachelor’s degree with a major in software
engineering from Beijing Institute of Technology* (At R IE T K£) in July
2011. He also obtained an assistant engineer qualification awarded by the
Guangdong Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security* (E®R & A1
BIRMt ZRIEEE) in October 2014.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Shen Jianfei (J0&I7), aged 50, is our non-executive Director. He was
appointed as a non-executive Director of our Company on 13 April 2021.
Mr. Shen Jianfei is responsible for overseeing the corporate development
and strategic planning of our Group.

Prior to joining our Group in 2019, Mr. Shen Jianfei served in the public
service industry. He was as a director for Gongshu Management Office,
Hangzhou Motor Vehicle Service Bureau* (fu/l T E) B fR 75 & 12 BB E
I2 &) from November 2015 to August 2018. Subsequently, Mr. Shen Jianfei
founded Jianzhi (Hangzhou) Equity Investment Fund Partnership Enterprise
(Limited Partnership)* (815 (i) IR EE S A B L% (BRE%)) and
has been acting as an executive partner since November 2018.

Mr. Shen Jianfei graduated from Xi'an Politics Institute of People Liberation
Army* (FEZBUAEEBR ) with a major in law in June 2004,
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Xinshou (Z#i ), aged 52, is our independent non-executive
Director. He was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
21 June 2022. Mr. Li Xinshou is responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgment to our Board.

Mr. Li Xinshou has more than 20 years of extensive experience in the
accounting industry. Since July 1993, Mr. Li Xinshou served as a managing
accountant of Changsha Auto Electrical Equipment Factory* (K4 /58 E
23M8) for a few years. Since September 1997 he worked in an audit firm
in the PRC for a few years. Since January 2011 he served as a partner of
China Audit Asia Pacific Certified Public Accountants (Hunan)* (& AE
SHRB SIS FT AR 2 FT) for a few years. He is currently and has been serving
as a senior partner of Mazars Certified Public Accountants (Hunan)* (-1
ERBREAIERFTHE D PT) for a few years. Mr. Li Xinshou is currently
the deputy director of the Hunan Provincial social and legal committee of
the Revolutionary Committee of the Chinese Kuomintang* (+F Bl[E R £ &
wEREBEHEALEMEHZE®) and deputy director of the Changsha
Municipal economic committee of the Revolutionary Committee of the
Chinese Kuomintang* (T RBIR EE ML B RATLEZE D).

Mr. Li Xinshou has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of two PRC companies listed on the NEEQ, including Hunan Wuxin
Tunnel Intelligent Equipment Co., Ltd (#R AHBRE S RER BB BR A
A]) (NEEQ: 835174) since November 2016 and Zhonghuilv Smart Scenic
Management Ltd (FEKREZSREERMDERAF]) (NEEQ: 834260)
since September 2018.

Mr. Li Xinshou graduated from Hunan University of Finance and Economics*
(AR B BB E2BT ) in July 1993 with a major in statistics planning and
infrastructure. He is qualified as a practicing certified public accountant
issued by the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants* (-1 Bl 7E
25 E ) since June 1998.

Ms. Kong Fanhua (FLE%E), aged 48, is our independent non-executive
Director. She was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
on 21 June 2022. Ms. Kong Fanhua is responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgment to our Board.
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Ms. Kong Fanhua has more than 20 years of extensive experience in the
legal education industry. From July 2001 to November 2004, Ms. Kong
Fanhua served as an assistant lecturer of the School of law of South
China Normal University* (2 7 il &3 K 2% 2Bt ). From December 2004
to October 2007, Ms. Kong Fanhua served as a lecturer of the School of
law of South China Normal University. From November 2007 to November
2012, she served as an assistant professor of the School of law of South
China Normal University. Since December 2012, Ms. Kong Fanhua has
been serving as a professor of the School of law of South China Normal
University and since June 2018, Ms. Kong Fanhua has also been serving as
the deputy dean of the School of law of South China Normal University.

Ms. Kong Fanhua received her bachelor’s degree in law from Wuhan
University* (EUZAZ) in August 1998. She subsequently received her
master’s degree in constitutional law and administrative law from Wuhan
University in June 2001 and her PhD degree specializing in constitution and
administrative law from Wuhan University in June 2006.

Prof. Li Renfa (Z{=%), aged 68, is our independent non-executive
Director. He was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
21 June 2022. Prof. Li Renfa is responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgment to our Board.

Prof. Li Renfa has more than 30 years of extensive experience in the
network communication and computing industry. Prof. Li Renfa worked as
a technician for State-owned Factory Number 742* (B4 742%) (currently
known as China Resources Microelectronics Limited* (ZEBEME FAR A
B]) (SSE:688396)) in 1985. He has been involved in teaching and scientific
research in colleges and universities since 1987. He served as an associate
professor and professor for department of computer science of Hunan
University* (R AE2) in 1993 and 1997, respectively. He has been serving
as the dean of the school of computer and communication of Hunan
University since 2002. Prof. Li Renfa has been serving as the dean of the
school of information science and engineering of Hunan University since
2014.

Prof. Li Renfa received his bachelor’s degree in engineering and master’s
degree in engineering from Tianjin University* (K& A£2) in 1982 and 1987,
respectively. He obtained a doctoral degree in engineering from Huazhong
University of Science and Technology* (Z2# BHE A ) in 2002.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has any other directorships
in listed companies during the three years immediately prior to the date of
this annual report.
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Save as disclosed in this annual report, each of the Directors has confirmed
that there are no other matters that need to be brought to the attention of
the Shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and there is no
other information which is required to be disclosed pursuant to paragraph
12 of Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The senior management is responsible for the day-to-day management and
operation of the business.

Ms. Chen Huiying (FRE %), aged 43, is our chief financial officer. She is
responsible for the financial management, accounting, cost and expense
management and control and review of internal business processes of the
Group.

Ms. Chen Huiying joined our Group in August 2000. She served as a
general ledger accountant of Readboy Technology from August 2000 to
December 2015. She served as a head of finance department of Readboy
Technology from January 2016 to December 2017. Since January 2018,
Ms. Chen Huiying has been serving as the chief financial officer of Readboy
Technology.

Ms. Chen Huiying obtained a bachelor’s degree with a major in finance
management from Southwestern University of Finance and Economics*
(TR B & K2 through online learning in July 2018. She obtained the
intermediate accounting qualification approved and issued jointly by the
Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security and the Ministry of
Finance in September 2019.

Mr. Huang Qingzhong (EE &), aged 36, is our human resources, legal
and administrative director. He is responsible for human resources and legal
affairs related management work of our Group.

Mr. Huang Qingzhong joined our Group in November 2014 and he worked
as our legal officer from November 2014 to July 2019. He has been
promoted as our human resources, legal and administrative director since
August 2019. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Huang Qingzhong served as
an administrative officer of Zhongshan Huajin Construction Engineering Co.,
Ltd* (PIUTHESRZETIZER 22 7)) from December 2009 to June 2012,
From June 2014 to October 2014, he served as an administration manager
of Zhongshan Torch Development Zone Huirun Building Material Trading
Company* ({ 1L AAE 7 8% % P 24 7 1T).
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Mr. Huang Qingzhong graduated with a major in law from University of
Electronic Science and Technology of China, Zhongshan Institute* (£
BRI AZHAIERT) in January 2015. In 2022, he passed the examination
of "Intermediate Corporate Compliance officer" of Corporate Compliance
Professionals organised by China Enterprise Evaluation Association
and obtained the "Certificate of Professional Competence of Corporate
Compliance officer" .

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Huang Qingzhong (EE &), was appointed as a joint company
secretary on 14 April 2021. For biographical details of Mr. Huang
Qingzhong, please see “Directors and Senior Management”.

Mr. Lam Kang Chi (7 B38), was appointed as a joint company secretary
of our Company with effective from 11 May 2023 and is an assistant
manager of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited. Mr.
Lam holds a master degree in Corporate Governance from Hong Kong
Metropolitan University and a bachelor degree in Business Management
from The University of Bradford, the United Kingdom. He is a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and possesses
more than 10 years of working experience in the company secretarial field.

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, each of the joint company
secretaries has undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training for the year ended 31 December 2023.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Huang Qingzhong and Mr. Lam
Kang Chi are the joint company secretaries of the Company.

The Stock Exchange granted the Company a waiver from strict compliance
with the requirements under Rule 3.28 and Rule 8.17 of the Listing Rules
regarding Mr. Huang’s qualifications to act as the joint company secretary.
The waiver period is from May 12, 2023 to July 11, 2025. Pursuant to Part
I F(A) of Appendix C1 to the Stock Exchange, Mr. Huang Qingzhong is the
primary corporate contact person of Mr. Lam Kang Chi, the joint company
secretary.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Cayman
Companies Law, as an exempted company with limited liability on
8 February 2021. The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) have been
listed on the Stock Exchange since 12 July 2022.

PRINCIPAL OPERATIONS

The Group is principally engaged in the production and sale of personal
student tablets, digital and smart classroom solutions, wearable products,
other products and advertisement and content licensing in the PRC.

Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the Group
are set out in note 1 to the financial statements of the Group in this annual
report. There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s
principal activities during the year ended 31 December 2023. As at the date
of this annual report, the Board has no intention to significantly change the
principal business of the Group.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the
Group’s financial position as at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 189 to 306 of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31 December
2023 and outlook are set out in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement”. An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended
31 December 2023 using financial key performance indicators is set out
in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”. Save as
disclosed in the section headed “Subsequent Events after the Reporting
Period” below, the Group has no significant events after the end of the
financial year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual
report.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Save for the on-market share purchases made by the trustee pursuant to
the terms of the rules and trust deed of the share award scheme adopted
on 28 April 2023 (the “Share Award Scheme”), as disclosed in Note 28 to
the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Information of this report,
neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities for the year ended 31
December 2023 and up to the date of this report.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis — Significant investments, major acquisitions and disposals” in this
annual report, during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the
date of this annual report, the Group did not have any material acquisition
or disposal of subsidiaries, joint venture or associate.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 13 to the
financial statements of the Group in this annual report.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had short-term bank borrowings of
approximately RMB55.3 million (as at 31 December 2022: nil).

As at 31 December 2023, we had unutilized banking facilities of
approximately RMB44.7 million (as at 31 December 2022: RMB160.0
million).

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity in this annual report. As at 31 December 2023, the
Company'’s reserves available for distribution calculated in accordance
with the provision of Companies Law of the Cayman Islands amounted to
approximately RMB456.8 million (as at 31 December 2022: RMB465.4
million).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for less than 30% of
the Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023. Purchase
from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the
Group’s total purchase for the year ended 31 December 2023.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their
respective close associates or any Shareholder who owns more than 5%
of the issued share capital of the Company had any interest in any of the
five largest customers and suppliers of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2023.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year ended
31 December 2023 are set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date
of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Qin Shuguang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Liu Zhilan
Mr. Deng Denghui

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Zhiyong
Mr. Shen Jianfei

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Xinshou
Ms. Kong Fanhua
Prof. Li Renfa
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Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company, under which they agreed to act as executive Directors for an
initial term of three years commencing from 12 July 2022 and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ written notice in
writing served by either of the Director or the Company at any time.

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company.

Each of the non-executive Director (including the independent non-executive
Directors) is appointed with an initial term of three years commencing from
12 July 2022 subject to termination in certain circumstances as stipulated
in the relevant letters of appointment.

The appointments of the Directors are subject to the provisions of
retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles of Association.

None of the Directors has entered a service contract with members of the
Group which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received a confirmation of independence from each
of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Board has assessed their independence and concluded
that all the independent non-executive Directors are considered to be
independent pursuant to the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and those of the five highest
paid individuals of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are
set out in note 8 and note 9 to the financial statements of the Group in this
annual report.

None of the Directors waived his emoluments nor has agreed to waive his
emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at the date of this annual report, none of the Controlling Shareholders
of the Group or the Directors was engaged or had interest in any business,
apart from the business of the Group, which competes or is likely to
compete, directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business, which would
require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS
Deed of Non-Competition

To protect the Group from any potential or actual conflict of interest
and competition, Mr. Chen Zhiyong, Mr. Qin Shuguang, Kimlan Limited,
Sky Focus Holdings Limited and Trade Honour Holdings Limited (the
“Covenantors”), being the Controlling Shareholders, has entered into a
deed of non-competition in favour of the Company (the “Deed of Non-
Competition”) on 21 June 2022, pursuant to which each of Mr. Chen
Zhiyong, Mr. Qin Shuguang, Kimlan Limited, Sky Focus Holdings Limited
and Trade Honour Holdings Limited has irrevocably and unconditionally
undertaken that each of them shall and shall procure their respective close
associates not to, directly or indirectly, engage in any business which is
or may be in competition with the business of any member of the Group
from time to time, including the business as a smart learning device service
provider (the “Restricted Business”), or hold shares or interest in any
companies or business (other than the Shares or interest in our Group)
that competes or may compete directly or indirectly with the Restricted
Business, except (a) where our Controlling Shareholders and their close
associates individually and in aggregate hold or control, directly or indirectly,
less than 5% of the total issued share capital of any company (whose
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange or any other stock exchange)
which is engaged in any business that is or may be in competition with the
Restricted Business engaged by the Group; and (b) they do not control
10% or more of the composition of the board of directors of such company.
The above restrictions also do not apply to the business of any of our
Controlling Shareholders and his/its close associates that (j) is different from
or dissimilar to or does not compete with the Restricted Business; or (ii)
was a Restricted Business but later no longer a Restricted Business.

For details of the Deed of Non-Competition, please refer to the section
headed “Relationship with Our Controlling Shareholders — Deed of
Non-Completion” in the Prospectus.

Annual Review

The Covenantors have confirmed that they did not refer, or procured the
referral of, any investment or commercial opportunities relating to the
Restricted Business to the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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The Company has received a written confirmation from each of the
Covenantors in respect of the compliance by them and their close
associates with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition. The
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Deed of Non-
Competition and assessed whether the Covenantors and their close
associates have complied with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition,
and were satisfied that each of the Covenantors has complied with its/
his/her undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTION/CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

We currently conduct our smart learning device service business through
Zhuhai Readboy in the PRC. The registered shareholders of Zhuhai
Readboy is Mr. Shen Jianfei and Mr. Qin Shuguang. Our digital educational
resources production and sales business, comprising the production
of short-form animation courseware, offering of pre-recorded video
resources held by us through our online platform and mobile apps and
making available access to online free educational resources provided
by third parties on our smart learning devices, is considered as value-
added telecommunications services in the PRC. PRC laws and regulations
generally restrict foreign ownership in value-added telecommunications
services in the PRC and also impose qualification requirements on the
foreign owners. Given that our business falls within the scope of “value-
added telecommunications” which requires an ICP License to operate in
the PRC, we cannot hold a direct controlling interest in Zhuhai Readboy,
which holds the licenses and permits required for its business operations.
Instead, to comply with the relevant PRC laws and regulations, we
maintain effective control over Zhuhai Readboy and its business operations
through Contractual Arrangements. For further details of the Contractual
Arrangements and the foreign investment restrictions relating to the
Contractual Arrangements, please refer to the section headed “Contractual
Arrangements” in the Prospectus. For the year ended 31 December 2023
and up to the Latest Practicable Date, the Board has reviewed the overall
performance of the Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that the
Group has complied with the Contractual Arrangements in all material
respects.

The Board confirmed that during 2023, save as disclosed in the Prospectus
(please refer to the paragraph headed “Contractual Arrangements —
PRC laws and regulations relating to foreign ownership restriction” in the
Prospectus for details), there is no material change in the Contractual
Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they were adopted.
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Since the Listing Date and up to the Latest Practicable Date, there has
been no update on the Foreign Investment Law ({1 ZE A R IELFE SN
E#E&L)) (the “FIL”) and the relevant foreign investor qualification
requirements, and the Company is not aware of any non-compliance
of the Contractual Arrangements with the relevant PRC laws, rules and
regulations (including but not limited to the FIL) and the Foreign Investment
Regulation as stipulated under the paragraphs headed “Development in
the PRC Legislation on Foreign Investment” in the Prospectus, and had
not encountered interference or encumbrance from any governing bodies
in operating our businesses through the PRC Operating Entity under the
Contractual Arrangements. There have been no change in our plan and
progress in acquiring the relevant experience to meet the qualification
requirement; and the Company will continue to monitor the developments
of the relevant laws, decision, regulations, rules and administration
measures in this regard, and will make further announcements in respect
thereof in accordance with the Listing Rules as and when necessary.

During 2023, there were no business or interest of each Director (including
independent non-executive Directors) and his/her associates that competes
or may compete with the business of the Group and any other conflicts of
interests which have or may have with the Group, which were required to
be discussed or reviewed by the Board.

The Contractual Arrangements which were in place during the year ended
31 December 2023 are as follows:

(1) Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

Pursuant to the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement dated
23 March 2021 entered into by and between WFOE and the PRC
Operating Entity, WFOE agrees to leverage its human, technical and
information strengths to provide the PRC Operating Entity with the
relevant exclusive technical services, technical consultation, and other
services.

(2) Exclusive Call Option Agreement

Under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement dated 23 March 2021
entered into by and among WFOE, the PRC Operating Entity and the
Registered Shareholders, the Registered Shareholders irrevocably and
unconditionally agreed to grant WFOE or its designated third party an
exclusive call option to purchase all or part of the equity interests in
the PRC Operating Entity held by the Registered Shareholders.
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(4)

(5)

(6)

Equity Pledge Agreement

Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement dated 23 March 2021
entered into by and among the WFOE, the PRC Operating Entity
and the Registered Shareholders, all of the Registered Shareholders’
equity interests were pledged to the WFOE as a first priority charge
to guarantee the performance of contractual obligations and the
payment of outstanding debts under the Contractual Arrangements.

Shareholders' Powers of Attorney

Each of the Registered Shareholders has executed an irrevocable
power of attorney dated on 23 March 2021, exclusively appointing
WFOE, or any person designated by WFOE as his or her attorney-
in-fact to appoint directors and vote on his or her behalf as set out
under the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement.

Individual Shareholder Spouse Undertakings

Pursuant to the Individual Shareholder Spouse Undertakings
dated on 23 March 2021, the spouse of each of the Registered
Shareholders, has undertaken they have full knowledge and has
consented unconditionally and irrevocably to the entering into of the
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive Call Option
Agreement, the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement and the
Equity Pledge Agreement signed by the Registered Shareholders and
the WFOE.

Shareholders' Rights Entrustment Agreement

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement,
each of the Registered Shareholders has unconditionally and
irrevocably authorised the WFOE, or directors of the WFOE'’s offshore
parent company designated by the WFOE, or a liquidator or other
successors who perform the duties of such directors to exercise all
shareholder’s rights as shareholders of the PRC Operating Entity.

No service fee was paid to WFOE pursuant to the Exclusive Management
and Consultation Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:

Nil).

The revenue and net loss of the Consolidated Affiliated Entity subject to
the Contractual Arrangements amounted to approximately RMB1.2 million
(2022: RMB5.1 million) and RMB9.1 million (2022: RMB10.9 million) for
the year ended 31 December 2023, respectively. The total assets and total
liabilities of the Consolidated Affiliated Entity subject to the Contractual
Arrangements amounted to approximately RMB11.4 million (2022:
RMB11.5 million) and RMB17.8 million (2022: RMB8.8 million) as at 31
December 2023, respectively.
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Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements

There are certain risks that are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements as set out below. For risks associated with the Contractual
Arrangements, please see the section headed “Risk Factors — Risks
Relating to our Contractual Arrangements” from page 91 to page 99 of the
Prospectus for details.

a4

If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish the
structure for operating our operations in China do not comply with
applicable PRC regulations, or if these regulations or the interpretation
of existing regulations change in the future, we could be subject to
severe consequences, including the nullification of the contractual
arrangements and being forced to relinquish our interests in those
operations.

Our Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in providing
operational control as direct ownership.

Our Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny by the
PRC tax authorities, and a finding that we owe additional taxes could
negatively affect our financial condition and the value of shareholders’
investment.

Our current corporate structure and business operations may be
affected by the FIL.

Any failure by the PRC Operating Entity or its shareholders to perform
their obligations under our Contractual Arrangements with them
would have a material adverse effect on our business.

We may lose the ability to use, or otherwise benefit from, the licenses,
approvals and assets held by the PRC Operating Entity if the PRC
Operating Entity declares bankruptcy or becomes subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

The shareholders of the PRC Operating Entity may have potential
conflicts of interest with us.
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Material change in relation to the Contractual Arrangements

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no material change in
the Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they
were adopted.

Unwinding the Contractual Arrangements

The Company will unwind the Contractual Arrangements as soon as
the laws allows the business of the Consolidated Affiliated Entity to be
operated without the Contractual Arrangements. However, for the year
ended 31 December 2023, none of the Contractual Arrangements had
been unwound as none of the restrictions that led to the adoption of the
Contractual Arrangements had been removed.

Waiver from the Stock Exchange

The Stock Exchange has granted a waiver to the Company from strict
compliance with the connected transactions requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the Contractual Arrangements.
For details, please refer to the section “Connected Transactions” in the
Prospectus.

Annual Review by the Independent Non-Executive Directors and
the Auditor

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Contractual
Arrangements and confirmed that:

a)  the transactions carried out during 2023 Annual had been entered
into accordance with the relevant provisions of the Contractual
Arrangements;

b)  no dividends or other distributions had been made by Registered
Shareholders to the holders of its equity interests which were not
otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group;

C) no new contracts had been entered into, renewed and/or reproduced
between the Group and the Consolidated Affiliated Entity during the
Reporting Period; and

d)  the Contractual Arrangements had been entered into in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group, are on normal commercial
terms and are fair and reasonable in the interest of the Group and the
Shareholders as a whole.
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The Auditor has reviewed and advised the Board in writing that the
transactions carried out pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements during
the Reporting Period has nothing come to their attention that causes
them to believe (i) the transactions have not been approved by the Board;
(i) for transactions involving the provision of services by the Group, the
transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group; (iii) the transactions were not entered into, in
all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
such transactions; and (iv) that dividends or other distributions had been
made by the Consolidated Affiliated Entity to the holders of the equity
interests which were not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to
the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION/ADVANCE TO AN
ENTITY

Zhuhai Dreamcatcher

On 13 January 2023, Readboy Educational Technology Co., Ltd. (‘Readboy
Technology” or the “Lender”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into Loan Agreement | with Zhuhai Dreamcatcher
Network Technology Co., Ltd. (a company established in the PRC with
limited liability, “Zhuhai Dreamcatcher” or the “Borrower”), pursuant
to which the Lender agreed to provide the Borrower with Loan | in the
principal amount of RMB2.0 million at an annual interest rate of 3.95% for a
term from 15 January 2023 to 30 June 2023.

On 9 March 2023, the Lender entered into Loan Agreement Il with the
Borrower, pursuant to which the Lender agreed to provide the Borrower
with Loan Il in the principal amount of RMB8.0 million at an annual interest
rate of 3.95% for a term from 9 March 2023 to 31 May 2023.

On 17 May 2023, the Lender entered into Loan Agreement lll with the
Borrower, pursuant to which the Lender agreed to provide the Borrower
with Loan Il in the principal amount of RMB5.0 million at an annual interest
rate of 3.95% for a term from 17 May 2023 to 31 December 2023.

The principal amounts together with all accrued interests of Loan | and
Loan Il have been repaid in full by the Borrower to the Lender on 30 May
2023.

On 28 December 2023, the Lender and the Borrower entered into a
supplemental agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”) to extend the
term of Loan lll to 31 December 2024. Other than the extension of term,
other terms of the original loan agreement entered into on 17 May 2023
between Readboy Technology and Zhuhai Dreamcatcher in respect of Loan
[l remain unchanged.
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As at 31 December 2023, the outstanding principal amount of Loan Ill was
RMB5.0 million at an annual interest rate of 3.95%. The loan amounts shall
be applied and used by the Borrower solely for the general working capital
of its operation.

As the Borrower is held as to 51.02% by Mr. Chen Zhiyong, a non-
executive Director and one of the controlling shareholders of the Company,
and 48.98% by Mr. Qin Shuguang, the chairman of the Board, chief
executive officer of the Company, an executive Director and one of the
controlling shareholders of the Company, the Borrower is therefore a
connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under Loan Agreement |,
Loan Agreement Il, Loan Agreement Ill and the Supplemental Agreement
constitute connected transactions of the Company.

Details of the transactions were disclosed in the announcements of the
Company dated 18 August 2023 and 28 December 2023.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain related party transactions with related
parties during the year ended 31 December 2023 which constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Group,
details of which are set out in note 33 to the financial statements. The
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group has not entered into any related
party transaction which constituted connected transaction under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in the 2023 Annual.

DIRECTORS' AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS'
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACTS

Other than those transactions disclosed in note 33 to the financial
statements of the Group in this annual report and in the paragraphs headed
“Contractual Arrangement” and “Connected Transaction” in this section,
no Director or Controlling Shareholder of the Company has any material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance to the Group’s business to which the Company,
any of its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent companies were a
party subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year ended
31 December 2023.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our operations and future financial results could be materially
and adversely affected by various risks. The following
highlights the principal risks that the Group is susceptible to
and is not meant to be exhaustive:

Description and impacts of risks and uncertainties
ERETERERENELIRZE

legal compliance risks
EEEHEE

PRC education industry is currently subject to evolving
regulatory and policy changes. Uncertainties with respect to
the PRC legal system, especially the education related laws
and regulations could have a material adverse effect on us
and limit the legal protection available to investors.
TEHETEEAMERSEEENMBRNEE - hBEDEEHE
W EEEE  CEEHEHEBRERER  FleegHdQa
ERERTHZELREEA SRR ERRESR -

The Company is subject to a wide variety of regulations and is
required to obtain and maintain various licenses and permits,
any failure of which may have a material adverse effect on us.

NRABSTEZIESR  BARGRIFEESE THRRKEFTAE

BRIFTRE G HARERKERTHTE -
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Measures to mitigate

RIRE

We will pay close attention to PRC education industry,
especially regulatory and policy changes in terms of smart
education devices and digital educational content, and
adjust strategies of the Company to comply with newly
regulatory requirements in a timely manner. We will enhance
communication with education authorities, MIIT and other
regulatory authorities, ensuring the Company’s products and
operation are in line with requirements of the latest laws and
regulations, especially in data security, content review and etc.
PYBEIFEBETE RSB ERENBETLHE
AAEFHNEEMBERE (L - REFHE A B AE RS
BRI - M mHE I - TEPFISEEHENER -
BRAGNEMMESRERMIVEARERER  LERE
HExE  NAEZFHME -

We will develop compliance management system and
operation guideline, specify responsible personnel for
compliance and management procedures. We will strengthen
compliance training and awareness of compliance. We will
designate a dedicated department and personnel to be
responsible for the application, renewal and management of
licenses and permits ensuring the validity of licenses. We wiill
maintain good communication with government regulatory
authorities and obtain the latest information on policies
and regulations in a timely manner. We will conduct regular
compliance assessments and internal audits to identify and
rectify compliance risks in a timely manner.
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Description and impacts of risks and uncertainties
RS R A HEEEEA R R

The Company’s business is subject to complex and evolving
laws and regulation regarding data security and privacy.
NRAINEBATEBRAEE L2 RS EM BT EEZ R
TERER ©

Measures to mitigate

R

We will keep close eyes on the laws and regulations
developments regarding data security and privacy protection
in domestic and overseas, with the aim of ensuring the data
collection, storage, usage and protection practices of the
Company comply with the latest regulatory requirements. We
will establish and improve data security and privacy protection
management systems, and clarify security management
measures such as data classification and grading, data
access rights control and data encryption. We will strengthen
employee training in respect of the awareness of data
security and privacy protection, and improve the compliance
awareness of all employees. We will conduct regular data
security risk assessments and privacy impact assessments to
identify and rectify problems in a timely manner.
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Description and impacts of risks and uncertainties
EkE R A HREEZENHGLR R

Market and competition risks
TR F AR

The Company’s business depends heavily on the strength
of our brand awareness and reputation, and end users’
recognition and their trust in our smart learning devices may
be materially and adversely affected if we fail to maintain and
enhance our brand and reputation.
AANEFRREEREREERRERED - MARERFLRE
FmEREE  KnAFPHEREBEREBOR A RIFERT8E
ERIERTHZE -

The Company may not be able to launch and diversify new
products and educational resources to adapt to changing
customer demands in a timely manner.

DB AT RE R I R HE I R E N U IR A T e T
BMESER -
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Measures to mitigate

)

We will continue to invest in our brand building, and constantly
enhance our brand image and reputation by providing quality
smart learning devices, superior educational content and
attentive customer service. We will also establish a sound
quality management and content review system to ensure
that product quality is stable and reliable, and the educational
content is compliant, accurate and diverse.

SEREREESR  REARHEEENEH2ERE B8
MHEATME LN EPIRE - TEHRARBERNES -
BUYURTENESERNATERRR  BREMESBTEA
R HEHADTER K EBEZK-

We will increase our investment in the research and
development of smart learning devices and digital educational
resources and establish an agile product development process
to quickly respond to changes in market demand, and timely
launch new products meeting the demands of students and
parents. In addition, we will gain a better insight into users’
behaviour and their learning needs through big data analysis,
and provide personalized and diversified educational resources
to students at different age and learning stages. Furthermore,
we will strategically cooperate with the providers of high-
quality educational content to enrich the types of educational
resources.
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Description and impacts of risks and uncertainties
RS R A HEEEEA R R

Operation and management risks
EEH T

The Company depends on our dedicated and capable
educational resource research and development crew and
other research staff, and if we are not able to continue to hire,
train and retain such qualified staff, we may not be able to
maintain consistent quality of our courseware, pre-recorded
video resources and other digital educational resources. As
such, our brand, business and operating results may be
materially and adversely affected.

Qﬂfﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁz%%ﬁéﬂ%’ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ*/\%&ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁw\% H
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The Company may not be able to successfully expand and
strengthen its distribution network.

N EERI EIR S HNoR AR SR AR

Measures to mitigate

R

We will establish a competitive remuneration system and clear
career development channels for employees to attract and
retain excellent personnel for the research and development
of educational resources and other professionals. We will
also strengthen staff training and improve the professional
competence of the team in an all-round way. Besides, we
will create a corporate culture that encourages innovation,
openness and collaboration, and enhance employees’ sense
of belonging and loyalty. Meanwhile, we will establish the
industry-college-institute cooperation with prestigious colleges
and universities to attract outstanding graduates majoring in
education.

BUYABFINFHMERFEMOE TRHEERBE - UR
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We will strive to develop high-quality channel resources,
optimize distributor selection criteria, and choose partners
with rich educational resources and strong service awareness.
We will strengthen product and service training for distributors,
and provide marketing support to help them improve their
operational and service levels. A scientific mechanism for
distributor performance evaluation and incentive will be
established to fully mobilize their enthusiasm. We will explore
cooperation with regional leading educational institutions
and key primary and secondary schools, and expand more
diversified sales channels.
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Description and impacts of risks and uncertainties
EkE R A HREEZENHGLR R

The Company's nationwide offline distribution network
mainly includes sales points controlled by independent third-
party distributors. Its operating results largely depend on the
performance of these sales points. The Company may not
be able to effectively control and monitor their operations or
maintain current relationships with distributors.

RAZEMER TS F EREBE LR =7 S HEEHIR
HER - KEFXEERAEE FXHNZFHERNERE -
DRI MER B b R B ) E S S A B AT B IR
BIRIR o

Unexpected interference or delay in raw material supply or
disputes with suppliers may lead to production disruption and
delay, thereby causing additional costs to the Company.

R R eI BT BRI RR RN EHERNUDNS
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Measures to mitigate

)

We will further improve the distributor management system,
strengthen supervision and auditing of sales points, ensure
their operational compliance, and eliminate false advertising,
and price fraud. We will maintain close communication
with distributors, establish a smooth information feedback
mechanism, and understand and help them solve problems
encountered in their operations in a timely manner. More
policy incentives and resource support will be provided to
high-quality distributors, so as to maintain good cooperative
relationships. We will accelerate the development of direct
sales channels, including online official shopping malls and
offline direct sales stores, improve terminal control, and reduce
dependence on distributors.

E— P RELEEEERHE R HERNEENERT
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We will build a stable and reliable supplier network, and
establish long-term strategic partnerships with key raw
material suppliers. We will develop a supplier management
system to regularly evaluate supplier performance capability
and product quality, and identify and control supply chain risks
in a timely manner. We will formulate a raw material reserve
mechanism and maintain a certain safety stock of key raw
materials to cope with sudden supply interruptions.
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Description and impacts of risks and uncertainties
RS R A HEEEEA R R

Inadequate production capacity could hinder the Company’s
capabilities to satisfy market demand and growth prospect.
EERET R FIRE G IEBE A Rl B 5% SKHEE MG RATR °

Failure to maintain optimal inventory levels could increase the
Company’s inventory holding costs or cause us to lose sales.
REEFREFTEKRKTARSSHBETFENKRA EARSTA
ABRIHERE -

Measures to mitigate

R

We will keep close eyes on changes in market demand to
engage in production capacity planning in advance. We will
be on the pace of expansion of our production capacity in due
course by constructing new production bases or upgrading
existing production lines to support business growth. We wiill
optimize production planning and inventory management to
improve capacity utilization and production efficiency. We
will quickly meet the demand for production capacity by
outsourcing production when necessary.
BYBITISHERE L - RATMTERRE - BRIEXE
b ERFHNAEEMIARBRBEER R EBIER
TR BICEEHBENEFER  ReERNAEMEER
Ko UERF - AIAUBRINEENT R - RIEMFELROD ©

We will establish a scientific inventory management system
to set reasonable inventory levels and balance inventory
costs and out-of-stock risks. We will monitor inventory
levels and inventory turnover in real time through information
technologies to timely optimize the inventory structure. We
will improve demand and sales forecasting to maximize the
accuracy of inventory management. We will establish a sound
inventory stock take and tracking mechanism to reduce the
risk of inventory loss.
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Description and impacts of risks and uncertainties
EkE R A HREEZENHGLR R

The Company’s failure to detect or prevent fraudulent or illegal
activities or other misconduct by our employees, distributors,
suppliers or other third parties may have a material adverse
effect on our business.

NAIRBERAMILES - KHE  HEFIEMBE=7H

HEFSBR RS E M BT RS W EBKEKERNTH
5%

The Company’s risk management and internal control systems
may not be adequate or effective.
NEEREIR RAEBERIRGARL R IALE X
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Measures to mitigate

)

We will establish a sound compliance management system
and internal control system to strengthen control over the
behavior of employees, distributors, suppliers, and other
parties. We will establish strict codes of conduct and
disciplinary measures and clarify the mechanism for non-
compliance. We will strengthen compliance training and
warning education to enhance the compliance awareness
and self-discipline of all participants. We will also establish a
reporting and complaint mechanism to encourage internal and
external supervision and report on non-compliance.
BURENEHRERE %ﬂﬁ%%ﬂﬂf nEEES - &
HE - HEBSESTNITRERE - SIERBHTTRERIFIE
A - %ﬁLﬁﬁ%%@ﬁ%% s & AR IF I A E R
E'E%%HmAﬁﬁ%ﬂaﬁmiogﬁﬁﬁ&%ﬁﬂ’
SEAINEDA BEHEARIT REITEE AR -

We will establish a comprehensive risk management system
and improve the process of risk identification, assessment,
response, monitoring and reporting. We will enhance
the internal control process and system to improve the
effectiveness and execution of internal control. We will
emphasize the importance of risk management and internal
control by the board of directors and management as part of
our corporate governance.
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Description and impacts of risks and uncertainties
RS R A HEEEEA R R

Strategic and Planning Risks

Bt B B

The Company’s development strategies may not achieve the
expected goals in the near term, or at all.
NAMERBAHATEEZEREREE  E2RAEE
BiR o

Any discontinuation, reduction or delay of any preferential
tax treatments and government grants that may be available
to the Company in the future could materially and adversely
affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results
of operations.

fid A ] B 1% ] g S O (R B B W8 R A B B R AE
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Measures to mitigate

R

In terms of the formulation of development strategy, we will
conduct a comprehensive evaluation of the prevailing trends
within the smart educational devices and digital education
industry, as well as an analysis of the competitive landscape,
technological development, and other factors. This will ensure
the development of strategic objectives in a scientific and
reasonable manner. As for strategy implementation, we will
strengthen the control over key projects and key nodes,
promptly identify and rectify any deviations to ensure the timely
achievement of strategic objectives. In the event of significant
changes in the external environment or industry landscape,
the Company should also possess the flexibility and ability to
respond to strategic adjustments.

EHIEREREE  TOTEEEHERENBFEHETT
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R AN SRS

We will monitor national and local tax incentive policies and
government subsidy programmes closely to ensure timely
and accurate receipt of applicable benefits. Communication
with government departments will be enhanced to ensure
continued policy support, while improving our profitability
and reducing our reliance on tax incentives and government
subsidies. Financial plan and budget management will be
established, to improve the capital efficiency and enhance
resilience against risk.
ZYRIERM TR ERBRMBUTHBNIAR - #BR
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Description and impacts of risks and uncertainties
EkE R A HREEZENHGLR R

External Environmental Risks
I EBREE

The Company’s future prospect is subject to the development
of population structure in China.
NRIBARRATREURNFBEA AZENHEE -

The Company’s business operations are subject to seasonality.
NRANEBEEXTHMTE -
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Measures to mitigate

)

We will monitor demographic changes in China, particularly
in the school-age population. We will adjust our product and
service strategies timely in accordance with demographic
changes and develop smart learning devices and educational
resources for students of different age groups.
TYBITEADEBRZLBY  FHRBRAONEDIE
e IRIBARDGEBHNE - MEFHEEMMRGRE  FHE
HETRFREBENEEEERBNHEHER

According to the seasonal characteristics of our businesses,
we will arrange production and operation activities in a
reasonable manner, and make preparations in advance for
the peak season in terms of production capacity, inventory
and personnel. We will improve the efficiency of utilizing
idle resources during off-season, including equipment
maintenance, staff training and new product development.
We will develop products and services tailored to off-
season expectations to smooth out the effects of seasonal
fluctuations.

BEXBOFHUESE  aBRHEELLERY @ =AML
HFENER  Bff - ABFEBIE - NRXZTETRIEBHE
# BT FmiARESE  ReREERONAREX - A
BRARERRNERNRE - TEEHIERESNZE



Directors’ Report
EEERE

Description and impacts of risks and uncertainties
RS R A HEEEEA R R

Financial and Tax Risks

BB EEH S m R

If the Company fails to manage growth effectively, the success
of the business model will be compromised.

HARBEAARERIER - MIXBRANKIEEXINTE -

IT System Risks
ITZ#E

The Company’s IT systems and infrastructure may be subject
to unexpected system failures, interruptions, defects or
security breaches.
NAMITRG R EWRR G LB R BINRFHIE - FE - B
PaskZe 2R -

Measures to mitigate

R

We will establish a standardized corporate governance
structure and management system to enhance management
efficiency and decision-making. We will strengthen the
building of our talent team, especially in key positions such
as management, technical and marketing, by introducing
excellent talents to enhance our organizational capabilities. We
will optimize business and management processes to improve
operational efficiency. We will strengthen risk management
and improve our internal control system to ensure compliant
and stable development of our business.

BUBRBMARDREABINEERHE  ReBERETIAR
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We will increase investment in IT infrastructure to improve
system stability, security and disaster resilience. We have
set up a comprehensive IT system management regime and
operating procedures to regulate the development, testing,
go-live and maintenance processes of the IT systems. We
will enhance cyber security protection to improve data
security and privacy protection. We will regularly carry out
risk assessment and security audits of our IT systems to
identify and repair system defects and security vulnerabilities
in a timely manner. We will establish IT system contingency
plans and disaster preparedness mechanisms to minimize the
impact of system failures and disruptions.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable
laws, rules and regulations which have a significant impact to the Group.
As at the date of this annual report, except as disclosed in the annual
report, the Group complied with, in all material respects, all the relevant and
applicable PRC laws and regulations governing the business and operation
of the Group has obtained all licenses, permits and certificates for the
purpose of operating its business.

As at the date of this annual report, the Company’s subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates were not involved in and the Board is not aware of
any non-compliance incidents that might adversely affect the value of the
Company’s interests in them.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
subsisted during the year ended 31 December 2023.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no any rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse or
children under 18 years of age, nor were there any such rights exercised by
them. Also, there was no arrangement to which the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries is a party that would
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, or the law of Cayman Islands being the jurisdiction in which
the Company was incorporated under which would oblige the Company to
offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set
out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” in this annual
report.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES.
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group is committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with
its employees, providing quality services and products to its customers and
enhancing cooperation with its business partners. The Group understands
that it is important to maintain good relationship with customers and
provide the products in a way that satisfies needs and requirements of the
customers. The Group is also dedicated to developing good relationship
with suppliers as long-term business partners to ensure stability of the
Group’s business. The Group provides a fair and safe workplace, promotes
diversity to its staff, competitive remuneration and benefits and career
development opportunities based on their merits and performance.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
Environmental Protection

The Group recognizes the importance of environmental protection and
sustainability, and our commitment to environmental protection and
sustainability was recognized by 1ISO14001:2015 — Environmental
Management System Certification.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any non-compliance
incidents arising from gas, waste and water emission and the discharge of
each of the key pollutants generated during our production process had
remained within prescribed regulatory limits. In addition, our production
and assembly facility has obtained the required permits for waste and
water emission from the relevant authorities. We believe that our business
operations do not have a material adverse impact on the environment.

Social Responsibility

We always stay true to our original aspiration, actively participate in
public welfare and charities, assume the responsibilities and obligations
as a corporate citizen, and continuously deliver positive energy for our
consumers, partners and even the society. During the year, the Group, in
capacity as an enterprise, participated in “Striving for a National Civilized
Model City Publicity Activity” hosted by the Publicity Department of the
Zhongshan Municipal Party Committee and “Charity with Thousands of
People Donation Activity” sponsored by the Red Cross in Zhongshan City,
vigorously supporting the community development activities of Zhongshan
City and giving back to the society.
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Occupational Health and Safety

The Group has implemented stringent work safety policies and procedures
for our production and assembly processes, including fire safety,
work-related injuries, electricity safety and emergency and evacuation
procedures. We provide our employees with occupational safety education
and training to enhance their awareness of safety issues. We also carry out
equipment maintenance on a regular basis to ensure their smooth and safe
operation. We have implemented stringent waste treatment procedures in
our production and assembly facility.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had complied with
applicable laws and regulations on occupational health and work safety
in all material respects and did not record any material accidents. As at
the year ended 31 December 2023, no material claims had been brought
against us as a result of an accident.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE
PROVISIONS

The Articles of Association provide that the Directors, managing directors,
alternate Directors, Auditors, Secretary and other officers for the time
being of the Company and the trustees (if any) for the time being acting in
relation to any of the affairs of the Company, and their respective executors
or administrators, shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their
executors or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any
act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty
or supposed duty in their respective offices or trusts. The Company has
arranged appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in respect of
legal action against Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme as set out in this annual report, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or subsisted
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Up to the Latest Practicable Date, the Group had no significant events after
31 December 2023 that are required to be disclosed.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules requires there to be an open market in
the securities for which listing is sought and a sufficient public float of an
issuer’s listed securities to be maintained. This normally means that at least
25% of the issuer’s total issued share capital must at all times be held by
the public.

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to
the knowledge of the Directors as at the Latest Practicable Date prior to the
issue of this annual report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public
float as required under the Listing Rules.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Annual general meeting of the Company will be held on 30 May 2024 (the
“AGM”). The notice of the AGM will be published and despatched to the
Shareholders in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules in
April 2024.

RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

According to the Articles of Association, Mr. Deng Denghui, Mr. Shen
Jianfei and Ms. Kong Fanhua shall retire from office by rotation, and Mr.
Deng Denghui, Mr. Shen Jianfei and Ms. Kong Fanhua shall be eligible and
will offer themselves for re-election as directors at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

Details of the retiring directors proposed to be re-elected at the 2023 AGM
will be set out in the circular of the Company to be dispatched, together
with the 2023 Annual Report of the Company, to the shareholders of the
Company in due course.

PAYMENT OF FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

There is no arrangement that any shareholder of the Company has waived
or agreed to wave any dividend.

DONATIONS

During the year, charitable and other donations made by the Group
amounted to RMB20,000 (2022: RMB20,000).
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023 have been audited by Ernst & Young. A resolution for the
re-appointment of Ernst & Young as the Company’s auditor is to be
proposed at the AGM.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing,
holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any rights in relation to
the Shares, they are advised to consult an expert.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement of the shareholders to attend
and vote at the AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
27 May 2024 to Thursday, 30 May 2024, both days inclusive and during
which no share transfer will be effected, for the purpose of ascertaining
shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the 2024 annual general
meeting (the “AGM”). In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2024
AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged for registration with the Company’s share registrar in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 24 May 2024.
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Directors’ Report
EEERE

PUBLICATION OF 2023 ANNUAL RESULTS AND
ANNUAL REPORT

The annual results announcement of the Group for the year 2023 is
published on the Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk and
the Company’s website at www.readboy.com. The 2023 annual report
containing all applicable information required under the Listing Rules will be
despatched to the shareholders and published on the above websites in
April 2024.

For and on behalf of the Board
Readboy Education Holding Company Limited

Qin Shuguang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

The Company is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Board is pleased in presenting this
Corporate Governance Report for the year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted Part 2 of the CG Code contained in Appendix
C1 to the Listing Rules as its own code on corporate governance. To the
best knowledge of the Directors, save as the deviation from code provisions
C.2.1 of Part 2, the Company has complied with all the principles and the
applicable code provisions under Part 2 of the CG Code during the year
ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report.

The Directors will use their best endeavors to procure the Company to
continue to comply with the CG Code.

OUR CORPORATE CULTURE AND MISSION

At our Group, we have cultivated a corporate culture that aims to benefit
our employees, customers, and indeed the entire society. Our core mission
is to inspire the discovery of knowledge through innovation and quality
service, thereby enhancing the potential for individual learning. We are
committed to improving education quality globally and empowering learners
and educational institutions with our innovative technology solutions, building
a smart, interconnected future educational ecosystem. We transform
the learning process into a pleasant experience through technology
empowerment and strive to become a leading supplier of smart learning
devices and services in the country, providing integrated autonomous
learning solutions to increase learning efficiency, and offering schools a one-
stop intelligent teaching solution to advance the precision development of
teaching.

Our values — innovation, quality, user orientation, responsibility, cooperation,
transparency, and integrity — are the cornerstone of all our business
activities and are deeply embedded in our corporate culture. These values
not only guide our product development, from individual student tablets
to comprehensive smart campus solutions, but also inspire us to listen to
the voices of students, teachers, and educational institutions, designing
products that truly solve problems.

64 Readboy Education Holding Company Limited
Annual Report 2023

AKRABHNORERSKENTEER - MRER
HigmMRmCEEERETRE -EEEMA
S2HEHE2023F 12 AT BIEFEMDEE R
s o

TEERFER

RARERM ETRBIMERC1 FTH A EER
SFRIE2MIEAE B FEERTE] - BREERAT
Mo REE2023F 12 A3THIEFEREE AR
FRAH  BRIFREEFE 2D EC2ETRIEX
BRI KRR —HBTHEEATHE 2T
B NHIFTA R B KB A ST RIHEST -

EEHRBNREARFDEEETEEERT
Al -

IR R L

REE BERET RBEEXL BER/RET
BEDEREET ST RaE - BRI OED
EBBRIFNEERY - BBAENER - KW
REBEASENEN - HARORE2HRBERLE
HHERE - WARPIWRIF R AT EE T
BRENBERBE AN - AREZ—ER
B EEBENARREELRRER - HABEE
BITEBEREEEE S B AER - WK
N RBINE L M L2 8 R A ARG H 1 8
B RHEASNAEEEMRTRUEFEER
T REREE-UANEEHESER - HEH
BHRBELER -

HMNEESR - 8I% - mE - BFPER - &E
BfF - BRHENE - RERMAMBXRFEINE
A WHREREMANEEXEZF - ELEER
MERSRMNERMAE - HEASEFIREE
ESERENFIRT & - LABHMRIESE
HEIMMBEHBNES - REFH A ERRRME R
HEm °



Corporate Governance Report
TEERMSE

Quality
mE
Innovation
-1k
Responsibility
BE
CORE VALUES
BMEE

User-orientation

AFEERm

THE ROLE OF THE BOARD

The board plays a crucial role, not only in setting the group’s purpose,
values, and strategy but also in ensuring that these are closely linked to our
corporate culture. Our board members are steadfast and lead by example,
committed to promoting a corporate culture that respects responsibility,
law, and morality. They ensure that this culture permeates every level of the
enterprise and continually strengthen this concept, making it the core of our
day-to-day business.

Our board continuously monitors and evaluates the implementation of
corporate culture, ensuring that it aligns with the group’s long-term goals
and strategies. The promotion of this culture is not limited to internal
employees; the board is also committed to conveying these values to
all shareholders, customers, and the public. In this way, the board plays
a leadership role in establishing an ethical and responsible corporate
environment, while also setting clear expectations for all stakeholders. Such
a corporate culture will help us remain resilient in the face of challenges and
maintain ethical and legal compliance throughout our pursuit of long-term
SUCCESS.

Our corporate culture and the guiding principles of the board reinforce
each other. Together, they form the fundamental value of the organization,
ensuring that every employee acts in accordance with the highest
standards of legality, ethics, and social responsibility as we advance our
common mission — to improve education quality worldwide.
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GROUP OBJECTIVES

The principal objective of the Group is to provide education authorities,
schools, parents and students with high-quality intelligent education
devices and solutions. The Company’s goals include researching and
producing innovative and competitive intelligent education solutions and
devices to meet the diverse educational requirements of various levels and
fields; promoting China’s digitalisation and intelligent development of the
education sector, actively applying advanced technologies such as artificial
intelligence, big data and cloud computing to facilitate the digitalisation and
intelligent progression of education, enhancing the quality and efficiency of
education; strengthening education management efficiency by education
authorities and schools; improving students’ learning outcomes, focusing
on students’ personalised learning needs, teaching students in accordance
with their aptitude and assisting them in finding the most suitable learning
methods and resources through intelligent analysis and personalised
recommendations, thus increasing their academic performance; offering
diversified products and services for users across different age groups,
subject areas and educational stages to fulfil their educational needs;
concentrating on technology research and product development,
persistently pursuing innovation, to ensure that products and services can
meet the evolving needs and development trends of the market; fortifying
brand building and market promotion, augmenting brand awareness and
influence, expanding market share through effective marketing strategies,
and enticing more users to choose the Group’s products and services;
collaborating with educational institutions, government departments
and research institutions to jointly propel the digitalisation and intelligent
development of education, and create a promising future for the education
industry; emphasising social responsibility and sustainable development,
actively undertaking social responsibility, concentrating on environmental
protection and sustainable development, and contributing to society and
generating shared value through public welfare activities and community
partnerships.
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GROUP STRATEGIES

Value-oriented decision making: We are always guided by our core values
at every stage of business decision making and corporate growth. We will
continuously assess potential social impact and seek solutions, so as to
ensure that our actions are consistent with our corporate responsibility and
ethical standards.

Employee growth: We implement a comprehensive staff training and
development program, with an aim to enhance team capabilities and career
growth. The program covers regular skills training, leadership workshops,
and opportunities for employees to transfer across departments.

Sustainable development: We align our business operations with the
environmental, social and governance (ESG) goals. We will set specific
environmental goals, such as reducing carbon emissions, improving the
performance of our supply chain on social responsibility, etc., and publish
progress reports on a regular basis to measure our performance. For
details, please refer to the Environment, Social and Governance Report.

Social responsibility: We will assume the responsibility as a corporate citizen
by actively participating in social welfare activities and supporting education,
health, environmental protection and other social projects. This will improve
the Company’s social image and foster team spirit among employees.
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Innovation Driving: Establishing an innovation-oriented work environment
where employees are encouraged to come up with new ideas and
to implement and improve such ideas. We will invest in research and
development and technological upgrades to maintain the competitiveness
of our products and services.

Customer Relationship Management: Deepening relationships with
customers by providing services and experiences that exceed expectations.
Utilizing customer data analysis to enhance personalized services and
continuously improve our products and services based on customer
feedback.

Optimizing the Supply Chain: Reducing operating costs and enhancing
business flexibility by improving supply chain transparency and efficiency.
Implementing advanced supply chain management systems and
establishing long-term partnerships with suppliers to ensure the quality and
reliable supply of raw materials and products.

Risk Management: Developing a comprehensive risk management
framework to identify, evaluate and mitigate internal and external risks.
Conducting regular risk assessments and establishing contingency plans to
ensure the continued operation of Company and security of assets.

Regulatory Compliance and Governance: Adhering to the highest legal and
ethical standards to ensure that all business activities comply with relevant
laws and regulations. Establishing internal monitoring mechanisms to
ensure the transparency and integrity of corporate governance.
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KEY RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

Integration of Strategy and Culture: The Board not only developes strategy
but is also crucial in shaping our culture. Directors must ensure alignment
between the Company’s development strategy and the cultural values we
promote, and reflect such consistency through their decision-making.

Advocates and Guardians of Culture: The Board must actively advocate
for the Company’s culture and always safeguard these values from
encroachment, which means that the Board must assess whether
operational decisions align with our values when making such decisions
and acting accordingly.

Demonstration of Leadership: The Board members must set an example
through their own behavior. Their actions and decisions both inside and
outside the organization shall reflect our values, so as to encourage
employees to demonstrate the same values.

Establishment of Communication Channels: The Board is required to
ensure effective communication channels, therefore allowing employees to
understand and engage with the corporate culture. This includes regular
communication with employees, listening to their opinions and suggestions,
and ensuring their voices are heard and incorporated into the decision-
making process.

Continuous Evaluation and Improvement: The Board shall regularly assess
the health of the corporate culture and make necessary adjustments based
on these evaluations, which entails accepting feedback, encouraging open
discussions, and being willing to take action to improve the corporate
culture.

The success of Readboy is built upon our steadfast corporate culture,
which is the core of all our decisions and actions. We are committed to
practicing these values in all business activities and continuously assessing
and improving to ensure our culture evolves with the times and meets the
needs of the Company and the society.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3
of the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding the securities
transactions by the Directors and the Group’s senior management who,
because of his/her office or employment, is likely to possess inside
information in relation to the Company or its securities. All Directors have
confirmed, following specific enquiry made by the Company, that they
have complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report. In
addition, the Company is not aware of any non-compliance of the Model
Code by the Directors and senior management of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report.

THE BOARD
1. Responsibilities

The Board assumes the responsibility of leadership and control of
the Company, and supervises and approves significant decisions
regarding financial performance, strategic development objectives and
operations of the Company. The Board delegates to the management
authority and responsibility for the Company’s daily operations and
businesses management according to the Board’s instructions. The
Board has established various committees and has delegated to
the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”), the environmental, social
and governance committee (the “ESG Committee”) of the Board
(collectively, the “Board Committees”) various duties. All the Board
Committees perform their distinct roles in accordance with their
respective terms of reference.

All Directors shall at all times ensure that they carry out duties in good
faith, in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders.

70 Readboy Education Holding Company Limited
Annual Report 2023

BETERETEFRZWEE
<8I

N BB ER AR £ T AR BIRT 8% C3 Pl < 1= #E<F Rl
EREERALEERREEE (BRERERHIZ
Ml BB EA AR R EBEFNREEE)
EITEARRSNE FI1A%ER - LARAEDR
EEHE  2REICER  HENEZ=2023
F1I2A3MBFEREEARREBRE—HEETIE
JESF R FT & 2 AR TEAZZE o th4h - B = 2023 F 12
ASBLEFEREEAREBS  AQFLR
MBEAEBEE NS REREE T NETIZE
SFRIEEN ©

5£5g
1. &

EXEQRARENEFART  YEER
BEMBEBEARAPHRR - REEREBE
REBHNERNRE BFEEREEERH
REEZENHETEEARFAHEEER
ERERNRENLREE -EFGEKUE
BEZEeYRNEFENETZES ([ FT
ZEg]) FHEZES(FMEEE])
REZES((REBZEE ) MRE - HE
KkERZES(([ESGEER)) (MR [E
EZEEDZRZERE - MEEEEE
EUREESENBERERTTRANE
o

>REFARKRREASHAR  BTE
Pk R AL G A A A R RIS R
ERIBTHE -



Corporate Governance Report
TEERMSE

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent views
and input from any Director of the Company are conveyed to the
Board for enhancing an objective and effective decision making. The
governance framework and the following mechanisms are reviewed
annually by the Board, through its Nomination and Remuneration
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Committee, to ensure their effectiveness:

Three out of the eight Directors are Independent Non-Executive
Directors, which meets the requirements of the Listing Rules
that the Board must have at least three Independent Non-
Executive Directors and must appoint Independent Non-
Executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.

The Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee will
assess the independence, qualification and time commitment of
a candidate who is nominated to be a new Independent Non-
Executive Director before appointment and also the continued
independence of existing independent non-executive Directors
and their time commitments annually. On an annual basis, all
independent non-executive Directors are required to confirm
in writing their compliance of independence requirements
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and to disclose the
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number and nature of offices held by them in public companies
or organisations and other significant commitments.

3. The Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee will
conduct the performance evaluation of the independent non-
executive Directors annually to assess their contributions.

2. Board Composition
Executive Directors

Mr. Qin Shuguang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Liu Zhilan
Mr. Deng Denghui

Non-executive Director

Mr. Chen Zhiyong
Mr. Shen Jianfei

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Xinshou
Ms. Kong Fanhua
Prof. Li Renfa
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Save as disclosed in this annual report, to the best knowledge of the
Company, there are no financial, business, family, or other material/
relevant relationships among members of the Board.

Chairman and chief executive officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the Part 2 of the CG Code states that the
roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual.

Up to the date of this annual report, the roles of chairman of the
Board and chief executive officer of our Company are currently
performed by Mr. Qin. In view of Mr. Qin’s substantial contribution
to our Group since our establishment and his extensive experience,
we consider that having Mr. Qin acting as both our chairman and
chief executive officer will provide strong and consistent leadership
to our Group and facilitate the efficient execution of our business
strategies. We consider it appropriate and beneficial to our business
development and prospects that Mr. Qin continues to act as both our
chairman and chief executive officer after the Listing, and therefore
currently do not propose to separate the functions of chairman and
chief executive officer.

While this would constitute a deviation from Code Provision C.2.1 of
Part 2 of the CG Code, the Board believes that this structure will not
impair the balance of power and authority between the Board and
the management of our Company, given that: (i) there are sufficient
checks and balances in the Board, as a decision to be made by our
Board requires approval by at least a majority of our Directors, and
our Board comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
which is in compliance with the requirement under the Listing Rules;
(i) Mr. Qin and the other Directors are aware of and undertake to
fulfill their fiduciary duties as Directors, which require, among other
things, that he acts for the benefit and in the best interests of our
Company and will make decisions for our Group accordingly; and (i)
the balance of power and authority is ensured by the operations of
the Board which comprises experienced and high caliber individuals
who meet regularly to discuss issues affecting the operations of our
Company. Moreover, the overall strategic and other key business,
financial, and operational policies of our Group are made collectively
after thorough discussion at both Board and senior management
levels.

The Board will continue to review the effectiveness of the corporate
governance structure of our Group in order to assess whether
separation of the roles of chairman of the Board and chief executive is
necessary.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three independent non-executive Directors representing at least
one-third of the Board and at least one independent non-executive
Director with appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of
our independent non-executive Directors of his or her independence
pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in accordance with the independence requirements set
out in the Listing Rules.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of the Directors are laid down in the Articles of Association. The
primary duties of the Nomination Committee include, but are not
limited to, reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board,
assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and making recommendations to the Board on matters
relating to the appointment of the Directors.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company, under which they agreed to act as executive
Directors for an initial term of three years commencing from 12 July
2022 and will continue thereafter until terminated by not less than
three months’ written notice in writing served by either of the Director
or the Company at any time.

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company.

Each of the non-executive Director (including the independent non-
executive Directors) is appointed with an initial term of three years
commencing from 12 July 2022 subject to termination in certain
circumstances as stipulated in the relevant letters of appointment.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all of the Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and
the Board has power from time to time and at any time to appoint any
new Director to fill a causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board.
Any Director so appointed shall hold office until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for
re-election at that meeting.
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Induction and Continuing Development for Directors

Each newly appointed Director receives formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his or her appointment,
S0 as to ensure that he or she understands the business and
operations of the Company and that he or she is fully aware of his or
her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and other
relevant regulatory requirements.

The Directors are continually provided with information relating to the
developments in the legal and regulatory regime and the business and
market environments to facilitate the execution of their responsibilities.
Continuing briefings and professional development for the Directors
were arranged by the Company and its professional advisers.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, each Director has
attended training sessions arranged by the Company regarding the
continuing obligations of listed companies and its directors, disclosure
obligations of listed companies and update on the Listing Rules.
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According to records provided by the Directors, a summary of training BIRE FIR MM - EEREE2023F
received by the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2023 is as 12 A31 BIEFEESHEIIBERNT -
follows:
The continuing obligations
of listed companies and
Notifiable transactions ~ Connected transactions their directors
THARR
HEZW
Name of Director ESfE BFOHRS BERS HFEEEY
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Qin Shuguang RENSEE / / /
(Chairman and Chief Executive (EEFZBEEHITE)
Officer)
Ms. Liu Zhilan 2FEaL / v /
Mr. Deng Denghui BEELE v/ / /
Non Executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Chen Zhiyong REBLAE v/ v/ v/
Mr. Shen Jianfei TER s v/ / /
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES
Directors
Mr. Li Xinshou FHELE / v/ /
Ms. Kong Fanhua AZEL L / / /
Prof. Li Renfa FRAK / / /
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Attendance Record of Board Meetings and General Meetings
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

Code provision C.5.1 of the Part 2 of the CG Code prescribes
that at least four regular board meetings should be held each year
at approximately quarterly intervals with active participation of
majority of directors, either in person or through electronic means of
communication.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board held four
meetings and held one general meeting. The table below sets out the
details of board meetings and general meeting attendance of each
Director during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Attended/Number of meeting(s) held

e
8t
1119}

ZRRRAE HF %

E
DB ATRMTAIETE2EEC5.1
FRE - BFRLAREK

THEZEEgS
FOELHNEEFELAH K Ej(y%(%
FEEG2HEE (ERF T B b
AR o

HEC023F12A31HILFE » =gt
TaRGHERBIT-ABERERAE - TRH
FIREZE2023F 12 A1 HILFERSES
HREESRBERSSHNFS -

HEEHENE  FITEHELE

General Attendance Board Attendance
Meetings Rate meetings Rate
Name of Director EEHE BRRAE HE=R e HEE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Qin Shuguang REEX A 1/1 100% 4/4 100%
(Chairman and Chief Executive (TEEBERHTTE)
Officer)
Ms. Liu Zhilan AEHL L 11 100% 4/4 100%
Mr. Deng Denghui ey bites 1/1 100% 4/4 100%
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Chen Zhiyong REBLE 1/1 100% 4/4 100%
Mr. Shen Jianfei WIS & 11 100% 4/4 100%
Independent Non-executive BYFHTES
Directors
Mr. Li Xinshou THERE 1/1 100% 4/4 100%
Ms. Kong Fanhua HEELL 1/1 100% 4/4 100%
Prof. Li Renfa TOBHE 11 100% 4/4 100%
Apart from regular Board meetings, during the year ended 31 REBMMNESESERI - REE20234F

December 2023, the Chairman also held one meeting with the
Independent Non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors.
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Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Notices of regular board meetings are served to all of the Directors
at least 14 days before the meetings to provide all Directors with an
opportunity to attend and include matters in the agenda. For other
board and committee meetings, reasonable notices were generally
given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information were sent to all of the Directors at least three days before
each Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the Directors
apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the
Company and to enable them to make informed decisions. When
Directors or committee members are unable to attend a meeting,
they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an
opportunity to make their views known to the chairman of the Board
or the committee members prior to the meeting.

Each Director also had separate and independent access to the
senior management of the Company whenever necessary.

The senior management of the Company attend all regular board
meetings and where necessary, other Board and committee
meetings, to advise on business developments, financial and
accounting matters, statutory and regulatory compliance, corporate
governance policy and other major aspects of the Company.

The joint company secretaries are responsible for taking and keeping
minutes of all board meetings and committee meetings. Draft
minutes are normally circulated to the Directors for comment within a
reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is open for
the Directors’ inspection.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION %%ﬂi‘aﬂ%%‘“

The Board is responsible for performing the following functions: EERERTU TR

S

(@) to develop and review an issuer’s policies and practices on corporate BlE MR ETANCEERARERE
governance and make recommendations to the board; ] WRAESSROER

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional (b)) R REREEREREEABMNIEIIR
development of directors and senior management; BEIEER

(€) to review and monitor the issuer’s policies and practices on () BRI RERFITATETEENEERTE
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; F@E’\JBZ%&%%E ;

(d)  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance  (d)  #HI5E - *ﬁ%\‘f&%ﬂﬁ/g&%%mﬁ% R
manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors; and NERFM(E)

(€) to review the issuer’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in =~ (€) & 1T ABFREEETRINE R KT
the corporate governance report. PEEARENMIFEE -

kﬂ\%

During the Reporting Period, the Board has actively fulfiled its corporate &N - EESERETLEEGRE
governance responsibilities. For specific implementation, please refer to the ~ EiEHI TIFB2R AR EE AR E P HHEE
disclosure in this corporate governance report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the ESG Committee. Each of
these committees has specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with their authority and duties. The chairmen of these committees will report
their findings and recommendations to the Board after each meeting.

1. Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code as set out in Appendix
C1 to the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit Committee
are to review and supervise our financial reporting process and
internal control system of the Company, oversee the audit process,
provide advice and comments to the Board and perform other duties
and responsibilities as may be assigned by the Board. The written
terms of reference are available on the "Company Governance" of the
Company's website.

The Audit Committee consists of two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Li Xinshou, Ms. Kong Fanhua and one non-
executive director, namely Mr. Chen Zhiyong. The chairman of the
Audit Committee is Mr. Li Xinshou who possesses appropriate
accounting and related financial management expertise.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee comprise communication,
supervision and verification work for internal and external auditors of
the Company, including:

o to propose the appointment, re-appointment or replacement of
external auditor, to provide advice to the Board, to approve the
remuneration and engagement terms of external auditor;

o to review and monitor external auditor to see if it is independent
and objective and whether its auditing process is effective,
to discuss the nature, scope and method of auditing and the
relevant reporting responsibilities with the audit institution
prior to the commencement of audit work, to formulate and
implement policies for engaging external auditor to provide non-
audit services;

° to supervise the internal audit system of the Company and its
implementation, to review financial information of the Company
and its disclosure;
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o to be responsible for communication between internal auditors
and external auditors;

o to review the financial control, internal control and risk
management systems of the Company and conduct audits on
material connected transactions; and

o to perform other responsibilities required by laws, regulations,
rules, regulatory documents, Articles of Association and
assigned by the Board.

B A ESERT AL MNERE AT R 2 AN
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Emh
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R E IR R HE AR E
A

o BITDAR AR AR BEEX
HEERAREARESTSHEIRD
HiEAE

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 2 meetings of the HE2023F 12 A3 HILEE - BB
Audit Committee were held and the attendance record of the Audit GERRT2AEEREFZESKREMNT
Committee members is set out in the table below: fERSEN T
Attended/Number of
meeting(s) held
HEESERE
Name of committee member ZEEHENR BITEERY
Mr. Li Xinshou (Chairman) THELE(EE) 2/2
Ms. Kong Fanhua FLEELL L 2/2
Mr. Chen Zhiyong PRE B LA 2/2

During the 2023 Annual, the Audit Committee met twice with the
external auditors of the Company.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s policies on corporate
governance and discussed the same with the Board, reviewed the
financial reporting system, compliance procedures, internal control
and risk management and the interim report of the Group for the six
months ended 30 June 2023 systems and associated processes,
the effectiveness of the internal audit function and the reappointment
of the external auditor and fulfilled duties as required aforesaid. The
Board had not deviated from any recommendation given by the Audit
Committee on the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of
external auditor.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s annual results for
2023 Annual, and confirms that the applicable accounting principles,
standards and requirements have been complied with, and that
adequate disclosures have been made. The Audit Committee has
also reviewed the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control system of the Group, and considered the risk management
and internal control system to be effective and adequate.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the remuneration of the auditor
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and has recommended the
Board to re-appoint Ernst & Young as the auditor of the Company
for the year ending 31 December 2023, subject to approval by the
Shareholders at the AGM.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code as
set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules. The primary duties of
the Remuneration Committee are to establish, review and make
recommendations to the Directors on our policy and structure
concerning remuneration of the Directors and senior management
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing policies concerning such remuneration, determine the
terms of the specific remuneration package of each executive Director
and senior management and review and approve performance-
based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives.
The written terms of reference are available on the "Company
Governance" of the Company's website.

The Remuneration Committee consists of two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Kong Fanhua, Mr. Li Xinshou and
one non-executive director, namely Mr. Chen Zhiyong. The chairlady
of the Remuneration Committee is Ms. Kong Fanhua.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to formulate
appraisal standards and conduct appraisals for Directors and
senior management of the Company, and to formulate and review
the remuneration policies and proposals for Directors and senior
management of the Company. The details are as follows:

° to make proposals and recommendations to the Board on
remuneration plans or proposals and establishment of formal
and transparent procedures for the formulation of the above
remuneration plans or proposals according to the primary
scope, responsibilities, importance of the management
positions of Directors and senior management members and
the remuneration standards of relevant positions in other
relevant enterprises;
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to formulate the specific remuneration packages for all
executive Directors and senior management members, and to
make recommendation to the Board on remuneration of non-
executive Directors;

to review the performance of duties of Directors (non-
independent Directors) and senior management members of
the Company and to conduct annual performance appraisals
on them;

to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules; and

to perform other responsibilities required by laws, regulations,
rules, regulatory documents, Articles of Association and
assigned by the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 2 meetings of the
Remuneration Committee was held and the attendance record of the
Remuneration Committee members is set out in the table below:

s RFBHTEELSEEEEKEH
EREFHINTE - URIFRTEFD
FmEFSRLEERSR |

s EBRARANEFECGEBEUESR) LS
REEERBHNERIBALHEET
FREREZ

o EBRE/EHEFTRANEI7TER
TEBERNFENER &

o EITER RR - RR - BEXF
HEERRAREARESTSHEIRD
HiEAE

HZE2023F 12 A3 HILFE - HFEEE
gRRT2ASHELFHEEGKNEND

JRREEREIN TR ¢

=]

Attended/Number of

meeting(s) held

HESERE

Name of committee member ZEEHENS BITEERY
Ms. Kong Fanhua (Chairladly) e (£E) 2/2
Mr. Li Xinshou FHELE 2/2
Mr. Chen Zhiyong PRE B LA 2/2

The Remuneration Committee discussed and reviewed the
service agreement, appointment letter and remuneration policy
for Directors and senior management of the Company, and
made recommendations to the Board on the service agreement,
appointment letter and remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management. The Remuneration Committee
has reviewed and approved the Share Award Scheme adopted on 28
April 2023.
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code as
set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules. The primary duties of
the Nomination Committee are reviewing the structure, size and
composition of the Board; identifying individuals suitably qualified to
become Directors; assessing the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors; reviewing the board diversity policy of the Company and
making recommendations to the Board in respect of any amendments
to the same as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness. The written
terms of reference are available on the "Company Governance" of the
Company's website.

The Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director, namely
Mr. Qin Shuguang and two independent non-executive Directors Ms.
Kong Fanhua and Prof. Li Renfa. The chairman of the Nomination
Committee is Mr. Qin Shuguang.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee of the Company
comprise the selection and recommendation of candidates, election
criteria and procedures for appointments of Directors and senior
management members of the Company. The details are as follows:

o to make recommendation to the Board about the size and
composition of the Board according to the operating activities,
size of assets and shareholding structure of the Company;

° to conduct research on the selection criteria, procedure and
methods for Directors and senior management members and
submit to the Board for consideration;

° to screen the candidates for Directors and senior management
members and make recommendations;

° to conduct comprehensive assessment on the skills, knowledge
and experience of Directors and senior management members,
and to review the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

o to perform other responsibilities required by laws, regulations,
rules, regulatory documents, Articles of Association and
assigned by the Board.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, 1 meeting of the
Nomination Committee was held and the attendance record of the
Nomination Committee members is set out in the table below:

HE2023F 12 A31 A ILHIR - 1RREB
CRRTIASHERIEREZEGKNENH
JERSREN T ¢

Attended/Number of

meeting(s) held

HESBRE,

Name of committee member ZEENERR BITEERY
Mr. Qin Shuguang (Chairman) REBRLE(FE) 11
Ms. Kong Fanhua LEEL L+ 11
Prof. Li Renfa X0 11

The Nomination Committee has discussed and reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Board, assessed the independence of
independent non-executive Directors and made recommendation to
the Board on the re-election of the retiring Directors.

Where vacancies on the Board arise, the Nomination Committee
will carry out the selection process by making reference to the skills,
experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity and time
commitments of the proposed candidates, the Company’s needs and
other relevant statutory requirements and regulations.
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Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy was approved and adopted by the Board
on 21 June 2022 for evaluating and selecting any candidate for
directorship. The Nomination Committee would consider the following
criteria, including, among other things, character and integrity,
qualifications (cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience and diversity aspects
under the Board Diversity Policy), any potential contributions the
candidate can bring to the Board in terms of qualifications, skills,
experience, independence and diversity, and willingness and ability to
devote adequate time to discharge duties as a member of the Board
and/or Board committee(s).

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon receipt
of the proposal on appointment of new Director and the biographical
information (or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out above to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship. The Nomination
Committee should then recommend to the Board to appoint
the appropriate candidate for directorship with a ranking of the
candidates (if applicable) by order of preference based on the needs
of the Company and reference check of each candidate.

Board Diversity Policy

In order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain the
high standard of corporate governance, the Company has adopted
the board diversity policy which sets out the objective and approach
to achieve and maintain diversity of the Board. Pursuant to the
board diversity policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors when selecting
the candidates to the Board, including but not limited to gender,
skills, age, professional experience, knowledge, cultural, education
background, ethnicity and length of service. The ultimate decision of
the appointment will be based on merit and the contribution which
the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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The Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and skills, including
overall management and strategic development, human resources,
information technology, accounting and financial management, risk
management, corporate governance and evaluation of properties
and assets. They obtained degrees in various majors including
accounting, software engineering, electronics physics technology,
mechanical technology manufacture and equipment, statics planning
and infrastructure, constitutional and administrative law, and public
affairs management. The Board has three independent non-executive
Directors with different industry backgrounds, representing more than
one third of the members of the Board. Furthermore, the Board has a
wide range of age, ranging from 36 years old to 67 years old. Taking
into account our existing business model and specific needs as well
as the different background of our Directors, the composition of the
Board satisfies our board diversity policy.

As at 31 December 2023, the Board comprises eight Directors, two
of which are female and as such has achieved gender diversity in
respect of the Board. We will continue to strive to enhance female
representation and achieve an appropriate balance of gender diversity
with reference to the stakeholders’ expectation and international and
local recommended best practices. We will also ensure that there is
gender diversity when recruiting staff at mid to senior level and we are
committed to providing career development opportunities for female
staff so that we will have a pipeline of female senior management and
potential successors to our Board in near future.

Our Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity of
our Board members. Our Nomination Committee will review the board
diversity policy from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness
and the Company will disclose in its corporate governance report
about the implementation of the board diversity policy on an annual
basis.

The Nomination Committee is committed to maintaining the current
policy of ensuring that women constitute no less than 20% of the
board of directors. This target is set to be maintained until the fiscal
year 2024/2025. However, the Committee will regularly review and
possibly adjust the target percentage for female representation on the
board, if needed.
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When considering the succession of the board, the Nomination
Committee has developed a succession planning roadmap. In
accordance with the Company’s director nomination policy, the
Nomination Committee is responsible for identifying and selecting
candidates for directorship. Additionally, if deemed necessary, the
Committee may engage the services of an independent executive
search firm to locate potential candidates for the role of independent
non-executive directors.

Workforce Diversity

Our Company believes in the power of workforce diversity to energize
our environment, enhance individual performance, and improve
quality of life. We are dedicated to preserving a diverse workforce
across dimensions such as gender, cultural background, skills, and
experience. In the fiscal year 2023/2024, we have continued to
focus on maintaining an appropriate gender balance across different
job functions, regions, and employment levels. We routinely review
our progress to ensure visibility of gender equality, and the heads of
relevant functions and business operations units are accountable for
driving these actions.

For more detailed information on our Group’s gender ratio and the
initiatives undertaken to foster gender diversity among management
and our broader employee base, along with pertinent data, please
refer to the fiscal year 2023/2024 ESG Report that will be published
alongside this Annual Report.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had 419 employees, of
which the number of male and female employees are 242 and 177,
respectively (accounted for 58% and 42% respectively).

The Company plans to offer all-rounded trainings to female
employees whom we consider to have the suitable experience, skills
and knowledge of our operation and business, including but not
limited to, business operation, management, accounting and finance,
legal and compliance and research and development.
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The Company established an Environmental, Social and Governance
committee (“ESG Committee”) with written terms of reference on
21 June 2022. The written terms of reference are available on the
"Company Governance" of the Company's website.

The ESG Committee consists of two executive Directors, namely
Ms. Liu Zhilan, Mr. Deng Denghui and one non-executive director,
namely Mr. Shen Jianfei. The chairlady of the ESG Committee is
Ms. Liu Zhilan. The principal duties of the ESG Committee include,
among other things: (i) formulating and reviewing the Group’s ESG
liabilities, vision, strategies, structure, principles and policies; (ii)
monitoring the channels and means of communication with the
Group’s stakeholders; (jii) reviewing key ESG trends and related risks
and opportunities, and assessing the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group’s ESG structure and business model; (iv) overseeing the
Group’s sustainability performance; (v) overseeing the funding of the
initiatives on corporate social responsibilities; and (vi) reviewing and
recommending to the Board for approval of the annual ESG report of
the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 1 meeting of the
ESG Committee was held and the attendance record of the ESG
Committee members is set out in the table below:
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Attended/Number of

meeting(s) held

HESRARE

Name of committee member ZEgHREHA BITEBRRH
Ms. Liu Zhilan (Chairladly) BIER T (£E) 1/1
Mr. Shen Jianfei LRI & 11
Mr. Deng Denghui RS S A 1/1
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company, adopted by the Board on 21 June
2022, is set out as follows:

Payment of dividends by the Company is subject to any restrictions under
the Companies Law of Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association.
The Board will review the dividend policy as appropriate from time to time.
The declaration and payment of dividends shall be determined at the sole
discretion of the Board. The Board shall also take into account the following
factors when considering whether to propose dividends and determining
the dividend amount:

1. the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

2. retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group;

3. the Group’s working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future expansion plans;

4. the Group’s liquidity position;

5. contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by the Company
to the Shareholders or by the Company’s subsidiaries to the
Company;

6.  taxation considerations;

7. general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business
and other internal or external factors that may have an impact on the

business or financial performance and position of the Group; and

8. other factors that the Board deems relevant.
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REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The remuneration payable to the senior management of the Company (who
are not the Directors) for the year ended 31 December 2023 is shown in the
following table by band:

SN EIEE 1Y A
HZE2023F12A31HIFERENFARA S
BERE (WIHFES) WFHHIZERN TRIIR

Number of

individual(s)

Remuneration band £z Pgsl] AE
Nil to RMB1,000,000 T AR¥ 1,000,000 7T 2
2

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no emoluments were
paid or payable by the Group to Directors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

No remuneration was paid by the Company to Directors or the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to joint or upon jointing us or as a
compensation for loss of office in respect of year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: same).

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR'S
REMUNERATION

The Company appointed Ernst & Young as the external auditor for the year
ended 31 December 20283. There has been no change in the Company
external auditor since the Listing Date.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities for the financial statements is set out under the section
headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.

The external auditor of the Company will be invited to attend the annual
general meeting to answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the
preparation and content of the auditor’s report and auditor’s independence.
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Details of the fees paid/payable in respect of the audit and non-audit
services provided by Ernst & Young for the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in the table below:

TREHEZ2023F 12 A31 B ILEE LK
ST E S ATIR A E A MIEE A RIS E N TE
NERFS

Services
rendered

FRr iR L #Y BR A%
(RMB’000)
(AEBTFT)

Annual audit and related services
Non-audit services

FRERT AR RS
FEEE AT IR

1,812

Total A&

1,812

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

The joint company secretaries of the Company are Mr. Huang Qingzhong
and Mr. Lam Kang Chi. Mr. Lam Kang Chi, is the vice president of SWCS
Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited (an external service
provider). Each of the joint company secretaries fulfils the qualification
requirements laid down in the Listing Rules during the year under review.
Mr. Huang Qingzhong is the primary corporate contact person of Mr. Lam
Kang Chi, the joint company secretary.

Biographical details of the joint company secretaries are set out under
“Directors and Senior Management” section in this annual report. In
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, each of the joint company
secretaries has undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the year ended 31 December 2023.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code to conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on the terms no less exacting than the required
standard. Specific enquiries have been made to all the Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Company’s employees, who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company, have also been subject to the Model Code for
securities transactions. No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code
by the Company’s Directors or employees was noted by the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, inside information announcements
and other financial disclosures required by the Listing Rules and other
regulatory requirements.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing all information
and representations contained in the consolidated financial statements of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023, which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the results and cash
flows for the relevant period. The Directors consider that the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023
have been prepared in conformity with all applicable accounting standards
and requirements and reflect amounts that are based on the best estimates
and reasonable, informed and prudent judgment of the Board and the
management or supplement disclosure on any material uncertainties
matters. The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the Directors have
prepared the financial statements of the Company on a going concern
basis. The statements of the auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibility on the consolidated financial statements of the Company are
set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” in this annual
report.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Procedures for ldentifying, Assessing and Managing Significant
Risks

The Company attaches great importance to risk management and
considers it an important component of corporate governance. The
Company has established a comprehensive risk management system
covering legal compliance, market competition, operational management,
strategic planning, external environment, finance and taxation, IT system
and others.

The Company convenes regular risk assessment meetings, at which its
department heads will have an in-depth analysis of risk factors within their
areas of responsibility and report to the management. In the meantime, the
Company pays close attention to changes in the external environment in
order to identify external risks that may have an impact on the Company.
In terms of risk assessment, it will have quantitatively analysis on risks
identified and determine their order of priority in terms of probability of
occurrence and potential impact, in order to form a basis for decision-
making in the formulation of risk response strategies.

For different types of risks, the Company has formulated corresponding
countermeasures and management strategies. For legal compliance risks,
the Company strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations and has
established a sound compliance management system to ensure the legality
and compliance of its operations. For market and competition risks, the
Company has continued to enhance its core competitiveness, strengthened
market research and analysis, and timely adjusted its business strategies
to cope with market changes. For operational and management risks, the
Company has continuously optimized its internal management processes
to enhance operational efficiency, while strengthening the management
over teaching quality and faculty to ensure a high standard of teaching
services. For strategic and planning risks, the Company has carefully
formulated development strategies and made dynamic adjustments in order
to adapt to changes in the internal and external environments. For coping
with external environment risks, the Company pays close attention to policy
directions and industry dynamics in order to formulate contingency plans in
a timely manner. For financial and tax risks, the Company has strengthened
financial management and internal control to ensure the truthfulness and
accuracy of its financial reports, with reasonable tax planning being made
concurrently. For prevention of IT system risks, the Company has continued
to optimize its IT system structure to enhance system security and stability,
guaranteeing its business operation and data security.
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Taking risk management as an on-going task, Readboy has continuously
improved its level of risk management by establishing a risk management
culture, perfecting risk control mechanism and enhancing risk response
capability. The Company encourages all employees to participate in
risk management and has established a risk reporting mechanism that
integrates top-down and bottom-up approaches. During the Reporting
Period, Readboy had successfully identified, assessed and managed
various risks faced by the Company through a systematic risk management
process and effective risk response measures, providing solid protection for
the Company’s stable development.

Key Features of the Risk Management and Internal Control
System

The risk management and internal control system are mainly featured as
being comprehensive, systematic and continuous, with the aim of providing
reasonable protection for the realization of the Company’s strategic
objectives and sustainable development.

The system covers all aspects and business sections of the Company’s
operations, forming a systematic risk management and internal control
framework with clear division of responsibilities and reporting lines for all
parties. The Company regards risk management and internal control as an
on-going work and regularly evaluates and improves the effectiveness of
the system.

The Company’s risk management and internal control system is risk
orientated and uses risk assessment results to formulate targeted response
strategies and internal control measures. Meanwhile, the Company fosters
a culture of risk management and internal control with the participation of all
employees to enhance their awareness of risk and compliance.
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The construction and operation of Readboy’s risk management and internal
control system has provided an important guarantee for the Company’s
standardized operation and stable development. In the future, the Company
will continue to improve its risk management and internal control system
and enhance its capabilities in risk prevention and internal control, with a
view to creating long-term value for its stakeholders.

Risk Management and Internal Control System

During the reporting year, the Group has complied with Code D.2 of the
Part 2 of the CG Code through the establishment of an appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control system. Management is
responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of such system
and the Board continuously monitors the performance of management in
discharging its responsibilities by the internal control staff of the Group to
review the Group’s risk management and internal control system for the
year. The review procedures performed by the internal control staff of the
Group include reviewing the existing risk management and internal control
system, assessing the adequacy of material internal controls for the Group,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and reporting key
risk information and internal control findings to the Board and management,
and the management has reported the internal control findings and risk
assessment results identified by the internal control staff of the Group to the
Board and has implemented an action plan and will provide the Board with
regular updates on the remediation progress.
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Reviewing the Effectiveness of Risk Management and Internal
Control System

The Board acknowledged that it has the responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness
and such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The
Board ensures that the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems is reviewed at least once a year. During the reporting
year, the Board has conducted a review of the Group’s risk management
and internal control system, including but not limited to () changes in the
nature and extent of significant risks and the Company’s ability to respond
to changes in its business and external environment, (i) the scope and
quality of management’s continuing oversight of the risk and internal control
system, (i) communication of oversight results with the Board and the Audit
Committee to assess the scope and frequency of the effectiveness of the
Company’s control and risk management, (iv) significant control deficiencies
or weaknesses identified, and (v) the effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting process and compliance with the Listing Rules, and (vi)
review of the risk management and internal control reviews conducted by
the internal control staff of the Group during the year.

Based on the above review, the Board is of the opinion that the Group’s
risk management and internal control system are effective and adequate
and no material issues have been identified that may have an impact on
the financial controls, operational controls, compliance controls and risk
management functions of the Group. In addition, the Board also considers
that the resources, staff qualifications and experience, training courses
and budget of the Company’s accounting, compliance, legal and financial
reporting functions were adequate and effective during the reporting year.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board was of a view that
the Group’s risk management and internal control system is effective and
adequate, and was not aware of any material matters that may have an
impact on the Shareholders.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Company takes seriously of its
obligations under the new Part XIVA of the SFO and the Listing Rules. The
Company has adopted a continuous disclosure compliance policy which
sets out guidelines and procedures to the Directors and officers of the
Group to ensure inside information of the Group is to be disseminated to
the public in equal and timely manner. Briefing session is held regularly for
officers to facilitate their understanding and compliance with the policy.
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Whistleblowing Policy

The Board of Directors of our Group has established a whistleblowing
policy. This policy provides a secure and confidential means for our
employees and business associates (such as clients and suppliers), =)

collectively referred to as “whistleblowers,”

against the Group or its employees during the reporting period.

to anonymously report any 1% -
potential misconduct. Whistleblowers are entitled to report their concerns

directly to the Chairman of the Audit Committee through the Company
Secretary. There was no legal case regarding corrupt practices brought

Mechanism

EEHS

Independent reviews of the

effectiveness of internal

control & rrsk management
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Anti-corruption Policy

The Board of Directors of our Group put in place an anti-bribery and anti-
corruption policy (the “Anti-corruption Policy”). We are dedicated to
promoting the highest standards of commercial integrity and abiding by
all applicable laws, including anti-corruption statutes in each jurisdiction
where the Group conducts its operations and business dealings. The Anti-
corruption Policy sets forth the principles and guidelines that our employees
and business partners must adhere to, aiming to prevent any acts of bribery
and corruption, as well as other forms of unethical behavior.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company’s Shares have been listed on the Stock Exchange since the
Listing Date.

Net proceeds from the Global Offering received by the Company were
approximately HKD364.6 million with 52,000,000 new ordinary Shares
issued at the price of HKD7.6 per Share. The total amount of net proceeds
from the Global Offering are proposed to be used for the purposes and in
the amounts (adjusted on pro rata basis based on the actual net proceeds)
as disclosed in the Prospectus as follows:
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Net proceeds
utilised from Net proceeds
the Listing Date utilised
and up to during the Net proceeds
31 December yearended  unutilised as at
2022 31 December 31 December Expected
Percentage of BLmAME 2023 2023 timeline
total amount of REZ2025F REZ2023F #2023 for usage
net proceeds Amount of 12831H 12831 B 128311 of proceeds
Pugose EFERETFE  net proceeds HENEDA FECEHA HABA 85
i AENEIN FiERERE BREFE FisEReE FERERE ﬁﬁﬁﬁ}ﬁﬂ?yfﬁ
% (HKD million) (HKD mllhon)) (HKD million) (HKD million) %\Jdt\e)
(BERET) (BER (REAT) (REET) i3
(1) Deepen the reform of distribution network and strengthen its 35% 127.61 35.46 55.94 36.21
eo%ra hical expansion and penetration
EEBRRE RS HERREE
() strengthen and expand the offline distributors for individual 30% 109.38 36.35 55.79 18.24 By December
and end users 2026
BEREFEALBEPOE ML 202612 ARl
(i) expand and enhance the distribution network for the 5% 18.23 0.1 0.15 17.97 By December
ital and smart classroom solutions 2026
TEJ% MEREERE AT REE A% 2026512 ARl
(2) Research and development of information technologies and 25% 91.15 0.56 6.35 84.24
infrastructure to enhance overall technical advantages in
delivering smart learning devices with
digital educat\ona\ resources )
HEREE &ﬂ]&%ﬁ% ERAMEREREYT
1t %ﬁliﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ B2 EREAEN
BRRmED
(i) recruit additional IT technical staff and support the research 20% 72.92 0.48 4.96 67.48 By December
and development activities 2026
BB TRITA R RIS H0HEED 2026 12 A
(i) establish a new blg data center in Zhuhai 5% 18.23 0.1 1.36 16.76 By December
BUREMABETO 2026
2026512 ARl
(3) Investment in optimizing the products and service offerings to 20% 72.92 38.91 5.27 28.74 By December
further enhance competitiveness 2026
REB(BMNERRRBHEINE ST 20264 12 Af
TF?E’\JM?
(4) Enhance education material development capability and 10% 36.46 5.57 434 26.55

further diversi d\gltal education resources
ERRMINAM R TR TR RME
%(%ﬂiﬁﬁﬁﬁk bE4 {9

(i) recruit and train the education material % 25.52 - - 25.52 By December
development ersonnel 2026
RERE \\%W%%*Ae 20265 12 Al
(i) expand and update the di tal educational resources 3% 10.94 5.57 4.34 1.03 By December
BRREHUTHAHE 2026
2026512 ARl
(5) Work| ; cap\ta\ and for general corporate purposes 10% 36.46 11.88 23.32 1.26 By December
—RRAA 2026
202612 AR]

'E%al 100% 364.60 92.35 95.25 177.00

AR

Note: The expected timeline was based on the Company’s estimation of future
market conditions and business operations, and remains subject to change
based on actual market conditions and business needs.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the total amount of net
proceeds from the Global Offering have been used according to the
intentions previously disclosed in the Prospectus. Unutilised net proceeds
were deposited into short-term demand deposits with licensed banks or
authorised financial institutions. The unutilised net proceeds are intended to
be used in the same manner as stated in the Prospectus.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS
General Meetings and Shareholders’ Rights

The Company shall in each year hold a general meeting as its annual
general meeting in addition to any other meetings in that year and shall
specify the meetings as such in the notices calling them. The extraordinary
general meetings are convened irregularly.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, an extraordinary general
meeting shall be convened either by the Board or on the requisition of one
or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not
less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right
of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to
the Board or any one of the joint company secretaries for the purpose of
requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall
be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21
days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or in the Companies
Act of the Cayman Islands for putting forward proposals of new resolutions
by Shareholders at general meetings. Shareholder(s) who wish to move a
resolution may request the Company to convene an extraordinary general
meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in the preceding
paragraph. For proposing a person for election as a Director, please refer
to the “Procedures for Shareholders to propose a Director” posted on the
Company’s website.

Communication with Shareholders and Investors

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of the
Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company endeavours to
maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, through
annual general meetings and other general meetings. At the forthcoming
annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) will be
available to meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

As part of its regular review, the Board has reviewed the Shareholders’
communication channels for the year ended 31 December 2023 and is of
the view that the channels are effective and adequately implemented.
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To promote effective communication, up-to-date information and updates
on the Company’s business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information are
available in the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and
the Company (www.readboy.com) for public access.

Shareholders should direct their inquiries about their shareholdings or
proposals at general meetings to Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong.
Investors may also write to the Company at its principal place of business in
Hong Kong or China for any enquiries. The Company sets out the following
contact details for Shareholders to communicate with the Company:
Mailing address: No0.38, Changyi Road, Wuguishan
Zhongshan City, Guangdong Province
China

Attention: Board of Directors/Company Secretary

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Articles of Association has been amended and restated with effect from
the Listing Date, and it is available on the respective website of the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.readboy.com).
Save as disclosed in this report, during the year ended 31 December 2023,
there has not been any change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
R

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO) or required to be
entered in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, or which were otherwise required, to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, are set out below:

INTERESTS IN SHARES OF THE COMPANY

Name of Director/

Chief executive Capacity/Nature of interest

EERESITHRAERA AT
oy, HAREE A E 2 IR~ HHEEIR
T REEZNERRRE
MN2023F 12 A31H ARAIEENEEITH
AERARARRERB LB (EERESFLHE
1&BIZE XV E0) B - ERERR S R EEE T AR
BEAFRIEEREXVEE 7 RESHIBEMS
NAR MBS FTERS AR (BREBEESR
HEEHINZS X ESWEFSE A A R
HRAR)  HBELTRARTBREBEZANGE
1015 352 (17 B 2 B MR KoK R - 3R
HIZESTRIARI TS AR R R B ATafE RS &
KBS

RAR DB IR R Ry E RS

Number of Shares
or underlying number Approximate
of shares percentage
under convertible of shareholding
instruments interest held as at
or options 31 December 2023
BROBERTHRRIES  R2023512831H

BEE BETBRABHS B3/ REEnE BREETHERRAGEE FiERESAE 2t
Mr. Chen®® Settlor of a discretionary trust 2 {5 LT A 120,386,719 34.20%
B 5T A @9 Interest of concert parties —E1TE) A TS 98,929,717 28.10%
Mr. Qin@ Interest in a controlled corporation 25 B 98,929,717 28.10%
R ew Interest of concert parties — B/ TE) A THEzE 120,386,719 34.20%
Ms. Liu Zhilan® Interest in a controlled corporation SZHE A % 6,664,555 1.89%
ZEBLLO Trustee LA 13,365,371 3.80%
Mr. Shen Jianfei® Interest in a controlled corporation SZHE A % 11,248,791 3.19%

ERIF L
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Disclosure of Interests

Emi

All interests are held in long positions.

On 1 April 2021, Mr. Chen and Mr. Qin entered into a concert parties
confirmatory deed (the “Concert Parties Confirmatory Deed”), pursuant
to which they reaffirmed that they had been acting in concert in respect of
each of the members of our Group before the date of the Concert Parties
Confirmatory Deed, and shall continue the same thereafter, details of which are
set out in the section headed “History, Reorganization and Corporate Structure
— Acting in Concert Arrangement” of the Prospectus. As such, pursuant to the
parties acting in concert arrangement, each of our Controlling Shareholders, i.e.
Kimlan Limited, Sky Focus, Mr. Chen, Trade Honour and Mr. Qin, is deemed to
be interested in 62.31% of the Company.

Kimlan Limited is a company incorporated in the BVI with limited liability being
wholly-owned by Maples Trustee Services (Cayman) Limited, the trustee of
Joywish Family Trust, which is a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Chen as the
settlor, with Mr. Chen and his family members being the beneficiaries. Each
of Mr. Chen, Kimlan Limited and Maples Trustee Services (Cayman) Limited is
deemed to be interested in 120,386,719 Shares held by Sky Focus (wholly-
owned by Kimlan Limited) by virtue of the SFO; and (i) 98,929,717 Shares in
which Mr. Chen is deemed to be interested as a result of being a party acting
in concert with Mr. Qin.

Shares in which Mr. Qin is interested consist of () 98,929,717 Shares held
by Trade Honour, a company wholly-owned by Mr. Qin, in which Mr. Qin
is deemed to be interested under the SFO; and (i) 120,386,719 Shares in
which Mr. Qin is deemed to be interested as a result of being a party acting in
concert with Mr. Chen.

Shares in which Ms. Liu Zhilan is interested consist of (i) 6,664,555 Shares
held by Eminent Future, a company wholly-owned by Ms. Liu Zhilan, in which
Ms. Liu Zhilan is deemed to be interested under the SFO; and (i) 13,365,371
Shares held by Driving Force, a company set up for the purpose of holding
certain Shares reserved for any future grant of RSUs under the RSU Scheme,
which is wholly-owned by Ms. Liu Zhilan, who is in turn acting as the RSU
Trustee. Pursuant to a declaration of trust dated 21 March 2022, Ms. Liu
Zhilan (as the RSU Trustee) confirmed that (i) she held the entire shareholding
interests of Driving Force for the sole purpose of setting up the RSU Scheme
for the Company; and (i) she in the capacity as the RSU Trustee will vest the
relevant underlying Shares (reserved and held by Driving Force) of the RSUs
granted under the RSU Scheme in accordance with the instruction of the
Company for the benefit of the employees of the Company. By virtue of the
above, Ms. Liu Zhilan is deemed to be interested in the 13,365,371 Shares
held by Driving Force.

Under the SFO, Mr. Shen Jianfei is interested in all of the 11,248,791 Shares
held by Chance High Developments Limited, a company which is wholly-
owned by him.

FRERESIGRETR °

R2021F 4818 BREENRREER L —
BITHALHRZE(—BRTBALERE

B &b REEFR E-HITHALER
2Rz FEERAEBNERE QT

—H—WTH HE?&H#&%EZZDM FIEERN
BRER[ES EARAREE — —BUTH
L] —&f o Bt - RE— éﬁm@bzﬂ?t BME
PRRS A% R 0 B Kimlan Limited ~ Sky Focus ~ FR4E
A - Trade Honour R 5L 4 + R AHE B A~
AR]62.31% HHEDS ©

Kimlan Limited 2R R B AR R B ST Mz
# B R A & fJoywish Family Trust#) 5 #E
A Maples Trustee Services (Cayman) Limited
2 & %A + Joywish Family Trust 5 R ¢ £ 15 5
BREFEAKINEZREET  MREERER
FERERTmA  RIBEZEFLEERD - BRE
4+ Kimlan Limited } Maples Trustee Services
(Cayman) Limited & B # 15 /& 7 Sky Focus ( B
Kimlan Limited 2 & %4 ) #1756 # 120,386,719 ik
Rin : RFREEREREREE—BITHA
=+ i 448 B R 1 98,929,717 R AR 1 H
G -

Z A B MR (D B $E() Trade Honour
(—KBAFEE2EHEBENRA BEES
MEEGY  REEWRAKEERZ)FE
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HEEE—BRITHALIMHREAEEFTESZN
120,386,719 &A% (7 °
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INTERESTS IN THE SHARES OR UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY'S ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

JRZR 1 B EEA B 2 IR0 2
EARR 17 VMRS

Approximate
percentage of
interest in the

associate
corporation as
at 31 December

Number of shares / 2023
Name of Director/ Associated registered capital @ 2023128
Chief executive Capacity/Nature of Interest corporation BREHE O, 31 BREEEE
EE BRTBRASHEE S #EHE AL E ZMEXREE® ZEZAIHL
Mr. Chen Settlor of a discretionary trust Sky Focus 1 share 100%
BRI A PREFTEFEA 1A
Shen Jianfei Beneficial owner Zhuhai Readboy RMB5,100,000 51%@
IR BB A RGEER AR ¥ 5,100,000 7T
Mr. Qin Beneficial owner Zhuhai Readboy RMB4,900,000 49%®@
=EAE EnERA HEEER AR 4,900,000 70
Beneficial owner Trade Honour 1 share 100%
BEmEAA 18
Notes: 5T

(1) Allinterests are held in long positions.

2) The concept of issued shares is not applicable to Zhuhai Readboy as it is a
limited liability company established in the PRC.

Save as disclosed and as at 31 December 2023, so far as the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company are aware, none of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company had registered an interest or short
position in any Shares or underlying Shares or debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
that was required to be notified under Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO or recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.
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Disclosure of Interests
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, so far as is known to the Company, the
following persons (other than Directors or chief executive of the Company)
or corporations who had interest or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which were required to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 were as follows:

FERERAD [ IR K AEE
RS R

~.

202312 A31H * EARAIFTA - LT A
T (BEERARRRSITHRABRIN S8EER
AARRGD KA D P B IREEAF SR
BIZEXV EF R 2 I 3 7 SRS ZB M AN A ) B2 A 42
FHAR - HRBEEE 386 IFFENELME
SRR SOAR T ¢

Approximate

percentage of

shareholding

interest held as at

Number of Shares 31 December 2023

Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest BERZNRAOD R2023F12831H
BREE, BB B/ REEE EERGAHEE ZBABEREA L
Sky Focus®@® Beneficial owner BEz5#A A 120,386,719 34.20%
Interest of concert parties — B/ TE) A T zs 98,929,717 28.10%

Kimlan Limited®® Interest in a controlled corporation 24 B8 120,386,719 34.20%
Interest of concert parties —E1TE) A THES 98,929,717 28.10%

Maples Trustee Services Trustee XFEA 120,386,719 34.20%
(Cayman) Limited®@® Interest of concert parties — B/ TE) A THEzs 98,929,717 28.10%
Trade Honour?* Beneficial owner B #H A 98,929,717 28.10%
Interest of concert parties —E1T7E) A THER 120,386,719 34.20%
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Disclosure of Interests

Emi e

Save

All interests are held in long positions.

On 1 April 2021, Mr. Chen and Mr. Qin entered into the Concert Parties
Confirmatory Deed, pursuant to which they reaffirmed that they had been
acting in concert in respect of each of the members of our Group before
the date of the Concert Parties Confirmatory Deed, and shall continue the
same thereafter, details of which are set out in the section headed “History,
Reorganization and Corporate Structure — Acting in Concert Arrangement”
of the Prospectus. As such, pursuant to the parties acting in concert
arrangement, each of our Controlling Shareholders, i.e. Kimlan Limited, Sky
Focus, Mr. Chen, Trade Honour and Mr. Qin, is deemed to be interested in
62.31% of the Company.

Shares in which Mr. Chen is interested consist of (i) Kimlan Limited is a
company incorporated in the BVI with limited liability being wholly-owned by
Maples Trustee Services (Cayman) Limited, the trustee of Joywish Family Trust
which is a discretionary trust established by Mr. Chen as the settlor, with Mr.
Chen and his family members being the beneficiaries. Shares in which Mr.
Chen is interested consist of 120,386,719 Shares held by Sky Focus (wholly-
owned by Kimlan Limited), in which Mr. Chen is deemed to be interested
under the SFO; and (i) 98,929,717 Shares in which Mr. Chen is deemed to be
interested as a result of being a party acting in concert with Mr. Qin.

Shares in which Mr. Qin is interested consist of 98,929,717 Shares held
by Trade Honour, a company wholly-owned by Mr. Qin, in which Mr. Qin
is deemed to be interested under the SFO; and (i) 120,386,719 Shares in
which Mr. Qin is deemed to be interested as a result of being a party acting in
concert with Mr. Chen.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company is not

aware of any other person (other than Directors or chief executive of the
Company) or corporation having an interest or short positions in the Shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES

1.

RSU Scheme

The Company approved and adopted the RSU Scheme on 21 June
2022 (the “Adoption Date”), and the remaining life of the RSU
Scheme was approximately eight years and three months as at the
Latest Practicable Date.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, 13,365,371 Shares were held by
Driving Force as reserve for future grant of RSUs under the RSU
Scheme. Driving Force is a limited liability company wholly-owned
by Ms. Liu Zhilan. Pursuant to a declaration of trust dated 21 March
2022, Ms. Liu Zhilan (as the RSU Trustee) confirmed that (i) she held
the entire shareholding interests of Driving Force for the sole purpose
of setting up the RSU Scheme for the Company; and (ii) she in the
capacity as the RSU Trustee will vest the relevant underlying Shares
(reserved and held by Driving Force) of the RSUs granted under the
RSU Scheme in accordance with the instruction of the Company for
the benefit of the employees of the Company.

No RSU has been granted, outstanding, vested, unvested,
cancelled, or lapsed since the Adoption Date and up to
the Latest Practicable Date. As at the Listing Date and 31
December 2023, the number of Shares available for grant
under the RSU Scheme was 13,365,371 Shares. As at
1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and the Latest Practicable Date,
the number of Shares available for grant under the RSU Scheme
was still 13,365,371 Shares. Such number of Shares represents
approximately 3.80% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the
date of the 2023 annual report considering that there has been no
change in the total number of Shares in issue since the Listing Date
and up to the Latest Practicable Date. There is no service provider
sublimit being defined under the RSU Scheme as stated below.
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A summary of principal terms of the RSU Scheme is set out as
follows:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(@)

Purpose

The purpose of the RSU Scheme is to reward the RSU
Grantees for their services and contribution to the success
of the Group, and to provide incentives to them to further
contribute to the Group.

Period

The RSU Scheme remains in force for a period of ten years
commencing on the Adoption Date (“Scheme Period”), after
which period no further RSUs shall be granted or accepted, but
the provisions of the RSU scheme shall remain in full force and
effect in order to give effect to the vesting of RSUs granted and
accepted prior to the expiration of the scheme period.

Maximum number of RSUs

Unless otherwise duly approved by the Shareholders, the
Shares in aggregate underlying or represented by all RSU(s)
under the RSU Scheme shall not exceed 13,365,371 Shares,
which represents 3.80% of the total number of Shares in issue
as at the Listing Date.

Administration of the RSU Scheme

The RSU Scheme is subject to the administration of the Board
in accordance with the rules of the RSU Scheme. Any decision
of the Board made in accordance with the rules of the RSU
Scheme shall be final, conclusive and binding, provided in each
case that such decision is made in accordance with the Articles
and any applicable laws.

The Board may delegate the authority to administer the RSU
Scheme to any one or more Directors.
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The Board appoints the RSU Trustee to administer the granting
and vesting of RSU(s) granted to the RSU Grantees pursuant
to the RSU Scheme. Subject to compliance with the laws of
the Cayman Islands and the Articles, the Company provides
such assistance as may be appropriate or necessary to enable
the RSU Trustee to satisfy its obligations in connection with
the administration and vesting of RSU(s) granted to the RSU
Grantees pursuant to the RSU Scheme. There is no service
provider sublimit being defined under the RSU Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each RSU Scheme participant

Under the terms of the RSU Scheme, there is no specified
maximum entitlement of Shares to be granted to each
participant.

Who may join

The Directors (which expression shall, for the purpose of this
paragraph, include a duly authorised committee thereof) may, at
their absolute discretion, invite any person belonging to any of
the following classes of participants, who the Board considers,
in its sole discretion, has contributed or will contribute to the
Group, to receive RSU(s) under the RSU Scheme (collectively
the “Eligible Persons”):

(i) employees of the Group (including director, chief executive
officer, members of senior management, key technical
personnel or employees of any member of the Group);
and

(i)  any other person selected by the Board at its sole
discretion from time to time.

(e)
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On and subject to the rules of the RSU Scheme and all
applicable laws and other regulations, the Board, may within the
Scheme Period, determine any Eligible Persons to participate in
the RSU Scheme (the “Selected Persons”). Unless being so
selected, no person shall be entitled to participate in the RSU
Scheme. The Board has full and sole discretion to determine,
from time to time, the basis of eligibility of any Selected Person
for participation in the RSU Scheme and the grant of RSU(s) on
the basis of their contribution to the development of the Group
or any other factors as the Board deems appropriate.

Restrictions

The Board shall not grant any RSU(s) to any Selected Person in
any of the following circumstances:

(@  the requisite approvals for such grant from any applicable
regulatory authorities or governmental or public bodies
have not been obtained;

(b)  the securities laws or regulations require that a prospectus
or other offering documents be issued in respect of the
grant of RSU(s) or in respect of the RSU Scheme, unless
the Board determines otherwise;

(c) the grant would result in a breach by the Group or any of
its directors or senior management of any applicable laws,
regulations or rules;

(d) where our Company has information that must be
disclosed under Rule 13.09 of the Listing Rules or
where the Company reasonably believes there is inside
information which must be disclosed under Part XIVA
of the SFO (as may be amended from time to time),
until such price sensitive/inside information has been
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company;
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(h)
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0

(e) during the period of 60 days immediately preceding the
publication date of the annual results or, if shorter, the
period from the end of the relevant financial year up to
(and including) the publication date of the results; and (ii)
during the period of 30 days immediately preceding the
publication date of the quarterly results (if any) and half-
year results o, if shorter, the period from the end of the
relevant quarterly or half-year period up to (and including)
the publication date of the results; or

()  the grant would result in breach of the limit of the RSU
Scheme or other rules of the RSU Scheme.

Grant of RSU(s)

Subject to the limitations and conditions of the RSU Scheme,
the Board or the RSU Trustee (upon receipt of the notification
from the Board) shall grant an offer of grant of RSU(s) to any
Selected Person by way of a letter (the “Grant Letter”) on such
terms and conditions as the Board may determine.

To the extent that the offer of grant of a RSU(s) is not accepted
by the Selected Person within the time period or in a manner
prescribed in the Grant Letter, it shall be deemed that such
offer has been irrevocably declined and thus the grant has
immediately lapsed.

Vesting

The Board has the sole discretion to determine the vesting
schedule and vesting criteria (if any) for any grant of award(s)
to any RSU Grantee, which may also be adjusted and re-
determined by the Board from time to time. The RSU Trustee
should administer the vesting of the awards granted to each
RSU Grantee pursuant to the vesting schedule and vesting
criteria (if any) determined by the Board.

Acceptance of RSUs

A Selected Person may accept an offer of the grant of RSU(s)
in such manner as set out in the Grant Letter or as otherwise
determined by the Board. Once accepted, the RSU(s) are
granted to the Selected Person, who becomes a grantee in the
RSU Scheme immediately.
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There is no specified acceptance price or purchase price of award
Shares and the basis of determining the purchase price of Shares to
be awarded was not specified under the terms of RSU Scheme.

For other details of the RSU Scheme, please refer to the paragraph
headed “Statutory and General Information — D. Share Incentive
Schemes — 1. Post-IPO RSU Scheme — Summary of the Post-IPO
RSU Scheme” in Appendix V to the Prospectus.

Share Option Scheme

The Company approved and adopted the Share Option Scheme on
21 June, 2022, and the remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
was approximately eight years and three months as at the Latest
Practicable Date.

No share option has been granted, exercised, outstanding, cancelled
or lapsed since the adoption date of the Share Option Scheme and
up to the Latest Practicable Date. As at each of the Listing Date,
31 December 2022, 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and the
Latest Practicable Date, the maximum number of Shares in respect
of which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
is 35,200,000 Shares, representing approximately 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue as at the date of the 2023 annual report
considering that there has been no change in the total number of
Shares in issue since the Listing Date and up to the Latest Practicable
Date. There is no service provider sublimit being defined under the
Share Option Scheme.

A summary of principal terms of the Scheme Option Scheme is set
out as follows:

1. Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide an
incentive or reward for the Option Grantees (as defined below)
for their contribution or potential contribution to our Group.
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2.

3.

4.

Participants and the basis of determining the eligibility of
the participants

Our Board may, subject to and in accordance with the
provisions of the Share Option Scheme and the Listing Rules,
at its discretion grant options to any full-time or part-time
employees, consultants or potential employees, consultants,
executives or officers (including Directors) of our Company
or any of its subsidiaries, and any suppliers, customers,
consultants, agents and advisors who, in the sole opinion
of our Board has contributed or will contribute to our Group
(collectively, the “Eligible Participants”) and whom our Board
may in its absolute discretion select and subject to such
conditions as it may think fit.

Period

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years commencing on the date on which the Share Option
Scheme is adopted.

Grant of options
(a) Making of offer

An offer shall be made to an Eligible Participant by an
offer document in such form as our Board may from time
to time determine (the “Offer Document”), requiring the
participant to undertake to hold the option on the terms
on which it is to be granted and to be bound by the
provisions of the Share Option Scheme.

(b) Acceptance of offer

An option shall be deemed to have been granted to
(subject to certain restrictions in the Share Option
Scheme), and accepted by, the Eligible Participant
(the “Option Grantee”) and to have taken effect upon
the issue of an option certificate after the duplicate
Offer Document constituting acceptance of the option
duly signed by the Option Grantee, together with a
remittance in favor of our Company of HKD1.00 by way
of consideration for the grant of the option is received by
our Company on or before the last day for acceptance set
out in the Offer Document. The remittance is not in any
circumstances refundable and shall be deemed as part
payment of the Exercise Price (as defined below). Once
accepted, the option is granted as from the date on which
it was offered to the Option Grantee (the “Offer Date”).
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Restrictions on time of grant

No grant of options shall be made after any inside
information has come to the knowledge of our Company
until such inside information has been announced
pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. In
particular, no option shall be granted during the period
of one month immediately preceding the earlier of: (i) the
date of our Board meeting as shall have been notified to
the Stock Exchange for the approval of our Company’s
results for any year, half-year, quarterly or any other
interim period (whether or not required under the Listing
Rules); and (i) the deadline for our Company to publish an
announcement of its results for any year or half-year under
the Listing Rules or quarterly or any other interim period
(whether or not required under the Listing Rules), and
ending on the actual date of the results announcement
for such year, half year, quarterly or interim period (as the
case may be). The period during which no option may be
granted will cover any period of delay in the publication of
a results announcement.

The Directors may not grant any option to a participant
who is a Director during the period or time in which
Directors are prohibited from dealing in shares pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers prescribed by the Listing Rules or any
corresponding code or securities dealing restrictions
adopted by the Company.

Grant to connected persons

Any grant of options to a connected person must be
approved by all independent non-executive Directors
(excluding any independent non-executive Director who is
also a proposed Option Grantee of the options, the vote
of such independent non-executive Director shall not be
counted for the purposes of approving the grant).
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Grant to substantial shareholders and independent

non-executive directors

Without prejudice to sub-paragraph 4(c) above, any grant
of options to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive Director of our Company or any of their
respective associates shall be subject to, in addition to
the approval of our independent non-executive Directors
in sub-paragraph (d) above, the issue of a circular by our
Company to its Shareholders and the approval of our
Shareholders in general meeting if our Shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted
and proposed to be granted to him (whether exercised,
canceled or outstanding) under the Share Option Scheme
or any other scheme in the twelve (12) month period up to
and including the Offer Date:

(i) would represent in aggregate more than 0.1 %, or
such other percentage as may from time to time be
provided under the Listing Rules, of our Shares in
issue on the Offer Date; and

(i)  would have an aggregate value, based on the
official closing price of our Shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange on
the Offer Date, in excess of HKD5,000,000 (or such
other amount as shall be permissible under the
Listing Rules from time to time).

Proceedings in general meeting to approve the grant

of option

At the general meeting to approve the proposed grant
of options under sub-paragraph 4(e) above, the Option
Grantee, his associates and all core connected persons of
our Company must abstain from voting. At such general
meeting, the vote to approve the grant of such options
must be taken on a poll in accordance with the Articles
of Association and the relevant provisions of the Listing
Rules.
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(9)

(h)

Performance target

Our Board has the discretion to require a particular Option
Grantee to achieve certain performance targets specified
at the time of grant before any option granted under the
Share Option Scheme can be exercised. There is no
specific performance targets stipulated under the terms of
the Share Option Scheme and our Board currently has no
intention to set any specific performance targets on the
exercise of any options granted or to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme.

Vesting

Options granted under the Share Option Scheme shall
be subject to such vesting conditions as set forth in the
respective Option Grantee’s Offer Document. In addition
to such other performance-based vesting conditions (if
any) set forth in the respective Option Grantee’s Offer
Document and unless otherwise approved by the Board
in writing, (i) the vesting schedule requires continued
employment of or service by the respective Option
Grantee through each applicable vesting date as a
condition to the vesting of the applicable percentage of
the option and the rights and benefits under the Share
Option Scheme and the respective Option Grantee’s
Offer Document; and (i) employment or service for only
a portion of the respective vesting period, even if a
substantial portion, will not entitle the respective Option
Grantee to any proportionate vesting of the option.
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5.

6.

Exercise price

The price per Share at which a Option Grantee may subscribe
for Shares upon exercise of an option (the “Exercise Price”)
shall, subject to any adjustment(s) under the terms of the
Share Option Scheme, be determined by our Board in its sole
discretion but in any event shall be at least the highest of:

(i) the official closing price of our Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on the Offer
Date;

(i) the average of the official closing prices of our Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the Offer
Date; and

(i)  the nominal value of a Share; provided that for the
purpose of determining Exercise Price under sub-
paragraph 5(ii) above where our Shares have been listed
on the Stock Exchange for less than five Business Days
preceding the Offer Date, the issue price of our Shares
in connection with such listing shall be deemed to be the
closing price of our Shares for each Business Day falling
within the period before the listing of our Shares on the
Stock Exchange.

Maximum number of Shares available for subscription
(a) Scheme limit

Subject to sub-paragraphs 6(b) and 6(c) below, the
maximum number of Shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other Share Option Schemes of our Company shall
not in aggregate exceed the number of Shares that shall
represent 10% of the total number of Shares in issue
immediately upon completion of the Global Offering and
the Capitalization Issue (the “Scheme Limit”) which is
35,200,000 Shares. For the purpose of calculating the
Scheme Limit, options which have lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme (or any other
share option schemes of the Company) shall not be
counted.
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(b

©

Renewal of scheme limit

Our Company may seek approval by our Shareholders
in general meeting for renewing the Scheme Limit
provided that the total number of Shares in respect of
which options may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other schemes of our Company under
the Scheme Limit as renewed from time to time must not
exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at
the date of our Shareholders’ approval. Options previously
granted under the Share Option Scheme, whether
outstanding, canceled, lapsed in accordance with its
applicable rules or already exercised, will not be counted
for the purpose of calculating the limit as renewed.

For the purpose of seeking the approval of our
Shareholders under this sub-paragraph 6(b), a circular
containing the information required under Rule 17.02(2) of
the Listing Rules must be sent to our Shareholders.

Grant of options beyond scheme limit

Our Company may seek separate approval by our
Shareholders in general meeting for granting options
beyond the Scheme Limit provided that the options in
excess of the Scheme Limit are granted only to Eligible
Participants who are specifically identified by our Board
before such approval is sought.

For the purpose of seeking the approval of our
Shareholders under this sub-paragraph (6)(c), our
Company must send a circular to our Shareholders
containing a generic description of the specified Eligible
Participants who may be granted such options, the
number and terms of the options to be granted, the
purpose of granting such options to the Option Grantees
with an explanation as to how the terms of options serve
such purpose and the information required under Rule
17.02(2)(d) of the Listing Rules.
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(@)

(e

Maximum number of Shares issued pursuant to the

Share Option Scheme

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Share
Option Scheme, the maximum limit on the number
of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes
of our Company must not in aggregate exceed such
number of Shares as shall represent 30% of our Shares in
issue from time to time. No options may be granted under
any schemes of our Company or subsidiaries if such grant
will result in this 30% limit being exceeded.

Option Grantee's maximum holding

Unless approved by our Shareholders in general meeting
in the manner prescribed in the Listing Rules, our Board
shall not grant options to any Option Grantee if the
acceptance of those options would result in the total
number of Shares issued and to be issued to that Option
Grantee on exercise of his options during any twelve (12)
month period up to the Offer Date exceed 1% of the total
Shares then in issue.

Where any further grant of options to a Option Grantee, if
exercised in full, would result in the total number of Shares
already issued or to be issued upon exercise of all options
granted and to be granted to such Option Grantee
(including exercised, canceled and outstanding options)
in any twelve (12) month period up to and including the
date of such further grant exceed 1% of the total number
of Shares in issue, such further grant must be separately
approved by our Shareholders in general meeting
with such Option Grantee and his close associates (or
associates if the Option Grantee is a connected person)
abstaining from voting. Our Company must send a circular
to our Shareholders and the circular must disclose the
identity of the Option Grantee, the number and terms of
the options to be granted and options previously granted
to such Option Grantee and the information required
under Rule 17.02(2) of the Listing Rules. The number
and terms (including the Exercise Price) of the options to
be granted to such Option Grantee must be fixed before
our Shareholders’ approval. The date of the meeting
of our Board for proposing such further grant of option
should be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of
calculating the Exercise Price.
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7.

8.

Rights attached to the Shares

Shares to be allotted upon exercise of an option will be subject
to all the provisions of the Articles of Association and will rank
pari passu with the fully paid Shares in issue on the date of
issue. Accordingly, such Shares will entitle the holders to have
the same voting, dividend, transfer and other rights, and to
participate in all dividends or other distributions paid or made
on or after the date on which the allottee is registered as a
member (the “Registration Date”) other than any dividends
or other distributions previously declared or recommended
or resolved to be paid or made with respect to a record date
which is before the Registration Date.

A Share issued upon the exercise of an option shall not carry
any voting rights until completion of registration of the Option
Grantee or his nominee as the holder of such Share on the
register of members of our Company. Shares issued on the
exercise of an option shall not rank for any rights attaching to
Shares by reference to a record date preceding the date of
allotment.

Exercise of options

Unless otherwise provided in the respective Option Grantee'’s
Offer Document, an option may be exercised by a Option
Grantee at any time or times during the period notified by
our Board during which the Option Grantee may exercise his
option(s) (the “Option Period”) provided that:

(@ in the event of the Option Grantee ceasing to be an
Eligible Participant for any reason other than his death, ill-
health, injury, disability or the termination of his relationship
with our Company and/or any of its subsidiaries on one
or more of the grounds specified under the terms of
Share Option Scheme, the Option Grantee may exercise
the option up to his entitlement at the date of cessation
of being an Eligible Participant (to the extent not already
exercised) within the period of thirty (30) days (or such
longer period as our Board may determine) following the
date of such cessation (which date shall be, in relation
to a Option Grantee who is an Eligible Participant by
reason of his employment with our Company or any
of its subsidiaries, the last actual working day with our
Company or the relevant subsidiary whether salary is paid
in lieu of notice or not);
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in the case of a Option Grantee ceasing to be an Eligible
Participant by reason of death, ill-health, injury or
disability (all evidenced to the satisfaction of our Board)
and none of the events which would be a ground for
termination of his relationship with our Company and/or
any of its subsidiaries under the Share Option Scheme
has occurred, the Option Grantee or the personal
representative(s) of the Option Grantee shall be entitled
within a period of 12 months (or such longer period as our
Board may determine) from the date of cessation of being
an Eligible Participant or death to exercise his option in full
(to the extent not already exercised);

if a general offer (whether by way of take-over offer, share
repurchase offer or scheme of arrangement or otherwise
in like manner) is made to all the holders of Shares (or all
such holders other than the offeror and/or any person
controlled by the offeror and/or any person acting in
association or in concert with the offeror), our Company
shall use its best endeavors to procure that such offer is
extended to all the Option Grantees (on the same terms
mutatis mutandis, and assuming that they shall become,
by the exercise in full of the options granted to them
as Shareholders). If such offer, having been approved
in accordance with applicable laws and regulatory
requirements, becomes, or is declared unconditional, the
Option Grantee (or his legal personal representative(s))
shall be entitled to exercise his option in full (to the extent
not already exercised) at any time within fourteen (14)
days after the date on which such general offer becomes
or is declared unconditional;
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if a compromise or arrangement between our Company
and our Shareholders and/or creditors is proposed for
the purposes of or in connection with a scheme for the
reconstruction of our Company or its amalgamation
with any other company or companies pursuant to the
Companies Law, our Company shall give notice thereof
to all the Option Grantees (together with a notice of
the existence of the provisions of this paragraph) on
the same day as it despatches to Shareholders and/
or creditors of our Company a notice summoning the
meeting to consider such a compromise or arrangement,
and thereupon each Option Grantee shall be entitled to
exercise all or any of his options in whole or in part at any
time prior to noon (Hong Kong time) on the Business Day
immediately preceding the date of the general meeting
directed to be convened by the relevant court for the
purposes of considering such compromise or arrangement
and if there is more than one meeting for such purpose,
the date of the first meeting. With effect from the date of
such meeting, the rights of all Option Grantees to exercise
their respective options shall forthwith be suspended.
Upon such compromise or arrangement becoming
effective, all options shall, to the extent that they have not
been exercised, lapse and determine. Our Board shall
endeavor to procure that our Shares issued as a result
of the exercise of options in such circumstances shall for
the purposes of such compromise or arrangement form
part of the issued share capital of our Company on the
effective date thereof and that such Shares shall in all
respects be subject to such compromise or arrangement.
If for any reason such compromise or arrangement is not
approved by the relevant court (whether upon the terms
presented to the relevant court or upon any other terms
as may be approved by such court), the rights of the
Option Grantees to exercise their respective options shall
with effect from the date of the making of the order by the
relevant court be restored in full as if such compromise
or arrangement had not been proposed by our Company
and no claim shall lie against our Company or any of its
officers for any loss or damage sustained by any Option
Grantee as a result of the aforesaid suspension; and
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(e) in the event a notice is given by our Company to its
shareholders to convene a general meeting for the
purposes of considering, and if thought fit, approving
a resolution to voluntarily wind-up our Company, our
Company shall on the same date as or soon after it
despatches such notice to each member of our Company
give notice thereof to all Option Grantees and thereupon,
each Option Grantee (or in the case of the death of the
Option Grantee, his personal representative(s)) shall be
entitled to exercise all or any of his options (to the extent
not already lapsed or exercised) at any time not later
than two Business Days prior to the proposed general
meeting of our Company by giving notice in writing to
our Company, accompanied by a remittance for the full
amount of the aggregate Exercise Price for our Shares
in respect of which the notice is given whereupon our
Company shall as soon as possible and, in any event, no
later than the Business Day immediately prior to the date
of the proposed general meeting referred to above, allot
and issue the relevant Shares to the Grantee credited as
fully paid.

For other details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the
paragraph headed “Statutory and General Information — D. Share
Incentive Schemes — 2. Post-IPO Share Option Scheme” in Appendix
V to the Prospectus.
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Share Award Scheme

The Company has adopted the Share Award Scheme on 28 April
20283. The Board intends to instruct Equiom Fiduciary Services (Hong
Kong) Limited and any additional or replacement trustees, being
the trustee or trustees of the trust of the Share Award Scheme (the
“Trustee”) to purchase a certain number of existing Shares on the
Stock Exchange at the market trading price as and when appropriate
in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations and the rules
relating to the Share Award Scheme (the “Share Award Scheme
Rules”) as the awarded Shares for the Share Award Scheme. The
remaining life of the Share Award Scheme was approximately nine
years and one months as of the Latest Practicable Date.

No Share award has been granted, outstanding, vested, unvested,
cancelled or lapsed since the adoption date of the Share Award
Scheme, 31 December 2023 and up to the Latest Practicable Date.
As at each of the Share Award Scheme adoption date, 31 December
2023 and the Latest Practicable Date, the maximum number of
Shares in respect of which Share awards may be granted under the
Share Award Scheme is 35,200,000, accounting for approximately
10% of the total number of shares in issue as at 1 January 2023, 31
December 2023 and the date of this report.

There is no service provider sublimit being defined under the Share
Award Scheme.

A summary of the principal terms of the Share Award Scheme Rules
is set out as follows:
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(a)

(b)

Purposes and participants

The purposes of the Share Award Scheme are to recognise
and acknowledge the contributions by the person(s) who are
eligible to be selected as a Share award grantee (the “Share
Award Grantee”) according to the terms of the Share Award
Scheme, which include (i) the Directors and employees of the
Group (excluding Directors, chief executive of the Company,
core connected person of the Group or any of their respective
associates); (i) directors and employees (excluding Directors,
chief executive of the Company, core connected person of the
Group or any of their respective associates) of (a) any direct
or indirect holding company of the Company; (b) any direct or
indirect subsidiary of any company include in (a) above; and (c)
any associated company of the Company, but excluding any
members of the Group; and (iii) any service providers of the
Group on a continuing and recurring basis in its ordinary and
usual course of businesses which are material to the long-term
growth of the Group (excluding Directors, chief executive of the
Company, core connected person of the Group or any of their
respective associates) whom the Board or the committee of
the Share Award Scheme, in its sole discretion, determines that
have contributed or will contribute to the Group (collectively, the
“Eligible Participants”) and to provide them with incentives
in order to motivate them to optimise their performance and
efficiency for the benefit of the Group, as well as to attract and
retain or otherwise maintaining ongoing business relationships
with the Eligible Participants whose contributions are, or, will or
are expected to be, beneficial to the Group.

Duration

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the
Board or the committee of the Share Award Scheme, the Share
Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten
years commencing on the adoption date of the Share Award
Scheme (i.e. 28 April 2023).

(a)

(b)
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(c)

(d)

Any early termination of the Share Award Scheme shall not
affect any subsisting rights of any Eligible Participants or Share
Award Grantees. Upon termination, (i) no further grant of the
award may be made under the Share Award Scheme; (i) all
awarded Shares and the related income shall become vested in
the relevant Share Award Grantees on such date of termination;
and (iii) net sale proceeds (after making appropriate deductions)
of the awarded Shares or related income which are not vested
and/or forfeited in accordance with the terms of the Share
Award Scheme Rules (the “Returned Shares”) and the residual
cash and such other funds remaining in the trust (the “Trust”)
constituted by the trust deed to be entered into between the
Company and the Trustee (“Trust Deed”) shall be remitted to
the Company.

Administration

The Share Award Scheme is subject to the administration by
the Board or the committee of the Share Award Scheme (as
delegated by the Board) in accordance with the Share Award
Scheme Rules and terms of the Trust Deed.

Operation of the Share Award Scheme

The committee of the Share Award Scheme has been
delegated with authority by the Board to maintain an
oversight of the operations of the Share Award Scheme and
to make recommendations to the Board from time to time
for its consideration and approval on the operations of the
Share Award Scheme, including the selection of the Eligible
Participants, the terms of the grant of awards and the other
related matters as expressly provided under the Share Award
Scheme Rules and the Listing Rules. The Board or the
committee of the Share Award Scheme shall cause to be paid
to the Trustee (or its nominee) the purchase price and the
related expenses for the purchase of Shares from the Stock
Exchange at the market trading price. The Trustee must hold
the Shares until they are vested in accordance with the Share
Award Scheme Rules. When the Share Award Grantee has
satisfied all vesting conditions (if any) specified by the Board
or the committee of the Share Award Scheme at the time of
making the award and become entitled to the Shares forming
the subject of the award, the Board or the committee of the
Share Award Scheme may instruct the Trustee (i) to transfer the
relevant vested Shares to the Share Award Grantee; or (i) to sell
the relevant vested Shares on the market and transfer the net
sales proceeds to the Share Award Grantee.
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(e)

The Trustee shall administer the Share Award Scheme in the
manner specified in the Trust Deed and the Share Award
Scheme Rules.

Subject to and in accordance with the Share Award Scheme
Rules, the Listing Rules and all applicable laws and regulations,
the Board or the committee of the Share Award Scheme shall
be entitled (after considering recommendations and proposals
from the committee of the Share Award Scheme in accordance
with its terms of reference), at any time on any business day
of Hong Kong during the period of ten (10) years commencing
on the adoption date of the Share Award Scheme (i.e. 28 April
2023), subject to any early termination of the Share Award
Scheme, to grant an award to any Eligible Participant, as the
Board or the committee of the Share Award Scheme may in its
absolute discretion select.

The Board or the committee of the Share Award Scheme shall
not grant any Share award, make any payment to the Trustee (or
its nominee) or give instructions to the Trustee (or its nominee)
to purchase or sell or transfer the Shares, and the Trustee (or
its nominee) shall not purchase or sell or transfer the Shares
where dealings in Shares by the Directors are prohibited under
the Model Code, the Listing Rules or any applicable laws or
regulations from time to time.

No acceptance price or purchase price of award Share was
specified under the Share Award Scheme Rules, and the basis
of determining the purchase price of award Share was not
specified under the Share Award Scheme Rules.

Vesting and lapse

Unless otherwise determined by the Board or the committee
of the Share Award Scheme at its discretion, the number of
Shares awards held by the Trustee on Trust and which are
entitled by a Share Award Grantee shall be vested to that Share
Award Grantee in accordance with the Share Award Scheme
Rules and any specific conditions as determined by the Board
or the committee of the Share Award Scheme at its absolute
discretion.

(e)

RFEABIRRIEFERE NI ) 2B st
MRAIEE By 77 = E IR A BB AT

o

s

(Bt B

I
|

PR SEENRT BIFR AN - _ETAR R F
BEAEEEIRNBRRT  E5g
D BT E1E B akn SRR El
R4 2 H (1202344 528 H ) #E
+(10) FHAMTIMEELEBE
BEREEEERDERTEEZED
RIEE B RS EE L B EE R E
BE)NEBSTRROEEEEZE
TEREMNBRENTNEERSEE
R HEE) - EESIRER IR 5EE
ETEIFAMR ©

HEFRIBZETR - EHRASHE
AN E AR EREREEILEER
N REFEIRNREHEEZES
TREBEABRD ER - AXFEA
(HERE A EHERNRE AR
FREAGRERBA)BLERAER
FEERL - AXFEA(GEREZA)
TMEEEREERD -

Btn BERDRT 2R AT T I 4 7] B 228D
BinEVEMERKEEER - BRD
REET R AR T I AT A B 2R
B BEENETEE -

Ll YSE S

KREZSNRMDEETSEZES ST
WIEEEI  SEAUEERERFE
B SREF R A B EE B R RER
DEE IR D REETERAIRES
eIRHEHTEEZESLBRRIEE
TR R BIEHRE TR Z2E
SN

EENHBERARAR 127
2023 F FEHE



Disclosure of Interests
R E

A Share Award Grantee shall not have any interest or rights
(including the right to receive dividends) in the awarded Shares
prior to the vesting date of the awarded Shares. An Eligible
Participant or Share Award Grantee shall also have no rights in
the residual cash of the Trust or Shares or such other trust fund
or property held by the trust.

An award of Shares which have yet vested shall be forfeited if a
Share Award Grantee (i) ceased to be an Eligible Participant by
reason of the termination of his employment or directorship on
the grounds that he has been guilty of serious misconduct, or
unable to pay his debts or has committed any act of bankruptcy
or has become insolvent or has made any arrangements or
compromise with his creditors generally, or has been convicted
of any criminal offence involving his integrity or honesty or on
any other grounds on which an employer would be entitled to
terminate his employment summarily; (i) transferred, assigned
his award to any other person; or (jii) ceased to be an Eligible
Participant for any other reason. The Share award, unless the
Board or the committee of the Share Award Scheme otherwise
determines, will be forfeited and the relevant awarded Shares
shall not be vested on the relevant vesting date of the awarded
Shares but become Returned Shares for the purpose of the
Share Award Scheme.

Share Award Scheme limit and maximum entitlement of

each Eligible Participant

The Board or the committee of the Share Award Scheme shall
not make any further award of awarded Shares which will
result in the number of Shares awarded by the Board or the
committee of the Share Award Scheme under the Share Award
Scheme exceeding ten per cent (10%) of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the adoption date (i.e. 28 April
2023) of the Share Award Scheme (i.e. 35,200,000 Shares),
accounting for approximately 10% of the total number of Shares
in issue as at the adoption date.

There is no maximum entitlement of award Shares of each
Eligible Participant under the Share Award Scheme Rules.
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Voting rights

No instructions shall be given by a Share Award Grantee
(including, without limitation, voting rights) to the Trustee in
respect of the awarded Shares that have not been vested,
and such other properties of the trust fund managed by the
Trustee (or its nominee). Notwithstanding that the Trustee (or its
nominee) is the legal registered holder of the Shares held upon
trust pursuant to the Trust Deed or the Share Award Scheme
Rules, the Trustee (or its nominee) holding unvested Shares
of the Share Award Scheme, whether directly or indirectly,
shall not exercise the voting rights attached to such Shares
and abstain from voting on matters that require Shareholders’
approval under the Listing Rules, unless otherwise required by
law to vote in accordance with the beneficial owner’s direction
and such a direction is given.

Interest in the Share award

Any award made under the Share Award Scheme shall be
personal to the Share Award Grantee to whom it is made and
shall not be transferable or assignable, and no Share Award
Grantee shall in any way sell, transfer, charge, mortgage,
encumber or create any interest in favour of any other person
except for any company that is wholly-owned by the Share
Award Grantee or a Trust which the settlor is the Share Award
Grantee over or in relation to such Share award.

For other details of the Share Award Scheme, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 28 April 2023.

The Company has three share incentive schemes in place,
namely the RSU Scheme, the Share Option Scheme, and
the Share Award Scheme. These schemes are designed to
motivate and reward eligible individuals who contribute to the
development of the Company. As of the Latest Practicable
Date, no awards have been granted or exercised under any of
these three schemes.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Readboy Education Holding Company Limited (the “Company” or
“we”or "us", together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) focus on
the design, development, manufacturing and selling of smart learning
devices embedded with digital educational resources and is a smart
learning devices service provider in China. The Group is pleased to
release our second Environmental, Social and Governance Report
(hereinafter referred to as the “ESG Report” or the “Report”), which
outlines our works in fulfilling corporate social responsibility, and our
performance on environmental category and social category.

Reporting Standard

The Report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “Guide”) set out in the
Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities issued
by the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”).
The contents covered herein are in compliance with the mandatory
disclosure requirements, including governance framework and the
four reporting principles (i.e. materiality, quantitative, balance and
consistency), and the “comply or explain” provision required in
the Guide. An index of the Guide prepared in accordance with the
contents of the Report is inserted in the last chapter of the Report for
readers’ quick reference.
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Materiality We have identified and disclosed the process and criteria for material ESG issues in the Report.
We have also identified and disclosed key stakeholders, the process and results of stakeholder
engagement in the Report.
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Quantitative We have disclosed the statistical standards, methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation tools
used in reporting KPIs, and sources of conversion factors.

g1t KMERER BERMRESUSEMANGSIERE - 7% BEERSHFHETIR - UREBREZEN
R

Balance We have provided an unbiased picture of our positive and negative information in the Report.

T B AREPEEE MR TMEERE FEMNEENES

Consistency We use a consistent approach to statistical disclosure in the Report. If there are any changes to
statistical methods or key performance indicators or any other relevant factors that affect meaningful
comparisons, we will make this clear in our ESG Report.
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Reporting Scope

The Report describes the Group’s sustainable development policies,
measures and key performance indicators (“KPIs”) relating to its core
business from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (the “Year”
or the “Reporting Period”). Unless otherwise specified, the Report
covers the actual businesses of the Group, and the environmental
KPls include data from the warehouses, offices, dormitories, and
production and assembly facilities in Zhongshan and Zhuhai of China,
to evaluate environmental KPlIs.

Language of the Report

The Report is published in both traditional Chinese and English.
In case of any inconsistency between the traditional Chinese and
English versions, the traditional Chinese version shall prevail.

Approval of the Report

The Report was approved by the board of directors on 27 March
2024 upon confirmation by the management.

Feedbacks on the Report

We attach great importance to your feedbacks on the Report. If you
have any queries or suggestions, please feel free to contact us via
email: dslic@readboy.com.
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2. AWARDS AND HONORS

We are always committed to providing quality smart learning devices
and educational resources for Chinese primary and secondary school
students. In recent years, we continue innovation and development,
and have made great achievements and received wide recognition in
the industry.

2.
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3. SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGIES

3.1

Board Statement

We incorporate ESG considerations into our daily operation
and management. We strive to develop a ESG governance
framework with clear responsibilities and continuously improve
it and governance function based on business development
and regulatory requirements. The Board is responsible for
and conducts overall supervision on the Group’s sustainable
development. The Board’s responsibilities include regular
discussing, reviewing and approving the Group’s ESG
management policies, material issues, strategies and risk
management, and monitoring the progress towards targets.
Meanwhile, in order to comprehensively implement and manage
ESG issues, we have established ESG committee and working
group, to be responsible for the overall implementation and
optimising of ESG issues.

Besides, the Group has promoted management philosophy of
sustainability in the course of daily operation during the year.
The Board has reviewed directional environmental goals and
its progress, and will keep close attention on the progress of
its implementation, which represents the effectiveness of the
Group’s ESG governance. In the future, the Group will continue
to seek opportunities to performance in term of ESG, with the
aim of creating long-term value for the Group.
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3.2 Sustainability Governance

In order to facilitate the supervision on ESG issues by the
Board, it has authorised ESG committee and ESG working
group to be responsible for ensuring the implementation of
ESG principles in each of operation entities. The Group has
established ESG governance framework comprising the
Board, ESG committee and ESG working group, and specified
responsibilities of each level from the Board to the ESG working
group. Our ESG committee, led by three members of the Board
and composed of the management, is responsible for assisting
the Board in reviewing, evaluating and recommending ESG
initiatives to be implemented by business units to achieve the
stated goals and regularly reporting to the Board on ESG issues
and the progress and performance of implemented measures.
In addition, we have established an ESG working group
comprising representatives from different departments to assist
the ESG committee in implementing ESG measures.
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DECISION-MAKING LEVEL:

the Board of Directors
REE - EET

e  Taking full responsibilities for ESG strategies and reporting
HESGR IS SERAE LA

. Delegating authority to the ESG committee
MESGZ & §15IkiE S

. Determining ESG management guidelines, strategies, plans, goals and
annual work, including assessing, prioritizing and managing material
ESG issues, risks and opportunities
HERESGE IR T8t - A - RE| - BRNRFETIIE - BIETE - EXHT
REBERESCGEE - AR NS

. Reviewing and monitoring ESG performance and the progress in achieving
goals regularly
EHIR R M B BESGRIE K& B IRERNGEE

e Approving the content of ESG report annually
EHFEESCHRERND

ORGANIZATION LEVEL:

the ESG committee
HBE ESGZEES

e Reporting regularly to the Board on ESG related issues and progress
FEHRESSERESGHEBSEE RER

° Assessing ESG-related risks and opportunities on a regular basis
T HARTAHESGHRRE = iz Nt 38

. Responsible for reviewing and monitoring ESG policies and practices of
the Group to ensure that the Group complies with relevant legal and
regulatory requirements
BERFIREREENESCHER TR  BMREBEFAHEEEREEEK

EXECUTIVE LEVEL:

the ESG working group
#1T/E - ESGI{E/N4E

e  Coordinating and promoting the implementation of various ESG policies by
various departments, and monitoring the ESG-related work of various
functional departments
a8 SR B = B PTIIT R THESGI SR « B KM AL SBPTHIESGHRRE T1E

e  Collecting and reporting ESG internal policies, systems and ESG
related performance indicators
Yok K FHRESGABPIER - il E RESGHEMEBIER
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3.3 Communication with Stakeholders 3.3 FH=MEEHER
The Group is dedicated to creating sustainable growth and REEZ AR RENZEEREIER
long-term value for its stakeholders. We actively communicate FHEERERIEE  BMERER
with internal and external stakeholders through different N EIZRE B R MRS 2= AR B 7 22
channels to understand their views and needs. During the me TEHMAMMEBELRFE - KF
Year, our main stakeholders include customers, employees, B ZMNEBINZHABHIELER
suppliers, business partners, government/regulatory agencies, F-BI - #HEn - EBEN BN
and communities/NGOs. Through the following communication JSEERIE R EBNEE - B
channels, we comprehensively understand, respond to and deal BUATHYEBAE - 20 7/ - 2
with concerns to different stakeholders. REEBEARM A T E—A -

Main communication and

Stakeholders response methods Main concerns
FlzErEBE S FTEBREESN FERIRE
Customers ° Customer Satisfaction Survey and ° Product and service quality
By Opinion Form EmkiRBEE
EFPRMEERAENERE e Customer satisfaction
e Customer Service Center and Hotline EPREE
B P RIE LA EAR e Intellectual property protection
e Service complaint and response HIBERRE
Rl 74545 o E2[B] fiE
o Visit by customer relationship
manager

BPBRSIERD

o Daily operation/communication
BHESE TR

° Online service platform
WM ERBTE

° Telephone and email
B M IAE
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Main communication and

Stakeholders response methods Main concerns
FEEE T FEBEBEEAFN FTERERE
Employees ° Channels for employees to express ° Employee rights
BT their opinions (e.g. forms, comments BT
box, employee communication ° Compensation and benefits
meeting, etc.) B iy
BTITREERNESE(MEE - BER e Employment relationship and employee
MBI EBAEE communication
e Job performance appraisal and EBEBEREREIER
interview
THERIRATZ R
° anfergnce interview
GRER
° Publications (such as employee
newsletters)

F# (10 8 Timsm)
° Business briefing

R
° Staff activities
BT)EE)
° Employee communication meeting
BTERRE
° Employee intranet
8 T
Suppliers o Supplier management program ° Product and service quality
HrEm HiEmEERER EmkRHEES
° Evaluation system with suppliers/ ° Customer satisfaction
subcontractors EPMEE
BERER DB R E B E e Intellectual property protection
*  Meetings B EREIRE
i o Business ethics
*  Onsite mspeotion [BESELS
Government/ ° Regular information submission ° Health and safety of products and
Regulatory TEHA(E B services
agencies e On-site inspection EmMAREHEEEL S
Eﬁ(ﬁ/ LB EHAER e Intellectual property protection
e Inspection supervision SNk EERE (R
/\/\ \gg
o Comphance reporting
BRmE
Communities/ ° Company website/company ° Participating in public welfare and
NGOs announcement/social media platform voluntary activities
M IEBUTAE B NEIMYRERIRE HREE T A BENREEEERLE
° Donation
fBRt
° Par‘hc:lpatlng in community activities
/ b \Z:I:E/E@J
° Volunteering
ELEE
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3.4 Materiality Assessment 3.4 EEMFME

The Group maintained close communication with stakeholders ZRES B B R SR M By 77 = A 2=
in aforementioned manners and had conducted an internal HEAAERER NFERMETT
audit during the year. As the Group’s strategic direction WEBIRRT o RSB/ EIE TR &
and operational business development have not changed HENEBEENAFELEERE
significantly during the Year, taking into account the mutual bt GREEZRSHESGEBEHAE
importance and impact of various ESG issues on the Group ERAM@EETNEEEZEN R
and its stakeholders, the results of the material issues identified 2 KAEERENEZHERBEERN
by the Group remain unchanged this year. The prioritization of KEFDMARBEA  HEZWZBAER
material issues for the Year has been confirmed by the Board HFoBEEESWR - ASEEHS
of Directors. The Group focused on reference on the database EWRFTRCIESIDMR SR EE TR
of material disclosure obligations covered by the “Guidelines” BEUEEE  WEITERITEERE U
of the Stock Exchange, conducted peer benchmarking, LEZEBAEBNEEIFN &GN
considered the Group’s operating conditions, and finally H20EEAR A EEEBNER M
summarized 20 material issues applicable to the Group’s EE RAMERNDRIVEER R -
business, of which key disclosures will be made separately in

this report.

Materiality Matrix
EEMER

Highly material issues

BEEERE

Moderately material issue

TEEERE

Materiality to Stakeholders
MBEEFNEEY

Materiality to the Group

HEAKENEEM
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W

Highly material issues
BEEESRE

TEERRE

Moderately material issue

General material issues

—REEZRE

Social category
HeeE

Environmental
category
IRIREE

Governance
EREE

Product quality and
safety
EmEEHET S
Customer service
management
BEPRBER
Intellectual property
FBEHE

Sales and product label
management
HENEMTRER
Information security
and privacy protection
EERLE REMRE
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4. PRODUCT LIABILITY

and governance report

4.1

Product Quality Assurance

The Group is committed to providing customers with safe, high-
quality and innovative products and services. We strictly abide
by relevant laws and regulations on product liability, such as the
Law on the Protection of the Rights and Interests of Consumers
of the PRC (FEARKEMBIEEEEZREL)) and the
Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China (2 A
RAMBERBEEX)).

We have established a comprehensive quality management
system, referring to the management methods and
requirements of the ISO9001:2015 quality management system,
and have developed the “Quality Manual” (B =ZF)) and a
series of quality control program documents as the Group’s
quality policy, objectives, and quality management mechanisms
and requirements. We strictly control the quality of our products,
all of which have obtained international and national quality
certifications, passed the ISO9001 Quality Management System
certification, and obtained the “China Compulsory Product
Certification” (“3C”) quality assurance certificate.

Certicate CN19/31809
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We have established a comprehensive monitoring system,
integrating stringent quality assurance and control procedures
into the product life cycle quality management. To effectively
oversee product quality, we have formulated the “Product
Protection Operation Procedures” (= T EIEEIZF)), the
“Internal Quality Audit Procedures” K AEfmEEZIEETRR
), the “Product Measurement and Monitoring Operation
Procedures” (EMMEREEIEEEIEF)), the “Lean
Production Management System of Manufacturing Department”
(BLETRIEF A EEIEHIE)) and established a dedicated team
(such as quality control team and testing team). We conduct
multiple rounds of quality inspections, closely supervising the
entire production process from handling raw materials and
semi-finished products to producing final products and delivery
by designated departments. To improve the operating system
and ensure product quality and environmental compliance,
we conduct annual and occasional audits on the quality and
environmental protection (“HSPM”) management production
system, manufacture quality, and HSPM control related
operations. The operation process is as follows:

Draw up an Establish an
internal audit plan internal audit team Audit notice
REnE R e
Bl /NE

olovpand
[closelthelcase)

Improvement

'ack{of)

.

«

DER

HME R EENER RS - T
BAR B SRBAIEHIIEF RAE @
2HEMBAREEEE c REREEE
mEE - R FIECE P EIER
B (B mETERIEREF)
(EmmERNRERERER) (&
EHERAEERGE) MK IEE
BB (a0 : 2 E B OROR B E
B R TEmEERR - KKk
BRME R mE EERKERR
R RELE BRI MIEE R PIE
TTEYEE - RIETHE LB HIA R
EmEEHERRNTE M - RFIEY
BEHIRR ([HSPM]) BIEEE RR
NMAEEERMNEEEHSPME H 187
ERETFERTEREZ - BEX
MAZAT

Audit opening
meeting .
FERZEIR T35 FE 1%
B
= R

Registration!

Internal quality audit process

NHRE ERRZIERRIE

meeting
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We have also established the 3R Policy for handling product
refunds, returns, replacements, and repairs for sold products.
We continuously enhance our recall mechanism through the
development of the Non-conformance Control Procedures T
HEEFITER)) and the Corrective and Preventive Operation
Procedures ({55 1EE2TEBIEZFE/F)). In the event of a product
recall, we conduct investigations and processing, determine
the cause of the abnormality, and maintain continuous quality
tracking of the recalled products. We actively seek opportunities
for quality improvement, conduct repairs on recalled products,
and implement repair countermeasures in accordance with
the Corrective and Preventive Operation Procedures. If there
are significant abnormalities with recalled products, we will
discontinue production of the affected products. Furthermore,
we track the batches of recalled products, further identify and
control substandard products, and properly maintain records
of all substandard products for future product development
reference.

o

Return or refund
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miE EBREETIRME IR - TfE
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Free repair of faults
under normal usage
within a year from

Replacement due to
quality issues within

without reason
within 7 days from

15d fi the dat
tgflr?;rs:f ac!t,fsp::;asz e the date of Purchaie
EBERRTRA BBEARI5XANTR Eﬂﬁfﬂﬂfﬁmﬂ;
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.\_/ 3R policy \_/
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A AL EmR °

During the Year, the Group had not recalled any products due
to safety and health reasons.
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Product Innovation

“Technology innovation may turn learning into a joyful
experience” is the core of each product in the extensive product
portfolio of the Group. Our products catch users' attention in
the market through rich and diverse product designs.

We continuously develop and apply various cutting-edge
technologies to our intelligent learning devices. We have
developed the Product Design and Development Procedures
(EmRETFZEI2F)) which clearly outline the responsibilities
of each department during the product design and development
stage and strictly control product design and development with
the aim to align our design and development with contractual
or customer requirements. At present, the Group has applied
cutting-edge technologies in launching various intelligent
learning devices including Al learning machines, telephone
watches, children’s tablets, Al dictionary pens, and smart
learning desks and chairs. We apply advanced technologies
and strong Al and big-data capabilities to realize personalized
precision education. In addition, we actively cooperate with third
parties to explore the application of cutting-edge technologies
such as Al and big data in the field of education.

Case: Readboy entered into long-term strategic cooperation
with the Massachusetts Institute of Technology

During the Year, a seminar was jointly held by Readboy and
the MIT Institute for Data, Systems, and Society (IDSS) in a
combination of online and offline mode.

7 R
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At the cooperation seminar, professors of the Institute for
IDSS recognized the completeness of development of learning
resources and the advancement of product design logic of
Readboy, and shared their team’s achievement in the research
on online education and adaptive learning platform and the
next plan. After that, both parties jointly confirmed the strategic
cooperation theme for 2023, and will further strengthen
cooperation in the future and make efforts together to advance
the application of Al in the field of education, in order to achieve
meaningful breakthroughs. In the future, Readboy will continue
to work with the MIT Institute for IDSS to engage in intelligent
education, with an aim to promote the intelligent and digitalized
development of the education industry in the future.

Case: Boosting digital education: the opening of the Research
Center for Language Intelligence of China Readboy Research
Institute

During the Year, Readboy jointly established the Research
Center for Language Intelligence of China Readboy Research
Institute with the Research Center for Language Intelligence
of China under the State Language Work Committee. By
leveraging the platform resources of the Research Center for
Language Intelligence of China and giving full play of advantages
of Readboy in terms of technology, resource and brand, the
Institute will organize experts to focus on researching the new
direction of the development of education industry, explore to
design a new form of digital education management, guide the
preparation of new digital contents for rural revitalization and
actively expand the new channel of international education
digitalization, so as to promote the deep integration of language
intelligence and education.

Case: The Al intelligent study room project

During the Year, Readboy convened an investment meeting
for the Al intelligent study room project and invited responsible
persons of the intelligent study room operation centers across
the country to make in-depth exchanges on new opportunities
for the development of intelligent study rooms, and jointly draw
up a blueprint for the development of intelligent learning. During
this investment meeting, Readboy issued management rules
and supporting policies for the Al intelligent study room project,
which will actively propel the successful implementation of
intelligent study room projects around the country.
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Case: The Evolver Precise Improvement System 2.0 (i&1{b&+5
AR F+ Z #52.0) adopting on-campus homologous technology
was launched, leading the sector of intelligent study room

Readboy issued the Evolver Precise Improvement System
2.0 (1L & B ERFT R #2.0), presenting the visualization of
progress with the empowerment of big-data and Al technology.
Readboy Al intelligent study room strives to enable students to
get personalized and precise improvement and visualizes every
progress through Al technology.

Excellent Customer Services

In order to establish long-term and good customer
relationships, the Group committed to providing customers
with high-quality services. We have standardized customer
services management process and have formulated the
Customer Satisfaction Measurement Procedures (B2 &M
ZRIE/EZETERF)), which clarifies the principles for handling
customer complaints, responsible departments and division of
responsibilities among relevant departments, so as to ensure
the duly handling of customer complaints.

In case of customer complaints or store emergencies, store
sales personnel will promptly fulfill their responsibilities of
comforting customers and contacting first-tier distributors. We
will send salespersons to communicate and handle on site
and arrange distributors to offer assistance in resolving issues
and communication on site. Meanwhile, the customer services
department of the Company will follow up the handling results
according to the event, file and record customers’ comments,
and formulate improvement measures. We will continuously
optimize and improve our products and services based on
customer feedbacks, which will become our driving force for
making further progress.

The Group attaches great importance to customer satisfaction
and treats all complaints as opportunities for continuous
improvement. We will proactively contact customers to obtain
feedbacks related to product and service quality and take
customers’ comments or advice on products and services into
serious consideration. Every half a year, our sales department
will conduct a customer satisfaction survey on all existing
customers, the results of which will be recorded in “customer
satisfaction questionnaire” and be used as an important
reference to understand customers’ need, improve products
and optimize management.
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In addition, the Group recognizes the importance of responsible
marketing practice to protect consumers’ rights and interests.
Therefore, the Group has strictly complied with the Advertising
Law of the People’s Republic of China ( { ¥ A & HMNE
& £5%)) and has formulated the Information Distribution
Management System of the Company ({ A &) {5 B 3% /7 & 12
#l £ )), “the Self-inspection and Self-correction List of Market
Promotion Contents”, “the Notice on Prohibiting the Defamation
of Online Products in the Company’s Name and with its
Unauthorized Engraved Official Seals” to standardize the Group
and its distributors’ external information release procedures in
a bid to ensure no violations of relevant laws and regulations
in advertising or product promotion methods, and to ensure
the authenticity of advertisements. We have formulated the
Instructions on the Use of Flow Cards and Barcodes ({2
R 575 {55 F7 5% BB )) to regulate labels on products. Our labels
can be classified as barcodes for export products, barcodes
for domestic products and barcodes for supermarket products,
and each product is equipped with a product flow card which
contains information about the FQC of the product.

During the year, the Group had not received any complaints
in relation to its advertisements and labels of products and
services.
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Intellectual Property Management

We drive corporate development with technological innovation.
The Group understands the importance of protecting its
intellectual property rights and those of its customers, and
strictly abides by the relevant laws and regulations such as
the Patent Law of the PRC (#FZEARLFMBEHZFE)), the
Implementing Regulations of the Copyright Law of the PRC
K EE A R HAEIZEEREE H1401)), the Regulations on the
Protection of Computer Software ((FT & #E R EIKDI)), the
Trademark Law of the PRC (##E AR LFIEIFEIZ%)) and the
Administrative Measures on the Internet Domain Names ( & B
B AEIRYHL)). In addition, the Group has formulated the
Intellectual Property Management System ({&N3%E#E%E T2
f£)), which covers intangible assets including but not limited to
patents, trademarks, works, business confidential, computer
software.

In order to strengthen the Group’s intellectual property and
patent management, we have established an Intellectual
Property Leading Group responsible for formulating strategies
and regulations for the development of intellectual property,
supervising and guiding the implementation of intellectual
property management, and coordinating intellectual property
management. Intellectual Property Department under the
Intellectual Property Leading Group is mainly responsible for
drafting work plans and studies for the Company’s intellectual
property management, managing the application and
registration of intellectual property rights, and promoting and
publicizing intellectual property knowledge and related laws and
regulations in the Company.
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We encourage our employees to invent and create by rewarding
the inventor or designer of the service inventions after obtaining
the patent application number and patent right, so as to provide
continuous impetus for the development of technological
innovation. In addition, we require our staff and relevant
stakeholders to uphold integrity and professional ethics in the
maintenance of the Group’s patents. Prior to the publication or
announcement of the patent application, the patent practitioner
and related personnel are under a duty of confidentiality
with respect to its contents. If any infringement is found, the
Intellectual Property Department will collect evidence of the
infringement and handle the incident under the guidance of
administrative law enforcement agencies and judicial agencies.
At the same time, we also enter into agreements with third
parties to clarify the rights, obligations and responsibilities of
both parties when involving third-party patents, in order to avoid
infringing the patents and intellectual property rights of others.

The Group obtained the certificate (GB/T29490-2013) of the
intellectual property management system issued by Zhongzhi
(Beijing) Certification Co., Ltd. in October 2023. The scope of
certification includes the student tablets, telephone watches,
electronic student identity card, multi-functional learning desks
and chairs and educational application software.

As of the end of the year, the Group has been granted a total of
357 patents and has registered 336 trademarks.

Environmental, social and governance report
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4.4 Privacy and Data Protection 4.4 BR R HIBRE

We place a high value on the protection of business information
and the information and privacy of our customers. In strict
compliance with relevant laws and regulations such as the
Cyber Security Law of the PRC (2 AR EMBMIE L 2%)),
the Personal Information Protection Law of the PRC ((# % A
REMBEA (S EAR#EE)) and the Civil Code of the PRC ((F
# N\ RHMEREEY), we continue to improve the information
security management system by integrating information security
management and privacy protection into every aspect of our
operations.

We actively implement the information security and privacy
management system, and have formulated a series of policies
and systems, including but not limited to the User Information
Protection System (F P15 EREHIE)), the Cyber Security
Management System (##Z2EEH|E)), the Account
Authority Management System (BRSREREIZHIE)), the
Cyber Security Service Outsourcing Management System (43
W B REIMBEIRHIE)), the Establishment of Information
Construction Security and Confidentiality System (#3715 B2
L2 REHIE)) and the Security Operation and Maintenance
Management Regulations (% 2E# B IE4H§0)). The data and
information is divided into different categories according to their
importance and confidentiality level, and the requirements for
the acquisition, processing, transmission and storage of various
types of data and information are clarified to ensure data
and information security from all aspects and avoid business
interruption or loss due to information system failure, data loss,
sensitive information leakage, which ensure the confidentiality,
integrity and availability of various types of data.
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BB .

Daily netwo
planning
HE MR

Network vulnerability

HERERRE

Moreover, we require all employees to consciously implement
various information security regulations. The data is used by
employees under the principles of legality, justification and
necessity, and will not be disclosed, tampered with, damaged
or sold. The Group will cease collecting and using personal
information from customers and will cancel their numbers or
accounts after they have terminated or not agreed to use the
services. The Group shall not collect or use personal information
and data of customers and consumers on any platform,
including websites, application systems and internal information
services without the consent of the customers and consumers,
and shall ensure strict confidentiality of customer and consumer
data after collection. Our measures for information security
management are as follows:

rk ° Regular updating of firewalls,
E BRSO Nt
£

° Regular backup of server data,

TR IR R BUR - IRBBUE

° Strengthening the intranet and extranet management
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Conducting vulnerability scans of the network system using vulnerability scanning tools, patching the

checks vulnerabilities in the network, and conducting risk assessments

MRS MARRFEE CTAYBEARETRRRE  YESFENRETER Y EETRRGE -
Hierarchical o Protecting information by installing confidential software on specific personnel’s computers to set
management decryption permissions. Access permissions are regulated according to employees’ authority to
BienREnE prevent them from obtaining excessive information.

BEEREABFER ERRERETHFRERTRRN T ARE - SHREAERBIRE TREETH

B UIEETREUBZMER

During the year, the Group did not have any complaints or
lawsuits regarding protection of data and privacy.
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4.5 Supply Chain Management 4.5 HEHEERE

The Group is committed to promoting sustainable supply chain
development and enabling its products and services to meet
the requirements of sustainable social development. We have
formulated the “Supplier Evaluation Control Procedures” (it &
ERTEE REETZF)) and “Procurement Control Procedures”
(ERBEERIE ) to regulate the procurement process.

We care about procuring our products in a sustainable way. In
order to meet the expectations and resolve to be a responsible
company, we sign “Procurement Contract” {(IREAR)),
“Quality Assurance Agreement”  AERFEHZE)), “Integrity
Agreement” (B2 )), “Confidentiality Agreement” (/&
Z1#s)) and other documents with suppliers to standardize
suppliers’ code of conduct in terms of environmental and
social responsibilities. In addition to considering suppliers’
past performance, technical strength, production capacity,
quality control, timely delivery capacity and price, the Group
will also consider their performance in terms of environmental
and social responsibility, whether they comply with the national
environmental protection policies, regulations and standards,
ensure that there is no illegal employment, and whether they
provide reasonable remuneration and working environment
for their employees, etc. For those with same quality, we will
give preference to suppliers who use environmentally-friendly
products.
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4.6

HERERRE

The Group expects our suppliers to continuously improve their
performance in terms of environmental, social and governance
and ensure that the raw materials they provide meet stringent
internal and relevant national quality standards. We have a
dedicated procurement team to monitor and evaluate the
ESG performance of our suppliers. We regularly evaluate
our suppliers according to the “Monthly Statistics of Supplier
Evaluation Results” (f#fERFAZAKLE A4EK)), “Supplier
Survey Form” (({£fERFE X)) and “Supplier Evaluation Form”
(L FERRTEER)). Suppliers with priority ratings may apply for
access to the supplier pool and we will consider increasing their
orders. If a supplier’s performance ratings fall below our required
value, we will consider terminating business relationship with
them.

This year, the Group had a total of 206 suppliers, mainly
providing raw materials such as customized metal parts, plastic
parts, electronic components, lithium-ion batteries, liquid
crystal displays, etc. The number of suppliers by region and the
number of suppliers that have implemented the practice are as
follows:
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Number of Suppliers
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South China Area FEE MR
Eastern China Area FEHE
Southwest China Area iifzapaut
North China Area i@
Central China Area FER R
Northwest China Area (isplaittA

192
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Constructing a culture of integrity

The Group attaches great importance to conducting all aspects
of our business with the values of integrity and honesty. In
accordance with relevant regulations such as the “Civil Code”
(REHE)), “Basic Standards for Enterprise Internal Control”
(DERIEHIEARE)) and “Articles of Association” (2
AlZEF2)), the Group has formulated the “Anti-fraud System”
(= EEBEHIZ ) to regulate any form of unfair competition such
as commercial bribery, money laundering, and monopoly,
with an aim to maintain a high level of integrity during its daily
operations, both internally and externally. The Group signed the
“Integrity Agreement” (F&Z13)) with each business partner
to require compliance with relevant anti-commercial bribery and
anti-corruption policies and regulations.

152 Readboy Education Holding Company Limited
Annual Report 2023

4.6

RZALER
REBPFREGR AN ERHENEE
BRRIMSTENEY - AEEIK
B(REHE) - (B EARRREH| AR
BB RAER)SEAHRENE
TARFEHESIZ) - AR BRI
RXMER K BHFTLEERF
1% BREARBEETTHREAR
HIMGERREBE - AREERF
EBBHRICRRRH)EIETR
BRBRMNRBREEERBAE -



Environmental, social and governance report

B -

HERERRE

We fully encourage our employees to participate in the
construction of the Company’s business ethics and compliance
culture. We have developed a comprehensive reporting
mechanism by setting up reporting emails, letters and other
channels to support real-name or anonymous reporting of illegal
and dishonest behavior. We will keep the information reported
and the identity of whistleblower strictly confidential to prevent
anyone from interfering with the investigation or retaliating
against the whistleblower. Any reported cases are referred
to the Audit Committee, which forms a special investigation
team with relevant departments to conduct joint investigations.
We handle all reports carefully and investigate the matter in
a fair and proper manner. Once a report is substantiated,
the whistleblower will be rewarded appropriately. We will
provide feedback to the whistleblower on the outcome of the
investigation of a report made by a named person.

We attach great importance to constructing a culture of
integrity, and require the Board, management and all employees
to abide by law, be honest and self-disciplined, and create a
clean and upright working atmosphere. During the year, we
have organized anti-corruption training for our directors and
employees, covering topics such as the corruption prevention
system of listed companies, cross-border business corruption
prevention data, a practical guide to directors’ integrity, in order
to enhance compliance awareness and self-discipline and
prevent corruption loopholes. Among which, directors' anti-
corruption training rate was 100%, with 1 hour of training time.

During the year, the Group did not have any corruption cases
against the Group or its employees.

5. LABOUR MANAGEMENT

5.1

Protecting Rights and Interests of Labour

We always regard talents as the core competitiveness of the
sustainable development of an enterprise. Adhering to people-
oriented principle, we protect the legal rights and interests of
our employees, ensure their safety and health, and help them
achieve their personal career development.
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Recruitment and Resignation

The Group strictly complies with laws and regulations such as
the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China (R #E A R £t
B4 B)5%)), the Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic
of China (I ARKEMBELEAFE)), the Implementation
Regulations of the Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic
of China (HZEARKNMELES FEAEMEERD), the Law
on the Protection of Minors (R F AREE)), and the
Regulations on the Prohibition of Child Labor (21 FAZE T8
7€) to protect the legal rights and interests of the employees .

We have formulated the Employment Regulations ((BEF#R
7€) and Employee Handbook (& ZFfft)) to standardize
the recruitment process and principles. Adhering to the
principle of “fairness and justice” and with an aim to building
an inclusive and diversified working environment, we prohibit
any discrimination on the basis of gender, age, disease,
race, ethnicity and other aspects in several aspects including
recruitment, start of employment, training, promotion and
reward.

We have established a rigorous and reliable recruitment
process. During recruitment, we will focus on examining
applicants’ valid identity certificates to ensure that they
have already reached the legal working age, and conduct
background checks on candidates for positions according to
the requirements of recruitment management system, with the
aim of eliminating the misuse of child labor. If any violations are
found, we will terminate the labor contract in accordance with
legal labor regulations. In addition, we have established fixed
working hours. If there is a need for overtime, we will record the
employees who work overtime and provide overtime wages.
Compulsory labor is strictly prohibited. We strictly follow the
procedures for departure (including resignation and dismissal)
in accordance with the laws and regulations related to labor
contracts, and follow the departure guidelines and procedures
stipulated in the Employee Handbook (& TFfff) when
handling relevant matters, ensuring that the rights and interests
of employees are not violated.
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5.2

HERERRE

During the year, the Group did not have any breach regarding
the employment of child labor or forced labor. The Group is not
aware of any matters that have had a significant impact on the
Group due to non-compliance with laws and regulations related
to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, holidays, equal opportunities, diversification,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfares.

Salary and benefits

We are committed to provide an all-rounded welfare system
for employees, and strictly comply with the Labor Law of the
People’s Republic of China (F#E ARLMEILE)E)) and
other regulations of the regions in which we operate, as well
as the Employee Welfare Management Measures B T42 7
EIEPE)), to provide employees with fair and competitive
compensation and welfare benefits. In addition, we have
established a scientific and reasonable salary system to ensure
that our salary system is fair and competitive in the market.
We record the performance of our employees and provide
corresponding compensation and benefits for their positions
and abilities.

We continuously focus on the demands of employees and
provide them with various benefits, including the “five social
insurance and one housing fund”, life welfare, insurance
and health welfare, comfort welfare, paid vacation, marriage
and childbirth welfare, bonus, and so on. We strive to meet
the employees’ demand at work and in life by arranging
accommodation and canteen for our employees. In addition,
we also care about the lives of our employees. If an employee
is hospitalized due to iliness, we will provide them with comfort
money or gifts. We also distribute holiday consolation money
or gifts to our employees during traditional Chinese festivals,
such as the Spring Festival, Dragon Boat Festival, and Mid-
Autumn Festival. Furthermore, we support employees to
achieve a balance between their work and life by offering
multiple holidays, including personal leave, sick leave, marriage
leave, maternity leave, funeral leave, work-related injury leave,
traditional festivals, etc.

Talent Training and Development

Talent is the cornerstone of corporate development. The Group
continues to improve its talent training mechanism, increase
investment in talent training, construct a platform for employees,
and carry out professional skills trainings to help employees
grow.
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We provide diversified training content, mainly divided into
general training and professional training. We organize fixed
training programs for all employees from time to time, in order
to enhance their business capabilities and make the corporate
culture deeply rooted. Meanwhile, we also provide professional
training, skill training and assessment for professional staff and
transfer employees according to their working requirements
to ensure that they have necessary skills and experience
for specific duty. The training themes for 2023 encompass
Typescript sharing, usage of data warehouse and tools, the
Hua & Hua Method and cases, as well as basic knowledge of
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inspection procedures and related topics.

Annual Regular General Training
FEEE-—RIK

Annual Regular Professional Training

FEEEEXIR

° Company history and factory work rules and regulations Job training related to the Directive on the Restriction of
AR R TR TAER R R iR the Use of Certain Hazardous Substances in Electronic
° Labor safety and health and Electrical Equipment (ROHS) system

BIZ2HEE P R(EAREEFERZXERRCAELEEME IR
*  Quality management concept 2 )(ROHS) 88 XML E T
mEEEHS *  Pre-employment work guidance or professional training

BRI YRR S s E IR
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5.3

HERERRE

A sound promotion mechanism is in place. We have formulated
a comprehensive and competitive Company Employee
Promotion Management System (AF B L&A EIEHIE)).
The promotion is mainly based on the assessment results, work
performance, capabilities, professional attitude and team spirit
of employees. At the same time, we have also established the
Employee Confirmation Management System ( 8 T 83 1F &8
H#IZ)). We will conduct assessments to preliminarily determine
whether new employees meet the comprehensive quality and
development potential requirements of their positions, and
determine the retention and salary level of employees based on
the assessment results.

Occupational Health and Safety

We are committed to providing employees with a healthy and
safe working environment, and strictly abide by relevant laws
and regulations such as the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases
(A EE A R AMBEIR R A5%)), the Production Safety Law
of the People’s Republic of China {1 #E A RKEME L 24 E
%)), the Fire Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China
(FhEE A B A AEEBE)), the Measures on the Administration
and Supervision on Occupational Hygiene of Workplace ( T{E
5 TR A A B EE R E)) and the Industrial Injury Insurance
Regulations K TR I&H1)). The Group neither received
any complaints and lawsuits on the violations of relevant laws
related to health and safety during the reporting period, nor
there were cases of work-related fatalities occurred over the
past three years.
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The Group strictly regulates safe production practices. We
also require employees involved in special type of work shall
possess required work permits to avoid safety production
accidents. Meanwhile, we have also formulated safety
production regulations to provide guidance for fire safety,
electrical safety and mechanical safety, to further help
employees enhance the awareness of production safety. We
have conducted "Regular Testing Projects on Occupational
Hazard Factors in Workplaces", and commissioned a third-
party organization to carry out an assessment on the current
status of occupational hazards, so that rectification, prevention
and control can be strengthened in the light of problems and
potential hazards identified. We identify potential occupational
hazards by production process and job positions. We have
ensured that the occupational hazards in all positions within the
Group do not exceed the occupational exposure limit and that
the working conditions in which our employees are exposed
to meet the health requirements. In addition, we also arrange
physical examinations for employees and regularly track their
health conditions related to occupational diseases to protect
their health rights.

We, always prioritizing the health and safety of employees, have
developed the Emergency Plan for Emergency Environmental
Events (ZREIRIFFHEZTESR)) and accidents that may
affect safety production during nighttime fire emergencies.
During the year, we have organized training for the relevant
staff by emergency management bureau and traffic police, to
effectively enhance employees’ ability to handle emergencies
as well as self-help and mutual-help abilities in dangerous
situations, and to raise the safety awareness of employees.

158 Readboy Education Holding Company Limited
Annual Report 2023

AEEEERBLE2EETR - M
NEFBKRTEBHE LM  FER
ABTBEORE  #RLELEES
B AR BAEEHIEEERER
ERALRE  BREE  BRZ
2REES  E—TPHHBIREAR
RHEEMNTH - RFIEATEXS
PR e 5 R e MmRIEE |-
RREF = IRBERRBEREERER
BARRHE - STHERMRE KRB
SREEEERTIE - WAMRIBEETER
R TIFEM - BREENRBERLE
THEE - RICHAERANEEME AL
MBEREERRSG NBBBEEE
RIE - REE TR TEFRFNERE
FEEK o s Rt ER/RE T LH
SRRt THEME TEBXAMA
BRI - (RIEE T2 -

BARAGETINRERZ2ME
B R T(REREFMHESE
&) URERBHESFRFEL
EZENER - RPIRANFED AR
ERERBRRENRBABETE
- BRIESEINESRER M
AR TRERERES - RS E
IR ERER



Environmental, social and governance report
RIE - HERERME

Local traffic pO"CG was invited to provide traffic safety Local emergency management bureau was invited to
education to employees conduct training on work safety for employees
BREHREH R TETRBRZOKE MR ESERRYE TETE2 AR

5.4 BETIEE
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18 T HEZREACEEER o

5.4 Employee Activity

We provide our employees with various caring events, such
as holiday bonuses and gifts for major traditional festivals,
to enhance their sense of well-being and belonging to the

company.

17585, 5 5
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Visits to employees at Dragon Boat Festival Servmg COO| refreshments to employees in summer
WFENENH 8 TAM EFRFREE

& RMEERRIL
BB ERLGEESR
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Gift packs for Spring Festival Organizing patriotic film-going among employees
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GREEN OPERATION

The Group has consistently maintained a green operation philosophy
and is committed to minimizing the impact of its business activities
on the environment as far as possible. We strictly abide by the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China
(R EE AR KEMBEIRIZREL)), the Water Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the People’s Republic of China ((F % A R HEFEI/KST
AB53A%)), the Energy Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of
China (P #E AR HEMBIENLIEEIRE)) and the relevant environmental
laws and regulations of the place where our business is operated,
strictly control the generation and discharge of air pollutants, wastes,
etc., in bid to ensure that the Group’s operation and management do
not violate the relevant environmental laws and regulations.

We constantly improve internal environmental management system,
and continue to optimize energy and resource management practices
of the Company. Our Zhongshan production base has obtained ISO
14001 environmental management system certification, standardized
resource consumption and waste discharge management in business
operations, and reduced the impact of business operations on the
environment.

During the year, the Group did not violate any environmental
protection laws or cause major accidents that seriously damage the
environment and natural resources, nor did it receive any notice of
penalties or lawsuits related to environmental protection.

Environmental goal setting

We have developed a constant monitoring process for our
environmental target and continuously monitor energy usage data to
identify energy saving opportunities in all aspects including production,
operation and management, so as to make timely adjustments to our
energy consumption control strategies. Moreover, we have engaged
in the refined management of production operations, and optimized
production and assembly processes and technologies to promote
resource-saving and environmentally friendly production.
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Identifying potential emission Management of emissions from our Management of office resources

sources in the course of the

operation
BREEBEPIWEEHERR

Establish ISO specialists and
coordinate each department
to conduct daily inspection,
monthly monitoring and annual
identification.
RIZISOH B A K% #BFT
EERFAEBRRSE  BAERE.
FEBRINIIE -

Establish Environmental Appraisal
Team. Taking into account the
product’s lifetime from raw material
selection, to production and
procession of products, distribution
and usage of products, we
identified seven areas of potential
environmental impact that our
business may cause, such as air
emission, water discharge, waste
management, land contamination,
community impact, use of raw
materials and natural resources
and other local environmental
impact.
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production and assembly business

EERKEERNHERNER

Monitor the amount of production
waste, noise, dust emissions,
water and electricity usage on a
daily basis;
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Conduct inspection on pollutants
from production and sanitation of
workplace on a monthly basis;

T A8 EERE P EE RT3
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Engage the third-party organization
to carry out environmental
inspection and reporting on an
annual basis.
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AR -

and energy consumption

WLABRERHEERE

Remind employees to conserve
water and electricity on a daily
basis;
BRREETHVAKAE
Record electricity consumption
and the amount of consumables
on a monthly basis to timely
control of energy consumption;
BARGRAEERENE - kE
EYERLRERIEN

Conduct inspection on the
implementation of environmental
target indicators and management
plan on an annual basis, as well
as assessment on other significant
environmental factors.
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We have set environmental targets and confirmed that they remain
valid for to the year. During the year, we continued to optimize
and improve measures taken by the Group in the areas of water
consumption, electricity consumption and solid waste, and sustained
the implementation of a number of green environmental protection
measures. We have retrospected and reviewed the progress of
implementing various environmental protection goals and measures,
and monitored various emission sources. In the future, we will identify

more opportunities for energy conservation and emission reduction,
and continue to plan for environmental protection in the coming year.

Environmental aspects
RIREE

Target
BE

BACHERRER  LHEIRREER
AERREER - AFE - HATEE(L
TEASBEMRK AT BESFHEN
TERE  KEETSREBRRER
BACOEREESRRRBERERN
WITER » WERSEHIR - KK - &
IR BRI E Z ENRE RS - IR
BRERRIME -

Emission in 2023
2023 FER

GHG and energy efficiency
BEREREREANE

Water efficiency
FAK R aR

Wastes reduction

B REEY)

Constantly reducing annual average
electricity consumption in production
and assembly facilities in the next
three years

FEARR=F MBS R A R AR
MEHFIIRES

Constantly reducing annual average
water consumption in production and
assembly facilities in the next three
years

FEARR=F NEBE R E MR R
IV FIHRKE

Constantly reducing annual average
amount of waste generated in
production and assembly facilities in
the next three years

FEARR=FNHEE R A B R RR
MERIBERELE

Average annual electricity consumption
of production and assembly facilities in
2023 reduced as compared with the
base year (2022)

2023 F A ERKIRMNFHIREE
REAESF (2022 F) TBE

Average annual water consumption of
production and assembly facilities in
20283 reduced as compared with the

base year (2022)

20283 FAE MK REHFHAKE

EAEF (2022 F) TP

Average annual amount of waste
generated in production and assembly
facilities in 2023 reduced as compared

with the base year (2022)
2023 F A E MR R e E BE R Y E &
ERERF (2022 F) T
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6.1

> FENA

HEkERRE

Emission Management 6.1 BERERE

Emissions from the Group’s business operation mainly include REEEKESBEREENTNRE
domestic wastewater, exhaust gas, hazardous waste and TREEETK  ERARY - BF
nonhazardous waste and GHG emission caused by electricity REEYBEMEREEY) - URFEESH
consumption. During the year, we have conducted a third- BLRERBEHN - AFE - BME A

party inspection on the amount of emissions from production.
Our environmental indicators for wastewater, exhaust gas,
lampblack and noise all met the standard.

For exhaust gas management, we have identified the following
emission sources and taken management measures:

Emission sources

PR

EERBNHFREETE=T8 -
BAFIEEEK ~ BER - HERESE)
EHIRBIEIRER

ERERERTE - BAZBBIATH
BURIERENE IR #E7E

Management measures

EEETE

Volatile Organic Compounds
(VOGCs), ozone and tin generated
during our production process
AEBREABEREEARILEDY
(VOC) » REMBH T FRER

Lampblack generated from kitchen
in our eatery

RERFETHIESN

During the year, we recorded decreased GHG emission. We
put effort into reducing energy consumption and reached
environmental targets successfully. During the year, the Group’s
exhaust gas emissions were in compliance with the national and
local government emission requirements and no incompliance

occurred.

We have minimized environmental impact of exhaust gas on surroundings
by improving ventilation in production plants and installing exhaust gas
treatment facilities as well as developing plan on emissions of exhaust gas
facilities.

B EEERE N RRAMLZEEREIERNE ° RN - FARTRERRIE
HERGRE - EAI ARG RE RGN EARRNTE

We have managed lampblack emission by installing lampblack purification
facilities that meet national emission standard and developing conduct
code in kitchen for employees.
BB @EBLTEESFRKEERIRENREF L RE - UREIEEIRER
BIRVESPAI - EIRMEYER o

AEER  RERBEBHRERD - 2
BHERMNERERERD - BR
ERAMMRERE - AFE - A%
BRI E A A Bl S B A
MBERES - WA B REL o
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In terms of wastewater management, due to the fact that only
assembly processes are involved in our production process, the
water resources required for our industrial water demand are
recycled. Accordingly, wastewater generated from operation
is mainly domestic wastewater and does not involve the
discharge of production wastewater. Our water consumption
includes domestic water for staff accommodation and food and
industrial water from production and assembly process. During
the year, the Group’s wastewater discharge was in line with the
national and local government emission requirements and no
incompliance occurred.

In terms of noise management, we have identified mechanical
noise from production equipment, noise from transportation
and employees as the Group’s sources of noise. Accordingly,
we have developed relevant guideline to limit mechanical noise
from production equipment during the production process,
noise from transportation and employees. At the same time, our
production workshops were equipped with low-noise products,
sound-insulating materials and layouts.

Other than emissions from production activities, we are
also committed to managing impact of our operations on
environment and resources. Our production and assembly
process are simple assembly and do not involve heavy industrial
construction, the use of highly polluting fuels or the manufacture
of circuit boards. We minimize the total amount of emission
through abovementioned emission control and scientific
environmental management. Accordingly, there is no pollutant
of our emission that is harmful to land and vegetation. There are
no significant environmental or natural resource impacts from
our operations.
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6.2 Resource Management 6.2

The main resources used by the Group during its business
operation include purchased electricity, water and office
consumables. In order to improve energy efficiency and reduce
energy consumption in the production process, we have
formulated the Management System on Safe Use of Electricity
and Electricity Saving &2 &1 AEEIRHIE)), with energy
conservation and consumption reduction as the main direction,
to standardize various electricity consumption behaviors such
as lighting systems, air conditioning system, and electronic
devices, and improve the utilization of resources.

Lighting systems
MR

We reduced the use of
electric lights by dividing the
office into several different
lighting areas and setting up
independent and controllable
lighting switches.

We have installed motion
sensor lights at places that
are not used frequently and
have sufficient daylight, using
daylight lighting as much
as possible to reduce the
dependence on the use of
electric lights.

AR EEARBRTRED
WhHEZEKBERER - &7

BEfE A BB -
B AR (K RE ©
When the office is vacant, we
also require our staff to turn
off the lights, so as to cultivate
a good habit of “turning off
the lights when leaving”.
MERANEEER - BTN
ERETHMLEER BEE
T IHEFRAE | HRIFEIE -
In order to improve the energy
efficiency of our lighting
devices, we also keep our
lighting devices clean to
reduce their unnecessary
energy consumption.
REFRAKEFTE  BIES
TREAZE ERYELIRRE -

A E

Air conditioning system

Z A R

We adopt a central control
and monitoring system to
regularly check and replace
the pressure gauge, pressure
hose and air compressor
connector to prevent the
leakage of chiller.

AR R RER G-
TEHBRERERE X - B
TEE I 28 JJR g i 10 S 4
282 IERI2EsR -
During the periods of peak
power, we limit the temperature
of each office and the number
of air conditioners turned on.

BHERBESHATSE
IR 5l 2= 3R B LA K 22
HEE -

We also clean the filters or
coil fans on a regular basis,
and install the air-conditioning
systems at a place without
being covered by direct
sunlight, so as to ensure their
high efficiency.

FEEE A BRAESEENR
o Kkt e KBS B R AT R
i T R =R AR R
RGN o

EREE
AEBEEXKEL AT IEER
WERBIEINEE S - KPR

B o BERTTRERE MR E B2
RHBEIRBRE - HPIERIE( L 26
HWRMEEEFIE)  NEREREERA
A R  ERFER  BEFR
BEEERETR  ESERMAR

Electronic devices

==
=1

° We use products with
certification of high energy
efficiency and initiate modes
of electricity saving, such as
computers and printers that
can be put into automatic
standby or sleeping mode
when idling.
FRAERERIERENE
mEMBEERN - EK
NMATEDHAER B R el A B
B R o

° We also procure electronic

devices that can accommodate
multiple servers, such
as printing facilities with
multifunction printing and
copying devices, and avoid
the use of a single server
with higher capacity to save
electricity.
KB RNZERSRNE
TR WMAGZEITED
NMAEENE B RITEH R - M
BEERE-—BSAENR
e NEDERE o

EENHBERAERAF 165
2023 F FEHE



Environmental, social and governance report

BB .

HERERRE

In terms of water resource management, we have identified that
water consumed by our business operation is mainly sourced
from the municipal water supply, and there is no risk in obtaining
suitable water sources. Start from reducing unnecessary waste
of water, we conduct regular tests on the leakage of water
pipes and dripping of water taps to check for water leaks. We
foster a culture of water conservation within the Company by
recycling and reusing the washing sewage for cleaning and
irrigation. We also continuously monitor the water consumption
of the Company by regularly checking the water meter, and
reduce the water pressure to the lowest practicable level, so as
to control the output of water consumption.

In terms of waste management, we have identified non-
hazardous and hazardous waste generated during our
operation, of which, our non-hazardous waste is mainly
discarded paper and general household waste; while hazardous
waste is mainly waste electronic equipment, including waste
circuit boards and other electronic components, waste lead-free
solder paste packaging, waste pipes, waste rags and cleaning
agent packaging, as well as waste defective products.

Non-hazardous waste

BEBRREY

° We promote waste sorting by placing waste ®
sorting and recycling bins at our offices and
employee dormitories.

HENRABIE  ERAEREIEENEN
T FAEIAE o

° We also strengthen the publicity of waste ¢
sorting among our employees and advocate the
management policy of reducing waste at source,
SO as to encourage our employees to reduce the
use of disposable and non-recyclable products.
METNREEERENHE - AREBERERE
BRI > SEE TRAMEA R RAAIE
WEEmR °

° We have implemented a paperless office to avoid

the unnecessary use of paper due to redundant
working procedures. We also encourage our
employees to prioritize the use of electronic
documents to convey information in lieu of
unnecessary paper documents. Meanwhile, we
closely monitor and regularly calculate the paper
consumption.
BITEAEHD - @R TENTIERFEETH
xmﬂ%ﬁ% BB B TELAFEREFXE
BRER NIV EVRRE - R - F
By %&Eﬁﬂu/m‘ﬁ%%&%%
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MEMEBTHAMS - FERGERLE -
BEEE - A REABREMAR

BEIR @ o

Hazardous waste

BERREY

We cooperate with the qualified recycling
companies to dispose of the waste electronic
equipment.

BMEEERNEBIKRATIAE  BEEEEFR
o

The transfer records of hazardous waste are
monitored by the national and provincial solid
waste environmental supervision information
platform.
KEREEBEYREEEEETAERETE
ZYHER LD o
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RIB - HERER

W

6.3 Response to Climate Change

The Group fully recognizes that climate change is closely
related to operational activities. Therefore, we strive to mitigate
the potential impact of climate change on our business and
operations as much as possible. During the year, the Group
identified climate change risks and assessed their impact in our
business operation. In the future, we will continuously improve
the identification, assessment, and management of climate

risks.

6.3 EHRIEE

REERRTR B EHE S
18 - Bt - BRPR TR ER RS
(CHR M 2T RS R BB EY
2 NAER - AEENESEER
T RS AR RBI R -
RI - BFETHEEHRTRER
BRI - S REE -

Climate risks identified

2B R IR

Examples

BlF

Potential consequences

BERR

Current measures to
mitigate risks

RN E R EEEE

Physical risks

e s A
EiERE R

Storms, hurricanes, or floods
ZEF - BRE - K

° Possible disruption
of supply and normal
operation in our supply
chain and places
of operation due to
extreme weather
IR MBS g =
13 X SR 22 T Hp a4
ERIEFES

° We have optimized our
process and technology
of production and
assembly, while
reduced and monitored
the carbon dioxide
emissions, thereby
mitigating the rise of
greenhouse gas
EEEERERTE
B TEE AT - R M B
B Z S BRBERR - DA%
BB ZE REE - EYKE

° Emergency drills and
trainings on a regular
basis
EHIR M ESORE IR

Rising sea levels, persistent
high temperature

BFE L - FEESR

° Affecting our normal
production and
operation, and resulting
in increased operating
costs
TELEREERKE &
ERANIE N

° Taking energy-saving
measures to reduce
energy consumption
EREXETKY BEIRFE PR R
AEIRFE M

Transition risks

BRI E R

Policies and regulatory risks

BUR BOR R R

o More stringent
emission disclosure
requirements
BEBEBER AR E
23K

° Increasingly stringent
international policies
and regulations on
climate change
BBRIEE BB
RIOER G ® HESBRAR

° Continuously
monitoring the latest
laws and regulations
about climate change
EEE A ERRIRE L
ERERBER

° In strict compliance
with the environmental
laws, regulations and
industry standards at
the places where we
operate
BARE TE S T
E}%E%& OERRITE
177
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COMMUNITY RESPONSIBILITY

We always stay true to actively participate in public welfare and
charities, assume the responsibilities and obligations as a corporate
citizen, and continuously deliver positive energy for our consumers,
partners and even the society.

During the Year, the Group, in capacity as an enterprise, participated
in “Striving for a National Civilized Model City Publicity Activity”
hosted by the Publicity Department of the Zhongshan Municipal CPC
Committee and “Charity with Thousands of People Donation Activity”
sponsored by the Red Cross in Zhongshan City, vigorously supporting
the community development activities of Zhongshan City and giving
back to the society.

During the year, we had donated RMB20,000 to the Red Cross in
Zhongshan City to support their works.

e

HEEE

B EATIL - BR2EAGEES
X ARECELARNETNED - T A
HEE  BEBHIEHSEELERE -

REE  AEBR2NTHUHEREFEE
e [ FAIZBEXARBHTEE L] &
RIUTA+FE IR [BEEATER
mE ] AEEH DR ILTHLE
BEOLE) > MEEHE -

BAEARFEERFILA+FERET2
BARE - USFHB PN THE

Striving for a National Civilized Model City Publicity ~ Charity with Thousands of People Donation Activity

Activity
- parallel session in Wuguishan Street
FEI 2B BRSNS EEE)
- AEIIHERS

Looking for the future, we will continue to carry forward the culture
of actively participate in social services, and encourage employees
to actively participate in voluntary services to maintain a harmonious
relationship with the society.
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APPENDIX 1: SUSTAINABILITY DATA STATEMENT ffigg— : I REEXREHBERE

Environmental ' Unit 2023
BRI R B 2023 FE
Emissions

BER

NOx kg 2.79
AAY T

SOx kg 0.06
malty T

PM kg 0.21
ST RERL T

GHG emissions 2

BEREEEME?

Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) @ tonnes of CO,e 11.26
BEEREREBHR(BE)S AW —SLiRE S

Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2) * tonnes of CO,e 964.13
MEREREEEN (&EE2)1 A —E(tIREE

Total GHG emissions (Scope 1 and 2) tonnes of CO,e 975.39
mERBHINAAE (SBE &2) NS tiREE

GHG emissions intensity °

BEREEEREES

GHG emissions per square meter (Scope 1 and 2) tonnes of CO,e/m? 0.04
YRR EREBHN (BE1K&2) RS REE Tk

GHG emissions per employee (Scope 1 and 2) tonnes of CO,e/employee 2.33
BHRETNREREHR(BE&2) AE—EtirEE BT

Energy consumption

BERUHFE

Total electricity consumption MWh 1,690.56
BEEE JKFLEF

Electricity consumption per square meter MWh/m? 0.06
BYHRNFEESE IR, FHAK

Electricity consumption per employee MWh/employee 4.03
FHETINREEE KEK, BT

Zhongshan, China to evaluate the KPIs of the environmental.

The KPIs of the environmental include: data of warehouses, offices, dormitories, and production and assembly facilities located in

BERBNERAVEREE  URTPEFILNEE WAE  BE - URAERKRERENEEN SRR HBENBRERIEE -

Council for Sustainable Development and the ISO14064-1 stipulated by the International Organization for Standardization.

The GHG inventory is based on the Greenhouse Gas Protocol developed by the World Resources Institute and the World Business

RERERESREERERAAMEE R HEEXRIBHEESHENCRERBREAT E) L EBRRE(CALETEHIS014064-1 -

Scope 1: Direct GHG emissions from sources owned and controlled by the Group.

EBE - AEREEA MIERIH SRR E LN ERR ERIEH -

Group operations.
#HE2: BE - HANKLSHERNEEMIMNEERNARMSIBHRERBEN - BERESERNENEM -

Report — Appendix 2; Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange.

Scope 2: GHG emissions from electricity generation, heating and cooling, or steam purchased by the Group, including electricity used in

The calculation of the air pollutant emissions and GHG emissions of the Group was made with reference to “How to prepare an ESG

BM2EHZM [MARERE e REARE — W= - REMBERUERERES | STHEAEENER SRR EREH

B e

EENHRBIERERAF
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Water consumption

AKEFE
Total water consumption m3 50,274
BFEKE SLTK
Water consumption per square meter m¥%employee 1.93
FEKHFKE VKBTI
Water consumption per employee m¥employee 120
SR TMIEKE VKBTI
Hazardous wastes
BEEEYELE
Electronic waste (including: waste circuit boards, electronic |tonnes 0.10
components, waste lead-free solder paste packaging, waste | 2B
pipes, waste rags, cleaning agent packaging, waste and defective
products)
BFREREY (B - BRER SFEN  BEENDERE  BEE
BB FABIEEY  BERm)
Electronic waste consumed per employee tonnes/employee 0.0002
BEREILEREMBEFEREY YNV
Non-hazardous wastes
BEBRVELE
Total paper consumption tonnes 218
MoRkME NI
Average paper consumption per employee tonnes/employee 0.005
BEREEBIERNAREE AW BT
Total amount of non-hazardous wastes tonnes 82.89
BEERVELHRE NI
Non-hazardous waste consumption per employee tonnes/employee 197.82
BERETHRNEZERY AW/ BT
Total packaging material consumption
BEMEDEEEAE
Carton consumption tonnes 200,000
v NI
Plastic packaging consumption tonnes 200,000
BReE N
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Social Unit 2023
MR By 2023 F &
Total number of employees No. of people 419
B TR AEX

Total number of employees (by gender)

ETHAZ(REAES)

Male employees No. of people 242
EHET N

Female employees No. of people 177
ZHET N

Total number of employees (by employment type®)

ETHAH(RETHEAESS)

Full-time junior employees No. of people 397
PRBRET AEX

Full-time middle management No. of people 16
PRPREIRE N

Full-time senior management No. of people 6
2R EEE N

Total number of employees (by age group)

ETHAZ(RFRERNZES)

Employees aged under 30 No. of people 239
30BRA T

Employees aged between 30-50 No. of people 177
30-505% AER

Employees aged above 50 No. of people 3
50mR A £

Total number of employees (by geographical region)

ETHZ(RHEESD)

Northern China No. of people 2
EitwE AB

Southern China No. of people 417
ERE

Turnover rate 7

MR

Total employee turnover rate % 35%
BT HRmKE

6 No part-time employees of the Group during the year
REBRAFELERBET

year) X 100%
FTETE  RREEAE S (REEEAB+FLREEAR) X100%

Calculation method: number of employees turnover— (number of employees turnover + number of employees at the end of the
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Employee turnover rate (by gender)

BTRAR(RERE )

Male employees
SMET

%

18%

Female employees

ZIHEET

%

17%

Employee turnover rate (by age group)

BTRAR(BRFRAERNE D)

Employees aged under 30
B0mA T

%

40%

Employees aged between 30-50
30-50 5%

%

30%

Employees aged above 50
50 k£

%

30%

Employee turnover rate (by geographical region)

BETRAR(RHEES)

Northern China
e gbe el

No. of people
AL

8%

Southern China
EEH[E

No. of people
A

92%

The percentage of employees trained® (by gender)

RIETEDL (LUERIES)

Male employees
BEMET

%

58%

Female employees
ZHET

%

42%

The percentage of employees trained (by employment type)
FIEIFSHL(REITERES)

Full-time junior employees
ERBIRET

%

95%

Full-time middle management

ERPREEE

%

4%

Full-time senior management
EREREEE

%

1%

8 Calculation method: number of employees trained in this category/total number of employees trained x 100%

FHEE  ZIRIRIIB AR ZIIE TR AZX 100%
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Average training hours (by gender)
Fg3E IR (LRI 5)

Male employees Hour 2.0
BHET N
Female employees Hour 2.0
ZHET AN

Average training hours (by employment type)
T (RETEEE D)

Full-time junior employees Hour 3.0

PRYRET aNs

Full-time middle management Hour 4.0

2BPRERE INBF

Full-time senior management Hour 5.0

RN EEE AN

Occupational health and safety

BERBENZ2

Number of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three | No. of people 0
years including the reporting year AEL

BE=F (BRERFE) 8FEITHAHAR

Rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three| % 0

years including the reporting year
BEZF (BEERFE) BFEAITHMLE

Lost days due to work injury day 0

EIBEAIIERE X

Labor Standards

BIBE

Number of child labor found case 0

BIMBETHAE R

Number of forced labor found case 0

IR H|45 T#A o

Anti-Corruption

RES

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices case 0
brought against the Company or its employees =

HARRBE TREWEEENE ) THFARMGEE
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APPENDIX 2: INDEX TO THE ESG REPORTING
GUIDE OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE

BiER = BESRARCIRIR - B R
BERMmEES)EL

Indicators Related Chapters
EERE HEEH
A. Environmental
A RIFEE
A1: Emissions General Disclosure Information on: 6. Green Operation
Al BER Disclosure (@ the policies; and 6.4 E
— R (b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to exhaust gas and GHG emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and nonhazardous waste.
BREERIORZ R - KR THHEDS - BF
MEZEEYNELSH
(@ BE: &
(o) ETEHETABEARTZENHEEELAIN
BH o
A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions 6. Green Operation
data. 6. B
PERU R S ARRA BER B o Appendix 1:
Sustainability Data
Statement
Mieg—: AR BB R
BME
Al1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG 6. Green Operation
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity 6. i
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). Appendix 1:
B (EBE1) RebRMEE (BE2)AEREHNE (L |Sustainability Data
WEETE) R (@A) - BE (WASESEN - §EF | Statement
MEtE) o Mieg—: AT EERE
ERE S
A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) 6. Green Operation
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of |6. AAEALE
production volume, per facility). Appendix 1:
FrEEBEEEYEE (UEETE) R (@A) %/E | Sustainability Data
(WMABESEN - BHERWTE) © Statement
Mgk —: AIREERER
BRE
Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) 6. Green Operation
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of |6. &XEALE
production volume, per facility). Appendix 1:
FIEAmEREYBE (UMETHE) R(#EA)%E | Sustainability Data
(INAEESEN - BEZETE) Statement
Mgk —: AIREBERER
BRHE
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Indicators Related Chapters
BEEAR HEEE
A1.5 Description of emission targets and steps taken to 6. Green Operation
achieve them. 6. AL
M PRI A EEE B R R R ESE L B RAEREE) | 6.1 Emission
B o Management
6.1 FFE R
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous 6. Green Operation
wastes are handled, and description of waste |6. £x&iEE
reduction targets and steps taken to achieve them. 6.1 Emission
il EIR A E MEEREYNTTE - REMFTEIZLA | Management
R B R R R EDE L B IR ER AN 255 - 6.1 HERUE R
A2: Use of General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including 6.2 Resource
Resources Disclosure energy, water and other raw materials. Management
A2 : EREMA — MR ER BRERER(BIERIR - AKREMERMED) BIBUR - 6.2 8 REIE
A21 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type 6. Green Operation
(e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and | 6. & EiEE
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per Appendix 1:
facility). Sustainability Data
REREIS MW ERE R, KEEER(WE - fKeloh)Z | Statement
HE(UTEFTEREAE) REE (MAGESEA - Misg—: AR BB R
FERMETH) Bz
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit 6. Green Operation
of production volume, per facility). 6. A
BIKERERE (WMAGESEN - FHERMETE) Appendix 1:
Sustainability Data
Statement
Mgk —: AIREERERH
ER S
A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency targets and steps 6. Green Operation
taken to achieve them. 6.5 B
HAFTEI Y EREAME R ERRETELBIZM  |6.2 Resource
FEH B o Management
6.2 EREE
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing 6. Green Operation
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency targets |6 & B4
and steps taken to achieve them. 6.2 Resource
HACSKEGER/KOR ERI B EREE - ARAEIZEA | Management
KW B IR R AERE L B R R PR 6.2 BIREIE
A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in Appendix 1:
tonnes) and, where appropriate, per unit produced. Sustainability Data
BIRK HFT R B REMEINAE (CANEETE) K (@A) Statement
EEBIGE - Mieg— : AR BB RE
BME

=

e s
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Indicators Related Chapters
EEAR HEBES
A3: General Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impacts 6. Green Operation
Environment Disclosure on the environment and natural resources. JH{EZE{TA | 6. G ELE
and Natural —RR IR ER HIRR MR EREK BN EHEGR ©
Resources
A3 BIRRARARE
i
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on 6. Green Operation
the environment and natural resources and the actions | 6. 4Z B¢ &
taken to manage them.
R EBEHEHRERRAABERNEANTE R DRI
EREHETENTY -
A4: Climate General Policies on identifying and responding to significant 6.3 Response to Climate
Change Disclosure climate-related issues that have and may have an Change
Ad: RIRB1{L — MR IR impact on the issuer. 6.3 FEHRIRE ML
BRI N EHE RN AR @R BT AEERENEAR
IXEREEE AR -
A4 Description of material climate-related issues that have 6.3 Response to Climate
and may have an impact on the issuer, and actions Change
taken to manage them. 6.3 FEHRIREME
BRI HEITAEEXENEARIKER
=H - REHTE-
B. Social
B. & &R
B1: General Information on: 5.1 Protecting Rights
Employment Disclosure (@  the policies; and and Interests of Labour
B1: EfE —RE IR ER (o) compliance with relevant laws and regulations | 5.1 {R[E45 Tz
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
antidiscrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.
BN R - MIERET - TIERS - RE - 7
ZE S REEAREMEBREND : @
B R (o) BFERIT AT EAY BOMREEE LA
il
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (e.g. full Appendix 1:
time or part time), age group and geographical region. Sustainability Data
RITR - EBIFRE (N2 RsERE) - FRAERI MR | Statement
ElomBE T - Mgk —: AIREERER
RS
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and Appendix 1:
geographical region. Sustainability Data
MR - AR MRS DA B TRALLE - Statement
Mg —: AR EERE
ERES
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RIE -HERER

W

Indicators Related Chapters
BEEAR HEEE
B2: Health and General Information on: 5.3 Occupational Health
Safety Disclosure (@ the policies; and and Safety
B2 : EEHEZE —RR IR ER () compliance with relevant laws and regulations  |5.3 Bk EERZ 2
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.
ERRHZE2THERRERREEIREBENES
B @QBX: RO ETHETABEATZENIEEA
EREIROIEER
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred 5.3 Occupational Health
in each of the past three years including the reporting and Safety
year. 53 BEREERLY
BEZF(BEERFEE)SFRATTUHRHAZBLL | Appendix 1
* o Sustainability Data
Statement
Mgk —: AIREBERER
BHE
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Appendix 1:
ETEERIIEESE - Sustainability Data
Statement
Mgk —: AIREEREH
ERES
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety 5.3 Occupational Health
measures adopted, and how they are implemented and Safety
and monitored. 53 WEEEEL R
R PTER AR B R R FR B e 2 40 - DA RABRARTT X
BERITE -
B3: General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and 5.2 Talent Training and
Development Disclosure skills for discharging duties at work. Description of Development
and Training —RHEEE training activities. 5.2 AT IEIIER
B3 : #EREI BEARA B TR1T TR E R A3 R B BUR -
MIBFNES) o
B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and Appendix 1:
employee category (e.g senior management, middle Sustainability Data
management). Statement
RUBIRETHMN (MR ERE  PREBES)E |Wik—: IHEERH
DHZINETEDLL © BHE
B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee Appendix 1:
by gender and employee category. Sustainability Data
RUERIRBTHERIED - 8RB ITAEINTHER | Statement
2o Mgk —: AIREBERER
BRHE
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Indicators Related Chapters
EEAR HEBES
B4: Labour B4 Information on: 5.1 Protecting Rights
Standards (@  the policies; and and Interests of Labour
B4 : & T X8| (o) compliance with relevant laws and regulations | 5.1{R[&E 4 Tz
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
EBPILEETRAEFNSTH : @BEK: ko) ETH
BT AGEATENHREERIIROINER -
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment 5.1 Protecting Rights
practices to avoid child and forced labour. and Interests of Labour
R BB AR R E T REHIST - 5.1 RIEL T
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices 5.1 Protecting Rights
when discovered. and Interests of Labour
RSB BRI ERBBB PRI SR - 5.1 RIELS T
B5: Supply General Policies on managing environmental and social risks 4.5 Supply Chain
Chain Disclosure of the supply chain. Management
Management —HE=E IR M RERNRE NS ERECR 4.5 HEEEE
B5 : fESEEE B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 4.5 Supply Chain
R EI D HHEEREE - Management
4.5 ftrEgEE IR
B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, 4.5 Supply Chain
number of suppliers where the practices are being Management
implemented, and how they are implemented and | 4.5 {fEFEEE
monitored.
MR R HERAIEN - mERITE BRI M
EREE - AREAERNNMITRERTE -
B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental 4.5 Supply Chain
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they Management
are implemented and monitored. 4.5 HEHER
A AR RS EIRE A IRE Rt g R a8
Bl - LARABRARIT REER 0% -
B5.4 Description of practices used to promote 4.5 Supply Chain
environmentally preferable products and services Management
when selecting suppliers, and how they are |4.5 f{fEEERE

implemented and monitored.
M EREH AR EZ B RRERRRBENIE
Bl LA R AERARAT M B 0% o
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RIE - HERERRE
Indicators Related Chapters
BEEAR HEEE
B6: Product General Information on: 4.1 Product Quality
Responsibility Disclosure (@ the policies; and Assurance
B6: EmEE —RR IR ER (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations |4.1 {RIEERE S
that have a significant impact on the issuer 4.4 Privacy and Data
relating to health and safety, advertising, labeling Protection
and privacy matters relating to products and | 4.4 BEA. R BUE(RE
services provided and methods of redress.
BHEFREEMNMBREOERREZS  BE  RER
LB EE AR A : (@)X Rkb)E~FH%E
TABERTZENHBERNRPINES -

B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject 4.1 Product Quality
to recalls for safety and health reasons. Assurance
BEEXDEXERLHTALXLHAREEHMALDK [41REEREE
BB -

B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints 4.2 Excellent Customer
received and how they are dealt with. Services
BERENEDRIRBAIZHFEE LR EE X 4.2 SR P IR

B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and 4.3 Intellectual Property
protecting intellectual property rights. Management
it B T RPN EE M R VB B o A3HBEEER

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall 4.1 Product Quality
procedures. Assurance
it E R TEBIE R EmEBIIRF A1RBERES

B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and 4.4 Privacy and Data
privacy policies, and how they are implemented and Protection
monitored. 4.4 BRI R BUERRE
IUE B E ERMRE RALBECE - ARMBERNITRE
BE -
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Indicators Related Chapters
EEAR HEBES
B7: Anti- General Information on: 4.6 Constructing a
corruption Disclosure (@  the policies; and Culture of Integrity
B7 : RES —RR IR ER (o) compliance with relevant laws and regulations | 4.6 FRZSUEER
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.
BRI IEFER - $R - BEFROEREN : @BK : &
O BETHEITAREAXZENHBEERRAONE
e
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt 4.6 Constructing a
practices brought against the issuer or its employees Culture of Integrity
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the | 4.6 BRZSULER
cases. Appendix 1:
RERPAHETARHETIRETEEENETH Sustainability Data
R E RFAER - Statement
Mieg— : AR BB RE
BME
B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing 4.6 Constructing a
procedures, and how they are implemented and Culture of Integrity
monitored. 4.6 BRI LR
P SBiEE R R WIET - ARMBBIRITRERS
Vo
B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to 4.6 Constructing a
directors and staff. Culture of Integrity
i mES K8 TRENRESE - 4.6 EX(LER
B8: General Policies on community engagement to understand the 7. Community
Community Disclosure needs of the communities where the issuer operates Responsibility
Investment —MRIRE and to ensure its activities take into consideration the | 7. ftEE
B8 : it BIRE communities’ interests.
BN RBER T REEMEMRTEMBRLE
BIEBEE A RS EER o
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, 7. Community
environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture, Responsibility
sport). 7 HEEE
EIRRER(IHE REFHE $IFK &
B~ Xt - 85) -
B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. 7. Community
EEIHEAEAER ° Responsibility
7. HEREE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B E TR

e
EY:

Independent auditor’s report

To the shareholders of READBOY EDUCATION HOLDING
COMPANY LIMITED

(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Ernst & Young

979 King’s Road

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Readboy
Education Holding Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 189 to 306, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

27/F, One Taikoo Place

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

LK G TR BT Tel B :%: +852 2846 9888
B EMEEEOT5  FaxfEH: +852 2868 4432
Kot —BE27iE ey.com

B ERHRE

HEEBHAERERATARR

(REJSFHSZMA LA FRL A])

=5
BEEDEZE180E 306 HF i B H AL
BRERAR([EAR)) RETRAR(TEEE])
MirA I BRE - E8ER2023412 8318
ARV RAREEZ AL FENLGARE
HREMEEREER  GAESEPHRNGEAR
ERER  URBIEERSHBERERNGEY
TERERMIEE -

EERE HAVBBRRBESESTMAS
(B8O ) BANE ST BREER
([BRMBERELEA D EEAAMKRE BEEE
202312 A31 B4R & B ik R B E 7%
HIEFENGEMBREARMIERERE T2
RREBATHENN B ER T ELERE -
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B ELH MRS

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter

BRESER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMESETPOAEERRETSE

Revenue recognition of personal student tablets
B4 AN FIRETPLA TR

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue
derived from the sale of personal student tablets amounted
to RMB313,132,000, representing 87% of the total revenue.
The revenue derived from the sale of devices is recognised
at the point in time when control of the devices is transferred
to the customers. Revenue derived from the provision of the
digital educational resources and services is recognised over
the estimated user life on a straight-line basis.
MEZE2023512 A 31 HILFE @ REHESEFAFIRE
WARARY 313,132,000 7T - 15K AHI87% ° RE HE
RBHBAR R B HIEEE T EPNRERER - K8
REHEFCHEERMREH B ARE AR LG AT EAF
HAORERR o

The Group estimates stand-alone selling prices of devices
and digital educational resources and services by using
expected cost plus margin based on all information that is
reasonably available, including but not limited to, third-party
or industry pricing, costs incurred in relation to the provision
of the good or services and related market profit margins. In
addition, the determination of the average user life for each
type of products is based on the Group’s best estimate
taking into account all known and relevant information at
the time of assessment. As such, significant management
judgements are involved in the estimations of stand-alone
selling prices and average user life.
SEEEFAEHRAMAEE - BB SBIGH—E
¥ BREEFARRE=ZFIITEEE  IRHEmIRGHE
R KA TSR R - (AT RE KRBT L HE AR
RIS EVIBE(E o bhoN - FEEEMB P RERFHILER

EREREEGMETE - 8RR ERAE BRI
BMER - At - Mt BYEER TR ERFHMINERRE
BB AT

In view of the above, the revenue recognition of personal
student tablets is relatively complicated, we identified the
recognition of relevant revenue as a key audit matter.
ER EX Pt - B4 EATIRA A EREEERE - R
BRI AR A — AR st 1A -

The accounting policies and disclosures for revenue
recognition are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 5 to the financial
statements.
BRARAERN R R IRE SNV B ®KMT2.4 - 3%
5 o

Our audit procedures mainly included the following:
BIMEAEFEIEBRRUTEIEA

° we evaluated the process of revenue recognition
of personal student tablets and the related internal
controls, tested the effectiveness of design and
execution of key internal controls;

AT AT A 22 A A S AR M A BE R AR AN AR A I BB 4R
i RIS R R BRI R AT R T B RS

o we checked supporting documents (e.g., sales
contracts, delivery notes, invoices) and performed cut-
off test on the recognition of revenue from personal
student tablets on a sampling basis;

B R S 24 8 A TR AR A B S35 3
(WHEER « XNER - BEZ)WETEIL AR

° in respect of the allocation of transaction price, we
assessed the expected cost plus margin approach and
compared the major parameters used in the model
against historical data; and
HRRSERSE - RS ETEBRARMAEE -
WA HE RS R P AR A Z 2 BURFE £ BURETLI R
&

o with the involvement of our IT and data analytics
specialists, we assessed the reasonableness of the
expected user life adopted by management by
checking the user’s log and calculation of average user
life for historical active users on a sampling basis.
EHMNEARSLBEONERNZ2ET - HFf8
BT ArP R AT ERE L ERAFHFIEEA
FHHMEERERANERERAFHNS IR -
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Impairment provision for inventories

FRBIERE

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of inventories
was RMB196,558,000, after netting of the provision for
impairment of RMB21,121,000. The inventories were stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Management
periodically performs stock take and analytical review to
identify slow-moving and obsolete inventories.
2023512 A31H » FENKRAE(EHNRRERBAR
%m1mow%ﬂ%AE%we%8mam T §i2 DN
ﬁ%@ﬁ%ﬁ%fﬁ%ﬂ% EIRETHETRRE
DA E R RETE

The determination of the net realisable value reflects
management’s estimated selling prices less the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale. The management also
considers the physical condition of inventories, based on the
category, ageing and usage of inventories.

EE R ﬁ@ﬁ&%MEFH?%Eﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ&
K BEERBTEENFENERN BERAEAEEZEREFE
E"]E&‘%#/EJ ©

Significant judgements and estimates are required in
determining of the net realisable value, including the
estimated selling prices and cost to be incurred to completion
and disposal for different categories of inventories. These
judgements and estimates have a material impact on the
calculation of net realisable value. As a result, this matter was
considered as a key audit matter.

EER #RFERSEEEERAE R - BFETEER
FEMHETHE BERRIA KT & EPTE SN - HREF
REFEFERERFEFEATE - Bt - WEERR
RERETEE -

The accounting policies and disclosures for impairment
provision for inventories are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 20
to the financial statements.

FEGEERBEREN G BUR R RSN mRM T
24 -3K20-

QOur audit procedures mainly included the following:
BIMEARFEIERREUTEIE

o we assessed the methodology and assumptions
used in the calculation of the net realisable value
of inventories, evaluated management’s process of
identifying slow-moving and obsolete inventories, and
recalculated the inventory provisions;

B EFERERFEMERAN T ARRE
EEREHNFHERREFENIRT  REFTE
TFEREME

° we tested the ageing analysis of inventories on a
sampling basis by checking the invoices and other
relevant supporting documents;
&ﬁﬁLﬁE%m&Hmﬁﬁi%X# R TF

BEREE®RONT

. we checked on a sampling basis, the estimated selling
prices of significant inventory items against the actual
selling prices subsequent to the year end or the latest
sales data; and
BB EEETENMTHEBRBHFRED
ERHEBERABIHEER &

o we observed the stocktaking process at the end of the
year.

BMBRFRFERBRE -
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B ET RS

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

FEREMESNEMESR
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FRERETREA IHRERABE RS 20
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

e HEERAKELESTERMWREILEE
iR - WRBFIERMESRE BT
ERFERAEERYE BERENFEL
BRENELEARBENFHLIBNEMN
EXRTHEEN - HEMABER/FEEX
THEEMN - BAFTRBAMREPIEFE
BRAMBHRRANAREERKE - |
REBEERESR - AMETHERMANER - &
fnEmeEERBEERTMRE R/
FRERSHBET/RE - A - REFREHIE
MEREER BERETRESELE -

o  HESAUBHMROBMAIRN - EE
AT - BREE  UWREEMBRERE
BHRERBAAERZ NEE -

o 3 BERERNEGIERBFHIEEMER
FR - EENRERENEE SRS MR
REXRBR - RAAEEKEENSA
EBEMNT - R ABFELAERAE
fE o

BMEFEFZESEA THENETRE - BIH
ZHE - EARAERSE - RRMEETHHED
A BB BE R ) (A ARG ©

BfERETZEQRRER - FHARMENTE
BRI MHANERERERER - WRMFER
BRI A B RR RS ERMB LN AER
BEREMER  ARSEREBERRNTTEHE
R EsE e (WEm) o

EENHBERERAT 187
2023 F FEHE



Independent Auditor's Report
B ELH MRS

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Lok Man Ho.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

27 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

= A\
Ny

S N HMmEERER

Year ended 31 December 2023 &% 2023 F 12 A 31 HIEFE

2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 &
notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE ARET T AREEF T
Revenue 1 ON 5 359,372 605,210
Cost of sales SHEKA (266,951) (470,993)
Gross profit EH 92,421 134,217
Other income and gains HA A RIS 5 44,195 69,107
Selling and distribution expenses HE MDY (80,778) (96,404)
Administrative expenses THHAX (39,284) (54,406)
Impairment losses on financial assets & B4 & EREE 1R 6 (3,652) (1,679)
Research and development expenses 35 F 2 (43,030) (37,922)
Other expenses B (10,880) (22,161)
Finance costs B TSR AR 7 (1,184) (134)
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial BARBEFABENEH
assets/liabilities at fair value through BiE/ BENAREE
profit or loss (B518) W 6 (19,116) 20,111
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX BiAT (B518) /FIE 6 (61,308) 10,729
Income tax expense FrigHif 10 (11,230) (5,873)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR Fr(EE) FE (72,538) 4,856
(LOSS)/PROFIT AND TOTAL FR(ER) FBEREEE
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR &
THE YEAR (72,538) 4,856
Attributable to: LA AL -
Owners of the parent ISYNCJEZFSPN (71,447) 5,209
Non-controlling interests FEPERR AR (1,091) (353)
(72,538) 4,856
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE B AREBRERSEE AL
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY ik (&518) /&F
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 12
Basic AR
— For (loss)/profit for the year - FRN(E8R) FIB RMB(20.88) cents  RMB1.66 cents
AR (20.88) 7 AR¥1.665
Diluted i3
— For (loss)/profit for the year - FR(ER) FIB RMB(20.88) cents  RMBO0.49 cents
AR%(20.88) & ARH0.495
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e IR R

31 December 2023 20234 12 A 31 H

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
notes RMB’000 RMB’000
PsE ARBT T ARBT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment L E =N 13 44,784 45,140
Investment properties "EME 14 12,833 13,219
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 15(a) 4,199 764
Long-term prepayments RAERTET K 22 1,000 -
Other intangible assets Hih\mLEE 16 1,143 4,959
Deferred tax assets RIETIREE 17 15,513 26,675
Equity investments designated at fair EERAABEFARMEE
value through other comprehensive UEal:olibg =%
income 18 28,000 28,000
Other non-current assets HEMIERBIEE 19 485 751
Total non-current assets BIERBEE 107,957 119,508
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories "rE 20 196,558 246,715
Trade receivables =) e e 21 15,122 28,330
Amounts due from a related party e UK BA R 5 SRR 33(0) 5,123 -
Prepayments, other receivables AR - Hblmoa R EAm
and other assets BE 22 32,436 38,653
Financial assets at fair value through BARBEFABSHNSMEE
profit or loss 23 15,110 34,226
Time deposit EEBFR 24 - 345,889
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEY 24 351,522 149,041
Total current assets BREEE 615,871 842,854
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAR
Trade payables =) AN 25 36,302 88,116
Other payables, accruals and contract EAbENFRIE - EETERA K
liabilities BREIE 26 107,371 132,980
Lease liabilities MHEBE 15(b) 2,201 319
Amounts due to a related party FEAST BEESE 5 SRR 33(0) 128 -
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTBRITER 27 55,310 -
Tax payable FERHIE 8,917 8,849
Total current liabilities BRBBEE 210,229 230,264
NET CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE 405,642 612,590
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBES
LIABILITIES 513,599 732,098
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Consolidated statement of financial position

e ISR R

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

2023 2022
2023 2022
notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B3 AR%ET T ARBTIT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FEREBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 15(p) 2,197 492
Contract liabilities ABHRAE 26 17,264 32,027
Total non-current liabilities BIETBAE 19,461 32,519
Net assets FEE 494,138 699,579
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners
of the parent BN R RIHEE AN
Share capital &N 28 302 302
Treasury shares EFRG 28 (131,202) -
Reserves et 29 626,059 697,506
495,159 697,808
Non-controlling interests FEIE R AE (1,021) 1,771
Total equity BRET 494,138 699,579
Qin Shuguang Liu Zhilan
Director Director
E1: 3 258
EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GAERBDR

Year ended 31 December 2023 &% 2023 F 12 A 31 HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

FERSNTEAA
Non-
Share Share Merger Statutory Retained controling Total
capital premium reserve reserve profits Total interests equity

s Rinag il EERE REHE & FERER B

RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000

AEBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR  ARBTR
(note 28) (note 29) (note 29) (note 29)
(FzE28) (MtzE20) (Kt 29) (Mt 29)

At 1 January 2022 H2022E1F1H 1 - 130,407 36,754 91,776 258,938 - 258,938
Profit for the year ERFE - - - - 5,209 5209 (359) 4,856
Contribution from non-controling ~ FAFRHERRETE

shareholders - - - - - - 2,124 2,124
Issue of sheres Bk 45 338,712 - - - 338,757 - 338,757
Share issue expenses BIROER - 21,826) - - - (21,826) - 21,826)
Issue of ordinary share upon REMERTEER

capitalisation 256 (256) - - - - - -
Transfer from financial iabiities ~ EBRAAEENES

atfair value through MeRaE

profit or loss - 116,730 - - - 116,730 - 116,730
At 31 December 2022 R2022F12 831 H 302 433,360" 130,407 36,754 96,985 697,808 1,171 699,579
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

an\ 1&"") (?‘Eﬁﬁﬁ

Year ended 31 December 2023 & Z= 2023 F 12 A 31 AL FE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BERELAREA
Non-
Share Treasury Share Merger  Statutory Retained controlling Total
capital shares premium reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
ks EBRRE  ROGRE  AKRE  iERE  REWE ax  FBERER fRs
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARMTn  ARETR  ARETR
(note 28) (note 28) (note 29) (note 29) (note 29)
(Witos)  (Mekos)  (Mit29)  (Wk20)  (H&E29)
At 1 January 2023 R2028F1A1A 302 - 433,360 130,407 36,754 96,985 697,808 1,1 699,579
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - (71,447) (71,447) (1,091) (72,539)
Contribution from FERRRTE
non-controlling
shareholders - - - - - - - 70 70
Disposal of subsicliaries HEFRA - - - - - - - (1,1 (1,171)
Shares repurchased BERR - (181,202 - - - - (131,202 - (181,202
At 31 December 2023 2023512317 302 (131,209)  433,360* 130,407 36,754* 25,538 * 495,159 (1,021) 494,138
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZERBEEERGEEVBMRARTNE

RMB626,059,000 (2022: RMB697,506,000) in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

BB A R 626,059,000 (2022 % :
697,506,000 7T) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n‘/T/\IﬁiﬁUllJE’%%

Year ended 31 December 2023 &% 2023 F 12 A 31 HIEFE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022
notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B sE ARBT T ARBT T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHABRENE
ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax: Fian (&8) /FE - (61,308) 10,729
Adjustments for: BRI SIEEL A
Foreign exchange differences, net SN E 3, 2= KE 5 ER 6 (6,486) (17,951)
Finance costs B 75 AR AN 7 1,184 134
Bank and a related party interest income fEﬁ&F%Hﬁ RSN N 5 (13,066) (7,732)
Investment income from structured ER T AR B
deposits 5 - (804)
Finance income on the net investment HEFRENTFRA
in a lease 5 (39) (74)
Net loss on disposal of items of HEWE  BMEMLEEEN
property, plant and equipment FEE 6 - 397
Net gain on disposal of items of HEEAEEER BT
right-of-use assets 6 - (101)
Depreciation of property, Y% - BERERETE
plant and equipment 13 4,302 4,277
Depreciation of investment properties HEMENE 14 386 387
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHREEENE 15(a) 1,358 1,386
Amortisation of other intangible assets HAbfm & E 16 4,036 5,694
Write-down of inventories to net GFEMRER R FEE
realisable value 6 11,981 368
Impairment of trade, prepayments, B 5 EIERIE ~ Atk - B
other receivables and other assets U SR TE & B & R E 6 3,652 1,679
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEF RS 241) -
Changes in fair value of financial assets/ i@ﬁ?/ BEH
liabilities NABEES 6 19,116 (20,111)
(35,125) (21,722)
Decrease in inventories FERd 38,176 11,136
Decrease in trade receivables B 5 IR D 10,429 17,860
Decrease in prepayments, other TERFR - EfthEUGRIA R EAth
receivables and other assets BERY 4,357 25,614
(Increase)/decrease in other HibIEmENVEE (3500) R
non-current assets (734) 1,666
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables S EMNRACRD), 180 (51,814) 19,817
Decrease in contract liabilities aHEaERD (40,951) (30,892)
Increase in amounts due to a related party — FE{F— & a5 75 ZIEIE 1 128 -
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and ~ E-fth fE{~ /I8 K FEA+ & F
accruals #hn, Cid) 580 (57,457)
Cash used in operations KEPTAIRE (74,954) (33,978)
Interest received BUFIE 12,612 7,732
Net cash flows used in operating activities EEREAFRERE (62,342) (26,246)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MERTNER

Year ended 31 December 2023 & Z= 2023 F 12 A 31 AL FE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022
notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B sE AREBT T ARBTIT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHFERERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchase of financial assets at fair value ~ B EIZ A BETAEBRZATR
through profit or loss BE - (17,750)
Purchase of equity investments BEETERAABESAEMLE
designated at fair value through other W AR IR &
comprehensive income - (28,000)
Purchases of items of property, plant EEWME  BELZHEHIER
and equipment (3,968) (1,387)
Additions of other intangible assets S E M BT A E (220) (4,579)
Increase in time deposits TE BfF SR N - (541,292)
Maturity of time deposits TEHATFE AR AR 350,620 215,403
Investment income from structured EBMEFRAIRERA
deposits 5 - 804
Placement of structured deposits FEEBMUETR - (863,800)
Maturity of structured deposits EEETFREE - 863,800
Finance income on the net investment HEFRENPBHBA
in a lease 39 74
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFAH (277) -
Loans to a related party MR B R (15,000)
Repayment of loans to a related party EEEmARER 10,000 -
Interest received from a related party 2 U BARE 5 FILE 86 -
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) X &SEEFRS, (FrA)FRER
investing activities = 341,280 (376,727)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RETHAERENRE
ACTIVITIES
New bank loans FTRTTER 55,310 -
Capital injection by the non-controlling FRRIHERB R TE
shareholders of subsidiaries 70 2,124
Proceeds from issue of shares BITRRID TS 5RIE - 338,757
Interest paid BRFE (1,184) (134)
Principal portion of lease payments HENFHAS D (1,206) (1,388)
Repayment in amounts due to BEENRRKIE
shareholders - (117,561)
Share issue expenses BT - (21,075)
Consideration for shares repurchased LA &l O F (131,202) -
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from  REESEE) (Fr/A),/PriSFEE 4R
financing activities = (78,212) 200,723
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
nVT\ IE:@/JH:E'IEE

Year ended 31 December 2023 & Z= 2023 F 12 A 31 AL FE

2023 2022
2023 & 2022
notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B sE AR%ET T ARBT T
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) ReRBSESEYFEM
IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  (J@%) 200,726 (202,250)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning ~ #1384 MIREEEY
of year 149,041 333,340
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes,  [ER & EFH
net 1,755 17,951
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FREASRESEEY
AT END OF YEAR 24 351,522 149,041
ANALYSIS OF BALANCESOF CASH RERHESESEYERDOW
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances He RIRTTHEH 24 351,522 149,041
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BTSRRI RE

31 December 2023 20234 12 A 31 H

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Readboy Education Holding Company Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 8 February 2021 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Act
of the Cayman Islands. The registered address of the Company is
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box, 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year, the
Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) were principally
engaged in the production and sale of personal student tablets, digital
and smart classroom solutions, wearable products, other products
and advertisement and content licensing in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”).

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) on 12
July 2022.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Nominal value of

NEER

BEEBHEEREBRAR(ERAT DR
221 F2A8RRIERSHE R RELE
MEeERSaMKT RERRERAR -
NN B &Y & i Hb HE 7 54 Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO Box, 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands °

ARARR—HREZRAR - RAFE -
ARBIREF AR (FiHE [ AEEH])HER
EBREFEARLANRA([HEDEER
HESEFAFR  BERBERRIR
AFHER HUERALESKARRE
T o

KRR MDA 2022F7 A 12 B £ &8 Bt
ERGMERAT (TBRAT]) ER LT °
BHEFRAIZER

ARBEBFRABZFBHIINAT

Place and date of issued ordinary/
incorporation/establishment registered share Percentage of equity interest
Entity name and place of operations capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
HRRL/ RLEER BRTLER/
BRER MUK EELS ERBAEE FAREERERDL TEEH
Direct Indirect
HE GF3
% %
Readboy Education Group Limited British Virgin Islands (BVI") UsD1 100 - Investment holding
23 February 2021
Readboy Education Group Limited RERARES 9 100 - RAER
(ZREmREE))
202162A23A
Readboy Education (HK) Limited Hong Kong HKD10,000 - 100 Investment holding
5 March 2021
EENYE (B)BRAR Ek 10,0007 - 100 RAZR
202163758
Readboy Technology (Znhongshan) Company PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 - 100 Provision of
Limited (‘WFOE") 22 March 2021 management and
consultancy services
EEORE(RIL)ERAR(HEBELE]) BB/ RERY AR 20,000,000 7T - 100 RAVER R AR
2021637228
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) 1. DaElER @)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) BHEFRRIZER (#)

Nominal value of

Place and date of issued ordinary/
incorporation/establishment registered share Percentage of equity interest
Entity name and place of operations capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
HRRL/ RIEHR BRITRER,/
EREH RHUREELS EMRAEE RAREERERD L TEER
Direct Indirect
Ei GE3
% %
Readboy Educational Technology Company PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB87,333,333 - 100 Production and sale of
Limited (‘Readboy Technology’) 28 May 1999 Al'learning equipment
FERHENRARLT (REHPRE]) e/ RE R ARH87,333,333 7 - 100 EERHENSER
19994657280
Zhuhai Readboy Network Education Company PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 - 100 Production and provision
Limited (a)/(b) (‘Zhuhai Readboy’) 24 November 2017 of digital educational
resources and
services
KOEENEEHEERAR @)/ ([ KEREMN]) PE/ RENH AE#10,000,0007 - 100 SERRERT(HE
20175117248 BRI
Dream Exploration Technology (Zhongshan) PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Production and sale
Company Limited (a) (‘Zhongshan Dream”) 22 June 2020 of personal student
tablets
EERREM(RIL)BRARE ([PLEE]) B/ RER AR#1,000,0007 - 100 EERHEBEEAT
2020456 7228 R
Zhuhai Readboy Software Technology Company ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 - 100 Provision of software
Limited (a) (“Zhuhai Technology’) 8 January 2021 and information
services
KERERNGHHER AT @) ([HERE]) HE/RER AE#10,000,0007 - 100 RERHRESRE
2021451788
(Guangdong Readboy Future Technology Company ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMBS5,000,000 - 51 Technology promotion
Limited (a)/(c) (‘Readboy Future Technology’) 9 November 2022 services
BREZLARMBERRR @) e/ RE RS AR5,000,00070 - 51 Rl
([REBARRE)) 2022511 A9A
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) 1. DaElER @)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) BHEFLRIZER (#)

Nominal value of

Place and date of issued ordinary/
incorporation/establishment registered share Percentage of equity interest
Entity name and place of operations capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
HRRL/ RIEHR BRTLER/
EREH AMUREELS EMBRAEE RATEERER DL TEER
Direct Indirect
Ei GE3
% %

Readboy Information Technology (Hangzhou) PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 - 51 Provision of software
Company Limited (a)/(d) 16 November 2022 and information
(“Hangzhou Information Technology’) services

BEPEEME (M) BRAR @)/(d) BB/ RER AE#10,000,0007 - 51 RERHRESRE
(MMEERE]) 2002511 A 168

Guangdong Readboy Software Technology PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB2,000,000 - 100 Software development
Company Limited (a)/(f) 17 May 2023
("Guangzhou Technology’)

BIEEDSHRABRAR @/ (BN B/ RERH AR#2,000,0007 100 BHRE

2023557178

Readboy Digital Technology Company Limited PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 - 51 Software development
(a)/(d)/(f) (‘Readboy Digital Technology’) 19 May 2023

BELHTHHARDA @A/ e/ RE RS AK#50,000,0007C 51 LN
(FEERBEFRE]) 2023557 19A

Zhuhai Readboy Digital Technology Company PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB2,000,000 - 51 Software development
Limited (a)/(e)/(}) ("Zhuhai Readboy Digital 21 September 2023
Technology”)

KETEEDATHIERA @)V e/ ER ARH2,000,00070 51 LN
(IREEERHFHN ) 202359A21A
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Notes:

(@) The English names of these companies in the PRC represent the best
effort made by management of the Company to directly translate the
Chinese names as they did not register any official English names.

(b) This entity was controlled by the Company through the Contractual
Arrangements.

(©) This entity was an indirectly non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company which is owned as to 51% by Readboy Technology and 49%
by Mr. Lai Xiaobing, an independent third party.

(d) Hangzhou Information Technology was an wholly-owned subsidiary
of Readboy Digital Technology. Readboy Digital Technology was an
indirectly non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company which is
owned as to 51% by Readboy Technology and 49% by Zhuhai Yunshu
Education Technology Company Limited, an independent third party.

(e) This entity was an indirectly non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company which is owned as to 51% by Readboy Technology, 45% by
Hainan Yuhe Investment Company Limited and 4% by Mr. Lin Leiging,
both independent third parties.

(0] These subsidiaries were newly established during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.
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MNEBRRBESBAFTRENEE T
NAEl e BEBHFREARAF M HE
F2EFRAA ABEENREAEBS1%
X 38 37 88 = 75 Zhuhai Yunshu Education
Technology Company Limited 4 49% °

ZERBRARANEEIRZEFRF

B E R B 51% ~ Hainan Yuhe
Investment Company Limited & Lin
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1

Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (‘RMB”), and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;
(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

2. EETHER

2.1

RREE

HEFBRRCRIEE LGNS
([BEREHAAE ) RHENE LU
HEEL ([EBMBREE)) (82
EBEEMBRE LR - BEGT
R ([EBEFER ) R2E) R E
BRAMEGIH R ERE MRS © FRiE
ERANEER AR 2 E R SRR
BIRE RARBEFABRNSRE
BEMRZAABEFABZNSRE
ERAABEESN  WEF R
RIZELKAEDIRE - LAAREE
(TAR® 2% FRAEHAI - T
BEHEDEBREREO TR -

RAEMBRREEARRRETFAR
(A AEE]) HZE2023F12
A31HILEFEMNTBRE - FAF
ARNBAESMEEHNEE (8
FEHEEEETE)  EAEENSHE
BRERNRNERT D ZSBEZET
BRI WA FREENTZERIRE
NAEREHR (B 4E T A S E 3R aE

HESLEFINE N RNBEEENIR
BREFIE - NEERNBHEE EHIRE o

R—RIER T HFES BRI
THIHEZ T - EARARIRE DI
BRETARZEHFORIIALER - &
AEERGREBHWRETONED
B AREeEEMEREEERE
o B

(@) HRRETHMERREFAE
MBI ZHE

b) HEMAHTHELNERN @ &

(€) AEEHFRRENBERIRKE o
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.1

Basis of Preparation (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, and any
non-controlling interest; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in
profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to
profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)
2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to

Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules

The application of the new and revised to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and financial position for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.3 lIssued but not Yet Effective HKFRSs

The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs, that
have been issued but are not yet effective, in the consolidated
financial statements. The Group intends to apply these revised
HKFRSs, if applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of
HKAS 28 Assets between an
Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture®
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the “2020
Amendments”)" 4

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)"*

Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance

HKFRS 7 Arrangement’

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

4 As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022

Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised
to align the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the
impact of these revised HKFRSs upon initial application. So
far, the Group considers that these revised HKFRSs may result
in changes in accounting policies but are unlikely to have a
significant impact on the Group’s financial performance and
financial position.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies
Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described above.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. The
results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s profit or
loss to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company’s investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
any impairment losses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in
the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and investment
properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of
the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters
building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if
it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an
asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(@ the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;
or

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

()  the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies: (Continued)

(V)

(viil)

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 2.38% 10 2.71%
Plant and machinery 9.50%
Motor vehicles 19.00%
Electronic equipment 9.50% to 31.67%
Leasehold improvements 38.71%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income and/
or for capital appreciation. Such properties are measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for any
impairment in value. Depreciation is calculated on the straight-
line basis to write off the cost of investment properties to their
residual value over their estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Property and buildings 2.38% t0 2.71%

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised in the asset’s carrying
amount only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the costs of
the item can be measured reliably, otherwise, the expenditures
are recognised in profit or loss in the year in which they are
incurred.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Investment properties (Continued)

If an investment property becomes an owner-occupied
property, it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment, and
its carrying amount at the date of reclassification becomes its
cost for accounting purposes. If an item of property, plant and
equipment becomes an investment property because its use
has changed, the transfer does not change the carrying amount
of the property transferred, nor does it change the cost of that
property for measurement or disclosure purposes.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with
finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with
a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year
end.

Software

Purchased computer software is stated at cost less any
impairment losses and is amortised on a straight-line basis
over its estimated useful life of 5 years. The useful life of the
computer software is assessed by the Group considering the
purposes and usage of the software.

Copyrights
Copyrights are stated at cost less any impairment losses and

are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives of 2 to 5 years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)
2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources
to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the
amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Where applicable, the cost of a right-of-use asset also
includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset
or the site on which it is located. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets
as follows:

Office premises 2 to 8 years
Software 2 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

216 Readboy Education Holding Company Limited
Annual Report 2023

2.

ZETBER @)
2.4 BEREETEER (&)

A

=4¢ )

KEFERBAA ()

(b)

HERE

REERB B NEBERER
AHEBAEE M HEENR 2R
BEfEmHEEaE - HEMNK
BREEENK(BEEDEE
R)BEMEKREEESR - W
59%75§T§§Kﬁﬂ$ﬂ'\]ﬁf@$ﬂf§\ﬁ
AR TEHRTE RIS EEER
TS'U"JLEI’J%%E HENFKTE
EAEEASEMBE FITENE
BEEEITHEE - RMHERS
[RBR T AL BT B R
HE AIREBEEMmS X HH
SR o BB BT B Ik
B R PEURRIEEEF]
A S HEN KGN Z A
ﬁzw?%sﬁi(’

FRIERENTNRER -/
REEFFBRENFETZHE
T MASEFERERERE
AR g S ERFIE - 7EFE
REiz% HEAENLEE
FLA B REHEL #HE ML AT

th 89 TH A KA A /JX itk
S nFHEA B AEAER]
HENKESE (f ﬁﬂ%‘é%{‘iﬂ‘ :

MBS EBCRRBENKEE
HE)ABEAREENEEE
HEEAEE  HMEAGEMNK
EESEHTE -



Notes to the Financial Statements

B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)
(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of buildings (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the recognition exemption
for leases of low-value assets to leases of office
equipment and laptop computers that are considered to
be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted
for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included
in revenue in profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the
period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessor (Continued)

At the commencement date, the cost of the leased asset
is capitalised at the present value of the lease payments
and related payments (including the initial direct costs),
and presented as a receivable at an amount equal to the
net investment in the lease. The finance income on the net
investment in the lease is recognised in profit or loss so as to
provide a constant periodic rate of return over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash
flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling
the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding
to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other

comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading.
The classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument
basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established,
except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a
recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which
case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

220 Readboy Education Holding Company Limited
Annual Report 2023

2.

ZETBER @)
2.4 BEREETEER (&)

RERHMEREE (#)
RAENE

EREENRETEIRNEAT D
I

BEBIEKERTENZHBEE (18
HILA)

REHERATTENEREERLRER
ERFE LAY RAETE - BE
R ILFER - AERTSORER - e
BENIERER -

WIEERZ L BEIAAAME
Ea B EBEE (IREKE)

VIR TR - AN B AT T ] R
R E IR E DB AWIEE AIRA
REEFAEMEE WA RER
Z WREREFAB BT ER
FIRHEH LA J#HTHIREE
% BUIERIERE - pEhi%ER
TEEEEF -

ZET A EN W BB g3
BHET AR o BRI - iR
EREmTRERSEMEA - EEAR
SENMERKRE S RMEE—HHKA
M PTISRIRT R RIRRSN - Rt E
BAT @ ZFREREMEEEEA
iR - EEARAABEMARMEZE
Was BB E MR ERHEE

BASEBET ARG EBEE

BARBEFANBENSREELY
BIRRKARSEESR - MARE
BFELBNIRRHER -



Notes to the Financial Statements

B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)
2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statements of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and reward of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(‘ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial
assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at
the reporting date (but that are not purchased
or originated credit-impaired) and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
payables, interest-bearing bank borrowings and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of interest-bearing bank borrowing and payables, net
of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include interest-bearing bank
borrowings, trade payables, other payables and accruals,

amounts due to a related party.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the initial
date of recognition, and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are
satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss, except
for the gains or losses arising from the Group’s own credit risk
which are presented in other comprehensive income with no
subsequent reclassification to profit or loss. The net fair value
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other

payables, amounts due to a related party and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, amounts due to a related party and borrowings)
(Continued)

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or
loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original
liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised directly
in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own
equity instruments.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and,
in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly
liquid deposits with a maturity of generally within three months
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate
asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The
expense relating to a provision is presented in profit or loss net
of any reimbursement.
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31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Provisions (Continued)

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the sale of
devices for general repairs of defects occurring during the
warranty period. Provisions for these assurance-type warranties
granted by the Group are initially recognised based on sales
volume and past experience of the level of repairs and returns,
discounted to their present values as appropriate. The warranty-
related cost is revised annually.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each of the
reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations
and practises prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences as at the end of each of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss
and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed as at
the end of each of the reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed as
at the end of each of the reporting period and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of each of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received,
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Government grants (Continued)

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved. Some contracts for the sale of goods
provide customers with deductions, which give rise to variable
consideration.

Rebates may be provided to certain customers to support their
sales activities. Rebates are offset against amounts payable
by the customers. To estimate the variable consideration
for the expected rebates, the Group applies the most likely
amount method which best predicts the amount of variable
consideration which usually is a fixed percentage of cash
collection amount as agreed in the contract. The Group then
applies the requirements on constraining estimates of variable
consideration and the expected future rebates are deducted
from receivables from customers.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)
2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a) Sale of personal student tablets and digital and smart

classroom solutions

The Group provides personal student tablets and digital
and smart classroom solutions that include devices
together with the provision of digital educational resources
and services to the customer. Contracts for bundled
sale of devices and digital educational resources and
services comprise two performance obligations because
the promises to transfer the devices and provide digital
educational resources and services are capable of
being distinct and separately identifiable. Accordingly,
the transaction price is allocated to each performance
obligation based on the relative stand-alone selling prices
of the devices and digital educational resources and
services.

Revenue from the sale of devices is recognised at the
point in time when control of the personal student tablets
is transferred to the customers. A significant part of the
Group’s products is sold to distributors who have primary
responsibilities for products to be sold in their designated
geographical areas. The control of the products is
transferred when goods are accepted by the distributors.
The Group also sells its product to end users over third-
party online retail platforms. The control of products is
transferred when online payment transaction is completed
and goods are accepted by the end users.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a) Sale of personal student tablets and digital and smart

classroom solutions (Continued)

Revenue from the provision of digital educational
resources and services is recognised over the estimated
user life on a straight-line basis, starting from the point
when control of the personal student tablets and digital
and smart classroom solutions is transferred to the
customers. The Group estimates the user life and re-
assesses such period at the end of each reporting period.

(b)  Sale of wearable products and other products

Revenue from the sale of wearable products and other
products is recognised at the point in time when control of
the products is transferred to the customer, that is when
the products are accepted by the customers.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(c)  Sale of advertisement and content licensing

The Group places links in the apps of the customers on
the devices sold by the Group. The Group collects a fee
based on the fixed price per click or download as agreed
in the contract with the customers and number of clicks
performed by the end users. Monthly statements are
issued and agreed by both parties to confirm the volume
of actual clicks or downloads and the revenue amount.

The Group licenses pre-recorded digital educational
resources to third-party channels which place the digital
educational resources on their platforms to sell to the end
users. When the users purchase the digital educational
resources from the platforms, the Group is entitled to a
prescribed fixed percentage of gross proceeds collected
by the channels. The Group views the channels as its
customers as the channels control the digital educational
resources and have the primary responsibility to sell the
digital educational resources to the users. The Group
recognises the net amount remitted from the channels
as revenue based on the monthly statement issued and
confirmed by the platforms.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Other income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised on an
accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or
services to the customer).
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31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Employee benefits
Social pension plan

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Chinese Mainland are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
The subsidiaries operating in Chinese Mainland are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the
central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the central pension scheme.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of each reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
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31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly affect
the determination of the amount and timing of revenue from contracts
with customers:

(@

Identifying performance obligations in a bundled sale of

devices and digital educational resources and services

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct
if both of the following criteria are met: (a) the customer can
benefit from the good or service either on its own or together
with other resources that are readily available to the customer;
and (b) the entity’s promise to transfer the good or service to
the customer is separately identifiable from other promises in
the contract. The Group determined that both devices and
digital educational resources and services are each capable of
being distinct.

In assessing whether each item has a stand-alone value to the
customer, the Group considers factors such as the availability
of readily available resources in the market and whether the
entity sells goods or services separately, which indicate that the
customer can benefit from both devices and digital educational
resources and services on their own.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 3.

ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

Identifying performance obligations in a bundled sale of
devices and digital educational resources and services
(Continued)

The Group determined that the promises to provide digital
educational resources are not distinct from the maintenance
and renewal services as the customer cannot exploit the value
of the digital educational resources without receipt of such
maintenance and renewal services. Therefore, the provision of
digital educational resources and the maintenance and renewal
services are consolidated as one performance obligation. The
Group concluded that the promises to transfer devices and to
provide digital educational resources and services are distinct.
The device is separately identifiable in the contract and will be
transferred upon the acceptance by customers. The digital
educational resources represent academic curriculum offerings
which are not an integrated part of the device. The Group is not
providing a significant integration service because the presence
of the devices and digital educational resources and services
together in the contract does not result in any additional
functionality and neither the device nor the digital educational
resources modifies or customises the other. In addition, the
devices and the digital educational resources and services are
not highly interdependent or highly interrelated, because the
delivery of device is not dependent on the digital educational
resources and services to be provided in the future. Therefore,
the devices and provision of digital educational resources and
services are two separate performance obligations.

Consequently, the Group has allocated the transaction price
to devices and digital educational resources and services
based on relative stand-alone selling prices. The stand-alone
selling prices are not directly observable; and therefore the
Group estimates it using expected cost plus margin approach.
The Group has considered all information that is reasonably
available, including but not limited to, third-party or industry
pricing, costs incurred to provide the good or service, related
profit margins.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(b) Determining the timing of satisfaction of digital educational

resources and services

The Group concluded that revenue from the provision of digital
educational resources and services is recognised over time
because the user is granted a right to access digital educational
resources embedded in the devices and is provided with
continuing maintenance and renewal services over the user
life. The Group uses the average user life when estimating the
period over which revenue is being recognised.

The Group tracks each user’s log in history to estimate the
average user life. The determination of the average user life for
each type of products is based on the Group’s best estimate
that takes into account all known and relevant information at
the time of assessment. Future user classifications, patterns
and behaviours may differ from the historical usage patterns
and therefore the estimated average user life may change in
the future. The Group will continue to monitor the estimated
average user life, which may differ from the historical period,
and any change in the estimate may result in the revenue being
recognised on a different basis to that in prior periods.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied

properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment
property and has developed criteria in making that judgement.
Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of the other
assets held by the Group. Some properties comprise a portion
that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another
portion that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. If these portions could be
sold separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could
not be sold separately, the property is an investment property only if
an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made
on an individual property basis to determine whether ancillary services
are so significant that a property does not qualify as an investment
property.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax liabilities have been established for withholding taxes
that would be payable on certain profits of the subsidiaries in the PRC
to be repatriated and distributed by way of dividends as the directors
consider that the timing of the reversal of the related temporary
differences can be controlled and such temporary differences will
not be reversed in the foreseeable future. The plan of the distribution
of dividends is influenced by projected future market and economic
conditions and future financing requirements of the Group. If these
undistributed earnings of subsidiaries in the PRC are considered to
be repatriated and distributed by way of dividends, the deferred tax
charge and deferred tax liabilities would have been recognised.
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PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets as at the end of each reporting period.
The non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data
from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value-in-use calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant and

equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values of items of property,
plant and equipment, the Group has to consider various factors, such
as the expected usage of the asset, expected physical wear and tear,
care and maintenance of the asset, and legal or similar limits on the
use of the asset. The estimation of the useful life of the asset is based
on the experience of the Group with similar assets that are used in
a similar way. Additional depreciation is made if the estimated useful
lives and/or residual values of items of property, plant and equipment
are different from previous estimation. Useful lives and residual values
are reviewed as at the end of the reporting period. Further details of
property, plant and equipment are set out in note 13 to the financial
statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables,

prepayments, other receivables and other assets

The provision rate of receivables is made based on assessment of
their recoverability and ageing analysis of receivables as well as other
quantitative and qualitative information based on management’s
judgement and assessment of the forward-looking information. At
each reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated
and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant
estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances
and of forecast economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit
loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of a debtor’s actual default in the future. The
information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables and
other receivables is disclosed in notes 21 and 22 to the financial
statements, respectively.
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244

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary difference can be
utilised. The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset will be reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to enable the asset to be recovered. Any such
reduction must be reversed if it subsequently becomes probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available.

Significant management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future
tax planning strategies. Further details are contained in note 10 and
note 17 to the financial statements.

Warranty provisions

The Group makes provisions for the warranties it gives on the sale of
its products, taking into account the Group’s current sales levels and
past experience of the level of repairs. As the Group is continually
upgrading its product designs and launching new products, it is
possible that the past experience of the level of repairs and returns
is not indicative of future claims that it will receive in respect of past
sales. Any increase or decrease in the actual claims would affect profit
or loss in future years.

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value

The Group, pursuant to the accounting policy for inventories, writes
down inventories from cost to net realisable value and makes
provision against obsolete and slow-moving items by using the lower
of cost and net realisable value rule. The assessment of the write-
down required involves management’s judgement and estimates.
Where the actual outcome or expectation in future is different from the
original estimate, the differences will have an impact on the carrying
amounts of inventories and the write-down of inventories in the period
in which the estimate has been changed. As at 31 December 2023,
the carrying amount of inventories was RMB196,558,000 (2022:
RMB246,715,000).
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B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and has five reportable operating
segments as follows:

(@)

Production and sale of personal student tablets;

Production and sale of digital and smart classroom solutions;

Production and sale of wearable products;

Production and sale of other products; and

Advertisement and content licensing.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource
allocation and performance assessment. Segment result is evaluated
based on gross profit. No analysis of segment assets and liabilities is
presented as management does not regularly review such information
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (ontinuea) 4. EEDEER @)

Segment revenue and results DEBURA R FELE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by AT B 235D 5HEH A A S Bl &
reportable segment: BN
Year ended 31 December 2023 BZE2023F12A31 HLLEE
Digital
Personal  and smart Advertisement
student  classroom Wearable Other and content
tablets solutions products products licensing Total
YERE EER
BEFATLR BRER  TREER HitEm NERE fit

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR®TR AREMTR AR®TR ARMTR ARETR

Segment revenue (note 5) AR (FizE5)
Sales to external customers HETHHEP 313,132 10,080 8,724 15,499 11,937 359,372
Segment results PHEE 78,299 2,035 40 1,801 10,246 92,421
Reconciliation: 8k
Other income and gains L LN 44,195
Seling and distribution expenses HERTHEES (80,778)
Administrative expenses THFER (39,284)
Impairment losses on financial assets ~ ERAEREEE (3,652)
Research and development expenses TR (43,030)
Other expenses A% (10,880)
Finance costs AR (1,184)
Changes in fair value of BAREBET RN

financial assets at fair value SRHEENDAEE

through profit or loss 28 (19,116)
Loss before tax BAIEE (61,308)
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31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continueq) 4. &N INER @)

Segment revenue and results (Continued) DEURA R ELE ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 BZ2022F12A31HIEFEE
Digital
and smart Advertisement
Personal classroom Wearable Other  and content
student tablets solutions products products licensing Total
HERE EER
BEEATR BRAR  UFEER EthER NARIE &

RMBO0O ~ RMBO00 ~ RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBO0O  RMBIO0O
ARRTRL  ARBTT ARBTL ARETR ARETR ARETR

Segment revenue (note 5) AHBA (H5E5)
Sales to external customers BEFIBEP 522,166 15,99 26,985 29,102 11,658 605,210
Segment results PHEE 108,234 3,339 4,059 9,161 9,424 134,217
Reconciliation: HE
Other income and gains E RIS 69,107
Seling and distribution expenses HERBHERS (96,404)
Administrative expenses THA% (54,406)
Impairment losses on financial assets ~~ EREAERERR (1679)
Research and development expenses ~ HTEFIX (37922
Other expenses AthFx (22,161)
Finance costs FITRRKAR (134)
Changes in fair value of RAAEETNEEN
financial assets/liabilties at falr value SREE/BEHIN
through profit or loss EE% 20,111
Profit before tax BATRIE 10,729
Geographical information =& R
During the year, the Group operated within one geographical location MAFEE  AEBR—EbRLEET
as all of its revenues were generated in the PRC and all of its long- EARAEEZHRAGRAEES - B
term assets/capital expenditures were located/incurred in the PRC. HeRRBEE BAZHAMRRE
Accordingly, no further geographical information is presented. PE - AL WEE S 2R EE -
Information about major customers EBFrEEFPNER
No revenue from the sale of goods or provision of services to a single RBEHRE  ME-FPHEMMmIIEH
customer amounted to 10% or more of the total revenue for the BRASEIUAID AR IZFN U A RI10%SK A L o

reporting period.
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PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA ~ EtIi AR &=
An analysis of revenue is as follows: BEAWARSTFTAT :
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREFIT
Devices B 215,573 396,157
Digital educational resources and  EF(LHEHE IR TR
services 97,559 126,009
Personal student tablets B i A F AR 313,132 522,166
Devices B 5,954 10,574
Digital educational resources and H T EE IR ARTS
services 4,126 4,725
Digital and smart classroom HERBEFERTE
solutions 10,080 15,299
Wearable products Al FHEM 8,724 26,985
Other products HAthZEm 15,499 29,102
Advertissment and content BEE RARRRE
licensing 11,937 11,658
359,372 605,210
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B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS contivegy 5. WA ~ IR A K K # )

Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEREWA
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (@) PBEBRAER
2023 2022
2023 &£ 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥®TR ARBT T

Types of goods or services BmEREER
Sale of goods EEREE
Devices B 221,527 406,731
Wearable products A ZFEEm 8,724 26,985
Other products HthEm 15,499 29,102
245,750 462,818
Provision of services AR 14
Digital educational resources and ~ EFLHE ERFARTE
services 101,685 130,734
Advertisement and content BE RNE R
licensing 11,937 11,658
113,622 142,392
Total revenue from contracts with ~ 2RE &P & RIEVAEIKA
customers 359,372 605,210
Timing of revenue recognition WA K
Goods transferred at a point in time 7 5 — i il B #5860 7 o 245,750 462,818
Services transferred at a point in PO — R Bh B R A AR TS
time 11,937 12,519
Services transferred over time BE I B R ) AR 7S 101,685 129,873
Total revenue from contracts with ~ 2RB &P & RV A
customers 359,372 605,210
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PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS contives) 5. WA ~ EBUT A K UK =)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) REZFERMWA (#)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (a) DBBAER (&)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised TRETNAREHEERNEAS
in the current reporting period that were included in the contract B MxSBABEREHVAS
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period: ABE:
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARBTTT

Revenue recognised that was FEFFAERBENRRBA
included in contract liabilities
at the beginning of the year:

Devices B 6,084 8,310
Digital educational resources and  EXF(LZE B R ARS

services 89,961 110,933
Total st 96,045 119,243
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B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

5. WA ~ HABURA RIS o
BRI

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

(b) Performance obligations (b)

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of devices, wearable products and other products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon acceptance of the
goods by the customers and payment is generally due within 30
days from delivery, except for extended credit terms for several
distributors to explore new business initiatives and potential
monetisation opportunities, or direct sales to end users where
payment in advance is normally required. Some contracts with
the distributors contain terms for sales rebates which give rise
to variable consideration subject to constraint.

Digital educational resources and services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are
rendered and payment is generally made upfront together with
the sale of the devices.

Advertisement

The performance obligation is satisfied when the services are
rendered and the consideration is based on an agreed unit price
and the volume of clicks or downloads. The payment is made
on monthly basis when the monthly statement is received and
confirmed.

Content licensing

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time when
the control of digital educational resources is transferred to the
customer but revenue is only determinable when the monthly
statement is issued and confirmed.
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31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS contiuegy 5. WA ~ EUR A K IR Z )

(b) Performance obligations (Continued) (b) BHE#)
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining M12A31 8 DEEFBEHNES
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as (REITHED REIT)MR ZHERS
at 31 December are as follows: BT
2023 2022
2023 2022 FF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARET T

Amounts expected to be TE B HER B A R S 58
recognised as revenue:
Within one year —F A 72,288 98,619
After one year — & 17,264 32,026
Total @5t 89,552 130,645
Digital educational resources and services are sold in a bundle B CHEHERMRIE LR B EH
with devices for which considerations from customers are B BP BRI RMER Y
normally paid when devices are delivered. Revenue from digital & - REHTLHEE R AR
educational resources and services is recognised on straight- AR BEBEREF AL B F e
line basis over the estimated user life. R o
The transaction price associated with unsatisfied or partially BRARBITRH D RBITHRAER
unsatisfied performance obligations does not include variable HRZ BERTEIEZ R I ZEE -

consideration that is constrained.
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B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS contivegy 5. WA ~ IR A K K # )

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows: EWARREHAITIT
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BiEE ARET T ARBTT

Sale of raw materials and accessory R #H KA $EE

parts 13,587 26,575
Rental income on investment REMERBZENES WA

properties and equipment 2,090 2,054
Bank and a related party interest 1T R B 5 A2 A

income 13,066 7,732
Investment income from structured A& IEFREVIRE A

deposits - 804
Net foreign exchange differences SFINEE H Z 8 6,486 17,951
Repair and maintenance service HEE AR E RIS A

income 383 875
Government grants PGSRz (@) 2,009 3,212
Value-added tax refund REBER 4,210 8,498
Finance income on the net HEFRENTBRA

investment in a lease 39 74
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries &2 A1 #F R 241 -
Others Hith 2,084 1,332
Total other income and gains EAUA RIS 4258 44,195 69,107

Note: B EE -
(@ There are no unfulfiled conditions or contingencies related to (@ A BURHHBN M AR E A R R S B
these government subsidies. BRI -
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31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

6. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. Bial(E&8E), FHE
The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ REEMF A (BE) /FBTMEg (G
(crediting): A AT EIEEES
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BisE AREET T ARBET T
Cost of devices, wearable products &% * A SRREUE G N H
and other products E KA 214,455 427 677
Cost of digital educational H T HEEE R ARTFA AR
resources and services 50,805 41,082
Cost of advertisement and content & & KX AR KA
licensing 1,691 2,234
Research and development FTEF ()
expenses (a) 87,201 75,398
Employee benefit expense EERAMAI(TEREESR
(excluding directors’ and chief BREMTEHH) (:ES) -
executive officer’s remuneration)
(note 8):
Wages and salaries ITERF® 69,058 62,774
Pension scheme contributions, BN FHEMER - L 2EF
social welfare and other welfare FEMEF 5,132 5,657
Total employee benefit expense (o) & B 1&H 5 2 4258 (b) 74,190 68,431

Depreciation of property, plant and ~ #13 B MR EHITE ()

equipment (c) 13 4,302 4,277
Depreciation of investment WEYEITE ()

properties (c) 14 386 387
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {£R#EEEHTE ()

(©) 15(a) 1,358 1,386
Amortisation of other intangible HihfmR & E#HE ()

asset (c) 16 4,036 5,694
Impairment of trade receivables, B S MEWGRIA - AR

prepayments, other receivables HAbEUGIA R H A& =

and other assets VERIE] 3,652 1,679
Write-down of inventories to net FEMURZE R #IRFE ()

realisable value (d) 11,981 368
Net foreign exchange differences SRHNETE H Z 58 (6,486) (17,951)
Listing expenses X = 21,587
Auditor’s remuneration AT EmET 1,812 2,000
Product warranty provision EmRISRE 26(i) 22,481 20,184
Net loss on disposal of items of LEWE - BERRHEEED

property, plant and equipment SREE - 397
Net gain on disposal of items of & AREEEEE /) FIlE

right-of-use assets - (101)
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial BANBEFABENER

assets/liabilities at fair value BE/BENANEBEEER

through profit or loss (Yez=) 19,116 (20,111)
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B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

6. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continueq)

(@) Included in cost of sales and administrative expenses.

(b) Included in cost of sales, selling and distribution expenses,
administrative expenses, research and development expenses.

(©) Included in cost of sales, selling and distribution expenses,
administrative expenses, research and development expenses, and

other expenses.

(d) Included in cost of sales.

7. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

Fia (&1]),/FiE a

(@)

)

(©

@

SEARERA RATHF ©

FTASHEANRA - $HE RS - 1THR
SRR o

FTASHEANRA - $HE RS - 1THR
S BRER s REMAES -

FEASBERA

B AAR

BTSRRI AT
2023 2022
2023 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARBTT

Interest on bank loans IRITE TS 1,044 _
Interest on lease liabilities HEAERNES 140 134
Total #mEt 1,184 134
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31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

8. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S 8. EEN EHEHTE T

REMUNERATION

AEEEENRESTRABHFNEE L™
A FEQEMEH%E383(1)@) -~ (b) * (o)
ROER AT (HEESFZZER) BHIFH

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies

(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is QEI R ¢
as follows:
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Fees we 160 76
Other emoluments: Efie -
Salaries, allowances and benefits e EMREDET
in kind 1,927 1,525
Pension scheme contributions RIREETEIER 35 43
Subtotal NEE 1,962 1,568
Total wmEt 2,122 1,644

() BUFAITES

(a) Independent non-executive directors

AEEXNTEIIFRTEENEE

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during

the year were as follows: Ul
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
Prof. Li Renfa OB 80 38
Mr. Li Xinshou THELE 80 38
Ms. Kong Fanhua EELL - _
Total @5t 160 76

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent

non-executive directors during the year (2022: Nil).
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31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

8. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S 8. EENEEHITETHM =

REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b) MITEE  FHITEERES

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and the

chief executive THAE
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees inkind  contributions remuneration
E2 3 - 1: EBik&
we REMER HE L8N Rk
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR%T R AR®TR AR®T R
2023 2023 F
Executive directors: HITES .
Ms. Liu Zhilan BIEM Tt = 635 13 648
Mr. Deng Denghui illeoy i = 460 7 467
Subtotal NEF - 1,095 20 1,115
Non-executive directors:  FHITES :
Mr. Chen Zhiyong PREFBELE - - - -
Mr. Shen Jianfei hRIR A - - - _
Subtotal R = = = =
Chief executive: BETHAR :
Mr. Qin Shuguang RIS = 832 15 847
Total #aET - 1,927 35 1,962

EENHBERERAT 257
2023 F FEHE



Notes to the Financial Statements

PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

8. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S 8. EENEHEHITEHM =

REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b) MITEE - FHITEERES

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and the

chief executive(Continued) THAER (#)
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind contributions remuneration
o 2R RiRE
we REVRH FHEIfHR B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETIT ARET T ARETIT ARETIT
2022 2022 F
Executive directors: HITES .
Ms. Liu Zhilan BIEm T+ - 345 14 359
Mr. Chen Jiafeng* PRZR I o A - 331 7 338
Mr. Deng Denghui BE B & - 369 7 376
Subtotal INEE - 1,045 28 1,073
Non-executive directors:  FFHITES :
Mr. Chen Zhiyong PREBESLLE - - - _
Mr. Shen Jianfei LRI AE - _ _ _
Subtotal INEF - - _ _
Chief executive: BETHAE :
Mr. Qin Shuguang REESL - 480 15 495
Total HEt - 1,525 43 1,568
. Mr. Chen Jiafeng resigned as an executive director on 5 * PREXIE L A 7220229 12 A 5 A B

December 2022. ARITES -

RAFE  BEHZETHRAEMRE
RIBE A L BERE ok R B A E Al 5
B (2022 4F : 4%) o

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the year (2022: Nil).
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included 3 directors
(2022: 2), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above.
Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining 2 (2022: 3)
highest paid employees who are not a director nor chief executive

hEB=#HEE

RAEE hEmenEEEEIRES
(20224 : 2%) - HEHBFFBEHN LXMW
8 MAFE - Hfr2% (20224 - 34)
YIHRARREZTLEFEATENRS

officer of the Company are as follows: EEMHFMFEOT :

2023 2022
2023 &£ 2022 &
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT

Salaries, allowances and benefits e EMREYEF
in kind 1,128 1,636
Pension scheme contributions RIREETEIMHR 14 21
Total wEt 1,142 1,657

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following band is as
follows:

FENEN THAR M EER RIFRRITH

ABEMREFHEEABMT

Number of employees

EBEAE
2023 2022
2023 2022 £
Nil to RMB1,000,000 Tz AR 1,000,000 7T 2 3
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10. INCOME TAX 10. PT18%

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of the
Group are domiciled and operate.

Cayman Islands

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Act of the
Cayman lIslands and, accordingly, it is not subject to income tax from
businesses carried out in the Cayman Islands.

British Virgin Islands

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of BVI, the subsidiary
incorporated in the BVI is not subject to any income tax.

Hong Kong

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group
did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
the year (2022: Nil).

Chinese Mainland

All of the Group’s subsidiaries which registered in the PRC and have
operations in Chinese Mainland are subject to PRC enterprise income
tax on the taxable income as reported in their PRC statutory accounts
adjusted in accordance with relevant PRC income tax laws based on
a statutory rate of 25%.

Pursuant to relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and with
approval from the tax authorities in charge, one of the Group’s
subsidiaries, Readboy Educational Technology Company Limited (&
EHERAR AT, “Readboy Technology’), is qualified as a
high and new technology enterprise and entitled to a preferential tax
rate of 15% from January 2021 to December 2023.
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31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

10. INCOME TAX (Continued) 10. FrS 8 e
Chinese Mainland (Continued) R A i ()
Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and with IR IR A BIAR B A A IR SR JE R 7% X & BT
approval from the tax authorities in charge, one of the Group’s ol AEE—RFRBIKEES B
subsidiaries Zhuhai Readboy Software Technology Company Limited BMEERAF(®RERE) BREESL
EREEZR AR AR A A, “Zhuhai Technology”), is entitled to JERBFBEE TR - FMTER RN
an exemption from income tax for the first two years, commencing S WERRERE=FZEMEERA
from the first year that it generates taxable profit, and a deduction of %50% ° ALt - HREEREME - EX
50% on the income tax rate for the following three years. Therefore, HZE2023F12A31HILFEEEETA
for Zhuhai Technology, it was entitled to a preferential tax rate of 12.5% MW E BT XK LA E £2022F12 A
12.5% for the year ended 31 December 2023 and income tax J1BEIEFEBERZARBMEN -

exemption for the year ended 31 December 2022.

2023 2022
2023 2022 &
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Current income tax — BIERPTIS T — A

Chinese Mainland 68 _
Deferred (note 17) PRAE (BIFE17) 11,162 5,873
Total tax expense for the year FRNLEBIAR X 11,230 5,873
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10. PT15%E )

BARBREKRED FRARMEBRRAE
EB R EOBATEE, MENHIRRMX
EZERB R EORBE RO - A
FEMBER (AVAERR ) BERB R

10. INCOME TAX (continueq)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss/profit before
tax at the statutory rates for the countries in which the Company and
the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax credit at the
effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the

statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows: BRANE
2023 2023 £
Chinese Mainland Cayman Islands Total
HE R BEHE At
RMB’000 % RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
ARETR ARETR ARBT
Loss before tax HEEE (52,698) (8,610) (61,308)
Tax at the statutory tax rate h‘??ﬁﬂé% ;%CWI,E (13,175) 25.0 - - (13,175) 215
Lower tax rates for specific provinces ~ FFE A 377 07
or enacted by local authority #lE E’\J%ﬂﬁfﬂ% 5,637 (10.7) = = 5,637 9.2)
Expenses not deductible for tax R EMBANREY 237 (0.4) - - 237 (0.4)
Research and development super BiEIRElS
deduction \ o (7,299) 13.9 - - (7,299) 11.9
Reversal of defer tax assets of tax ﬁﬁf\figﬁﬁﬁﬂlﬁfgﬂﬁﬁ’\]
losses recognised in previous years iﬁﬁwﬁﬁé?ﬁﬁ 6,393 (12.1) 6,393 (104)
Tax losses not recognised RERHEBE 19,437 (37.0) = = 19,437 (31.7)
Tax expense at the Group’s effective Tﬁ@%?ﬁ%)‘%%ﬁﬁ@
rate BIEZ 11,230 (21.3) = = 11,230 (183)
2022 2022 F
Chinese Mainland Cayman Islands Total
HEIAH FEHS Bt
RMB'000 % RMB'000 % RMB'000 %
ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT
(Loss)/profit before tax Ha(B8) /7 (8,001) 18,730 10,729
Tax at the statutory tax rate h?iﬁﬁé%ﬁéﬁéig@ﬁl&i (2,000) 25.0 - - (2,000) (18.6)
Lower tax rates for specific provinces e & 3Ty
or enacted by local authority %\JE#\J@%% (14,792) 184.9 - - (14,792) (137.9)
Expenses not deductible for tax A EMBANRY 51 06) - - 51 05
Research and development super el
deduction o (4.275) 534 - - (4.275) (39.8)
Tax losses not recognised RERHESE 26,889 (336.0) - - 26,889 250.6
Tax expense at the Group’s effective Tﬁ@%?ﬂ?ﬁfﬁ%ﬁﬁ’\]
rate BIEZ 5,873 (73.9) - - 5873 54.8
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11.

12.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was proposed during the year (2022: Nil).

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic loss (2022: earnings) per share amount
is based on the loss (2022: profit) for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 342,255,565 (2022: 314,503,150), for the purpose
of computing basic loss (2022: earnings) per share.

The calculation of the diluted loss/earnings per share amount is
based on the loss/profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent, adjusted to reflect the changes in fair value of
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (see below). The
weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation
is the number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used
in the basic loss/earnings per share calculation, and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at
no consideration on the deemed conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

1.

12.

Iz =

FAEERIRERE (20224 « ) -

SRREREREREE A
LR (BE) &R

FREAREE(2022F : BA) &5 E
REARTBERERFEAREFANE
$8(2022F : FI)H) A RFTESRERNE
1B (2022 %F : BF)) ML @I INMEF I
342,255,565 1% (2022 4F : 314,503,150 %)
FTE o

FREEER BANSENERGRRE
BREREE ARGFAEBE B
5 A TUABRURBIZAEES AR
SNERAENAABERZH (R TX) -
ATEEATANERRINEF R STESF
NE MR EAREE, BN P A 69 i AR
B UYRRRABECHEEBRRRER
SR EaRFERTRERTERRD
IREFI9ER -
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12. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE

12. B AR EERERFEEA
FEIEER (E58) " BR @)

PARENT (continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted loss/earnings per share are BREAREEEE RFTDERTIE
based on: T E -
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
(Loss)/earnings (&18) /&R
(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary T EEREZAR (E18) BFIEATAK
equity holders of the parent, AR L BERESFE ARG (B8)
used in the basic (loss)/earnings I
per share calculation (71,447) 5,209
Less: Changes in fair value of B BARBEAEENERAED
financial liabilities at fair NAEEZS
value through profit or loss - 3,635
(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary  ZAEBEFAEZNSEEBEN AL
equity holders of the parent before  (BEZERTRA R EBRERTE AEN
changes in fair value of financial (&518) /FH
liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss (71,447) 1,574
Number of shares
RHEE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Shares Bty
Weighted average number of HEEREAKREE BFEAERLN
ordinary shares in issue during FRDEITE B INETFIIE
the year used in the basic loss/
earnings per share calculation 342,255,565 314,503,150
Effect of dilution-weighted average BRMETFHENEELE
number of ordinary shares:
Ordinary shares with redemption A DR ) AR
right - 10,000,960
Total 5T 342,255,565 324,504,110
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y13 - BENZE
31 December 2023 202312 H 31 H
Plant and Motor Electronic Leasehold
Buildings  machinery vehicles  equipment improvements Total
BT BERESE BaRE BEF#RE HELE @it

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARBTR ARBTR AR®TR ARETR ARET:R

At 1 January 2023: 2023 F1 AR -
Cost A 39,397 13,957 770 14,826 - 68,950
Accumulated ZEHTE
depreciation (6,966) (6,536) (693) (9,615) - (23,810)
Net carrying amount FEFE 32,431 7,421 77 5,211 - 45,140
At 1 January 2023, 202351 A1H
net of accumulated MR EHTE
depreciation 32,431 7,421 77 5,211 - 45,140
Additions RE 468 48 368 1,513 1,571 3,968
Disposal of subsidiaries PETAT = — = (22) - (22)
Depreciation provided FRFERE
during the year (985) (1,308) (©1) (1,867) (51) (4,302)

At 31 December 2023, R2023F12A318
net of accumulated M ERHE

depreciation 31,914 6,161 354 4,835 1,520 44,784

At 31 December 2023; 2023512 A31A -

Cost KA 39,865 14,005 1,138 16,309 1,571 72,888
Accumulated 2EHE

depreciation (7,951) (7,844) (784) (11,474) (51) (28,104)
Net carrying amount FHEFE 31,914 6,161 354 4,835 1,520 44,784
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

31 December 2022

202212 A31H

13. Y% ~ BENRRE @

Plant and Motor Electronic
Buildings  machinery vehicles  equipment Total
BFY mEhigxr  EnHm#E  BTRE mEt
RVMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBFIL AREBTLT ARETLT ARETLT ARETL
At 1 January 2022: M2022F1H18 :
Cost BEN 39,397 13,957 770 13,863 67,987
Accumulated depreciation ZETE (5,997) (5,210) (583) (7,744) (19,534)
Net carrying amount REHE 33,400 8,747 187 6,119 48,453
At 1 January 2022, R202251 /18
net of accumulated B E25HTE
depreciation 33,400 8,747 187 6,119 48,453
Additions NE - - - 1,387 1,387
Disposals HE - - - (423) (423)
Depreciation provided FRFTERE
during the year (969) (1,326) (110) (1,872) 4,277)
At 31 December 2022, M2022F 12 4318
net of accumulated M REE
depreciation 32,431 7,421 7 5,211 45,140
At 31 December 2022: 20226128318 :
Cost BEN 39,397 13,957 770 14,826 68,950
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (6,966) (6,536) (693) (9,615) (23,810)
Net carrying amount REFE 32,431 7,421 77 5,211 45,140
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

14. IREY

2023 2022
2023 2022 £
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARBTT

Net carrying amount at 1 January 241 A1 BEVEREHE 13,219 13,606
Depreciation provided FRITERE

during the year (386) (387)
Net carrying amount at ®»12 A 31 BREREFE

31 December 12,833 18,219
Cost PR 16,261 16,261
Accumulated depreciation REFE (3,428) (3,042)
Net carrying amount at R12 A 31 BRERMFE

31 December 12,833 13,219

As at 31 December 2023, the fair values of the investment properties
were estimated to be approximately RMB21,590,000 (2022:

RMB23,770,000).

The valuation was performed by an independent professionally
qualified valuer, Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory
Limited. Selection criteria of the external valuer include market
knowledge, reputation, independence and whether professional
standards are maintained. The Group’s property manager and the
chief financial officer have discussions with the valuer on the valuation
assumptions and valuation results when the valuation is performed.
The valuation was determined using the income approach and the
discounted cash flow method. The most significant inputs into this
valuation approach are estimated rental value, rental growth, vacancy
rate and discount rate. The fair value measurement hierarchy of the
investment property requires certain significant unobservable inputs

(Level 3).

The investment properties are leased to third parties under operating
leases, further summary details of which are included in note 15 to

the financial statements.

R2023F 12 A31H  BEMENAAE
Efhst4 A AREE21,590,0007T (20224 -
AR 23,770,0007T) °

HMERBYEXSERGEMPEHTD
¥E RFEABRARIELT o B INEB
EMMZEEREMISAG &2 Byt
NREBRFFEEKFE - AEEMELSER
HR % E B EME T ERNGE
BEREGELERET R o HEEAKA
ENFBRREREEAET - WEHBEEF &
BANHARE AMGTHEE S LE -
CERRIER - WEMENANEE
EEREEFEAETERNTAEREAK
B(E=H) -

BREMFOREBEEHELHHETFE=
77 B AR BEFITER M B RAME
15
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15. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and

15. HE

REBER/FEEA

(a)

ERAEEE

FARKENEREEENREER

the movements during the year are as follows: FEINT -
Office premises Software Total
WAEYE B4 #at
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETFT AREFT
As at 1 January 2022 20221 A1 8 3,103 - 3,103
Additions NE - 70 70
Disposals HE (1,023) - (1,023)
Depreciation charged FAFTEER
during the year (1,365) 21) (1,386)
As at 31 December 2022 7R2022F 12 H31H
and 1 January 2023 & 2023%F1H1H 715 49 764
Additions RE 4,793 - 4,793
Depreciation charged
during the year FAFTEER (1,323) (35) (1,358)
As at 31 December 2023 MR 2023612 A31H 4,185 14 4,199

The Group has lease contracts for various items of office
premises. Leases of office premises generally have lease terms
between 2 to 8 years. The lease term of software is 2 years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

15. LEASES (continueq) 15. HE &
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AREBERBEEAN #)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEAE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements FAHEAGNRRERESHT :

during the year are as follows:

2023 2022
2023 2022 £
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AREET T

Office premises WAEYE
Carrying amount at 1 January »1 A1 HE/EREE 811 3,253
New leases LIk 4,793 70
Disposals HE - (1,124)
Accretion of interest recognised FNFERHFEIZ AN

during the year 140 134
Payments IR (1,346) (1,522)
Carrying amount at 31 December 712 A 31 HRRREIE 4,398 811
Analysed into: WAk i

Current portion BN ER 2,201 319

Non-current portion FEENEA 2,197 492
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PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

1 -
15. LEASES (continued) 15. tHE (&
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AREBIERBAEAN (#)
(c)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are () REZARRHEHEMESENAT
as follows:

2023 2022
2023 2022 FF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Expense relating to short-term HEHHEMREEEERERBNGH

leases and leases of low-value T GIATTHRAX)

assets (included in administrative

expenses) 289 372
Depreciation charge of right-of-use EFAEEENITEE A

assets 1,358 1,386
Interest expense on lease liabilities & & EHIFEF 2 140 134
Total amount recognised IR ERNASE

in profit or loss 1,787 1,892
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B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

15. LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessor

The Group leases certain of its building units and equipment under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for buildings and equipment
were negotiated for terms of one to six years. Rental income
recognised by the Group during the year was RMB2,090,000 (2022:
RMB2,054,000), details of which are included in note 5 to the financial
statements.

At 31 December 2023, the undiscounted lease payments receivable
by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating leases
with its tenants are as follows:

15. HE =

REBE/SHEA

AEBEBREBECEHEZHERETETFE
UREE - EFEREENHEBREA—=
NEARNFE AEBBEROHAS KA
B AR®2090,0007T(20224F : AR ¥
2,054,0007T) © EFEE NS ®wEKMTE
5 o

A2023412 A31H » REBEF AR
RIFEEAFO T REEEEAERNEK
RITIRAEMZT -

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR AR¥ETT

Within one year —FR 1,744 1,400
After one year but within two years ~—FREMFNA 1,454 1,443
After two years but within MERB=FNK

three years 1,465 1,454
After three years but within —HFRENFR

four years 733 1,465
After four years but within five years EAFZERFR - 733
Total #Et 5,396 6,504
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PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. HWEFEE
Software Copyrights Total
04 ZE1ER et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AR®TR AR¥TR

31 December 2023 2023412 H31H
At 1 January 2023: R2023%F1 A1H :
Cost PR 3,437 29,820 33,257
Accumulated amortisation RETHEH (2,266) (26,032) (28,298)
Net carrying amount IR FE 1,171 3,788 4,959
At 1 January 2023, net of R2023%F1 A1H Mk
accumulated amortisation B 1,171 3,788 4,959
Additions NE 33 187 220
Amortisation provided FEE RS
during the year (839) (3,197) (4,036)
At 31 December 2023, net of 202312 A31 H » Mk
accumulated amortisation RETHEGH 365 778 1,143
At 31 December 2023; R2023F 12 A31H :
Cost PR 3,470 30,007 33,477
Accumulated amortisation Rt (3,105) (29,229) (32,334)
Net carrying amount BREFE 365 778 1,143
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B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 16. EttEBFEEE @)
Software Copyrights Total
B Z1EE 4zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT AREBTE

31 December 2022 202212831 H
At 1 January 2022: R2022F1A1H -
Cost B#N 3,262 30,837 34,099
Accumulated amortisation RETHESH (1,344) (26,681) (28,025)
Net carrying amount BREVFE 1,918 4,156 6,074
At 1 January 2022, net of R2022%1 A1H » Mk
accumulated amortisation RET#EH 1,918 4,156 6,074
Additions NE 175 4,404 4,579
Amortisation provided FEEHEHE
during the year (922) 4,772) (5,694)
At 31 December 2022, net of MR2022F12 A31 H » Mk
accumulated amortisation RET#H 1,171 3,788 4,959
At 31 December 2022; R2022F 12 A31H :
Cost %N 3,437 29,820 33,257
Accumulated amortisation BN i (2,266) (26,032) (28,298)
Net carrying amount BREEE 1,171 3,788 4,959
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PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

17. BIERIBEE
R EAER ST -

17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as follows:

Contract Impairment Tax Accrued

liabilities of assets losses expense Total
cRBE EERE HBEER  EHEA @Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREBTT AREBTT AR®TE ARETR

At 1 January 2022 20221 F1H 23,845 1,357 7,027 319 32,548
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to ~ INFRRIERF
profit or loss during the year (308),/FH AR
BRI (5,257) 336 (634) (318) (5,873)
At 31 December 2022 and at R2022F12 431 H
1 January 2023 N 2023%F1A1H 18,588 1,693 6,393 1 26,675
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to ~ IFRRERF
profit or loss during the year (308) /FF AR
EERIE (7,126) 2,347 (6,393) 10 (11,162)
Deferred tax assets at M2023F 12 A31 HE
31 December 2023 BIEHIEEE 11,462 4,040 - 11 15,513

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has tax losses arising in Chinese
Mainland of RMB302,252,000 (2022: RMB164,195,000) that will
expire in one to ten years for offsetting against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the above
items as it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available in the foreseeable future against which the tax losses can be
utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Chinese Mainland. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 August 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied
if there is a tax treaty between Chinese Mainland and the jurisdiction
of the foreign investors. The Group is therefore liable for withholding
taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in
Chinese Mainland in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008.

No deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that
would be payable on the unremitted earnings of RMB28,199,000 as
at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB88,325,000) that are subject to
withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Chinese
Mainland. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future.
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B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

18. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

18. IEER QA REEFT AEM
EEBENRERE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR ARETT

Equity investments designated

at fair value through other RERE
comprehensive income

Unlisted equity investments, at fair ~ FF ETRIERE - WA REEAE
value

EERAABEESARMEEKEN

28,000 28,000

The above equity investments were irrevocably designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income as the Group considers
these investments to be strategic in nature.

19. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

HAARER S LR EBEREE - &
it iR A B A BRI IR E AR AT
EBEFAHBZEYE

19. HtIERBEE

2023 2022
2023 2022 F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 AR¥T T AREFIT
Net investment in a lease HEFHE () 284 751
Long-term receivables RAEAEW IR 201 -
485 751
Note: Mzt -

The Group entered into a finance lease arrangement for digital
and smart classroom solutions, pursuant to which, the Group has
transferred substantially all the significant risks and rewards of the
products. The net investment in a lease represented the present value
of the lease payments and the finance income on the net investment is
recognised in other income and gains based on a constant periodic rate
of return at 4.75%.

AEERBERBERRS R UBERE
T Bt AEBE D ERERNBAID
AEARBKRER - HEFREEHEEN
FEE O FRE NV SRR E T 8 H 6l
WK 4.75% R EAA RIS IR o

=

e s
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31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

20. INVENTORIES 20. ZE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 £
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Raw materials R 133,397 182,244
Finished goods BURY G 72,552 33,358
Work in progress TR 3,490 30,110
Goods in transit EREY 8,240 10,143
Subtotal INEF 217,679 255,855
Provision BE (21,121) (9,140)
Total FEET 196,558 246,715
[=w] =+,
21. TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. B EIRFIE
2023 2022
2023 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T ARBT T
Trade receivables = e 20,051 30,480
Impairment A (4,929) (2,150)
Net carrying amount REFE 15,122 28,330

The Group granted credit periods to its customers (other than direct
sales to end users). The credit period is generally one month. The
group granted extended credit terms for several distributors during
the year to explore new business initiatives and potential monetisation
opportunities. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade
receivable balances. The balances of trade receivables are non-

interest-bearing.
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B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 21. B

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance,

Z FEWERIE ()

RBERAREREER R NGEERE
HB Z BB RRRD T -

is as follows:
2023 2022
2023 2022 &
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Within 30 days 30K 9,074 20,650
31 to 180 days 31 & 180k 5,528 5,508
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365K 520 2,172
Total a5t 15,122 28,330

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

B I RMFIRRERBERENESIT

2023 2022
2023 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR ARBTTT

At beginning of year F4 2,150 789
Impairment losses, net B AR FEE 2,779 1,361
At end of year FR 4,929 2,150

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision
rates are based on the ageing of trade receivables for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns. The
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs for trade
receivables. Trade receivables relating to customers with known
financial difficulties or significant doubt on collection are assessed
individually for impairment allowance. The remaining trade receivables
are grouped and collectively assessed for impairment allowance.

The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.

REREBHERBRBREETRED
i Ut EREEEEE - BEXERA
BRUBBEANZEZEFOMEEES
FEWGRIR R BRIREEE - AR BREAEA
AHEESREANEREERE - R0
MEEMBRBENTP B FEEALR
FE’JTT%FH&Z%E%%EWEWEE’E{% ° %
BB 5 RWGIRETT Y I R RE
B

BRIt ERRATEEEINEAER - E%ERE
EBEMESAHEBBEEMF - REMRR
&ﬂﬂ(i‘“/ﬁﬂﬁ/ﬁﬁ BRI A SR IR R A S HF
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31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

[ =3 =+,
21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21. BB EWIE @)
The Group writes off trade receivables when there is information ERAMEARSHEHTFENBREV HEE
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulties and Fr - BEEERKER AR (PN 58 F
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty EWERNEEARERT  UBREEA
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy £ ANEBBTIEEE S EWGE - WIE
proceedings, whichever occurs sooner, also taking into account legal BHEBEATEREEZER -
advice where appropriate.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the AT EEAREEE S EBGIERER
Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix: BiEERBENEERBROER
As at 31 December 2023 A2023F12A31H
Expected Gross Expected Net
credit carrying credit Carrying
loss rate amount losses Amount
BHEE EHEE
BRE FREAE B BREFE
% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR®TR AR¥TR
Provision on an individual basis 5112 (JABEBE ) 100.00% 826 826 -
Provision on a collective basis R (AR EE)
Aged less than 30 days DHB0K 0.01% 9,075 1 9,074
Aged 31 to 180 days 312180k 7.05% 5,947 419 5,528
Aged 181 to 365 days 181 £ 365K 42.67% 907 387 520
Aged more than 365 days 38 365 K 100.00% 3,296 3,296 -
Total “act 24.58% 20,051 4,929 15,122
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31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

=+,
21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21. B 5 EWFRIE @)
As at 31 December 2022 72022612831 H

Expected Gross Expected Net
credit carrying credit Carrying
loss rate amount losses Amount

TEEEE TEEMEE
sagisES IRMEB(E Jagi] REFE

%  RMB'0O00  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT AREBETT ARETT

Provision on an individual basis 5132 (LABSIBE &) - - - -

Provision on a collective basis TR (ASREEE)
Aged less than 30 days 2PN 0.02% 20,654 4 20,650
Aged 31 to 180 days 31E180K 0.16% 5,517 9 5,508
Aged 181 to 365 days 181 & 365k 6.30% 2,318 146 2,172
Aged more than 365 days fRiE 365 X 100.00% 1,991 1,991 -
Total AT 7.05% 30,480 2,150 28,330
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31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

22. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS

22. AR~ HEREIER

p2d
HiEE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 &
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARET T

Prepayments SEENE S 17,744 9,509
Deposits and other receivables e REAMERGRIE 15,129 28,387
Long-term receivables within —FRREARRGIE

one year 1,006 489
Net investment in a lease — current  HEFRE — B 748 586

34,627 38,971

Impairment RE (1,191) (318)
Less: Ak
Portion classified as non-current DERIEMENEEE S

assets (1,000) -
Total wsEt 32,436 38,653

ECLs are estimated by applying a loss rate approach with reference
to the historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted
to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions, as appropriate.

Except for a net investment in a lease, the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets above are interest-
free and are not secured with collateral.
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B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 23. B AREBETAEBEN S

PROFIT OR LOSS RLEE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Listed equity investments, FTRERE - BAREBERE
at fair value 15,110 34,226
The above equity investments were classified as financial assets at FRERETD ARSI MESHE - WA
fair value through profit or loss as they were held for trading. RUARREETABRNEREE °
24, CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND TIME 24, RERRESEEBYWURE
DEPOSIT BRI
2023 2022
2023 &£ 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMET T ARBFIT
Cash and bank balances He RIRTT4EH 351,522 149,041
Time deposit TE BT 51 = 345,889
Subtotal INEE 351,522 494,930
Less: Time deposit A EAIER = 345,889
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEFEY 351,522 149,041
Denominated in: AT fEHE -
RMB AR 88,666 95,569
United States dollars (“USD”) Em(l%Em]) 230,454 52,688
Hong Kong dollars (‘HKD”) B ([#&m]) 32,402 784
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEED 351,522 149,041
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24,

25.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND TIME
DEPOSIT (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the provisions for impairment of
cash and cash equivalents were assessed to be minimal based on
12-month ECLs.

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between one day to three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective
short-term time deposit rates ranging from 2.99% to 5.45%. The
bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.

TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and normally settled on
terms of within 90 days.

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

24,

25.

HERREEEBYURE
HR1E K o)

R20234 2022612 A31H B4 Kk
ReZEMRNRAERBERIE12EATEH
SEEBHATEK -

ARBTAIEmARSHEMER - BIRE
R ECIMNEE IR IRDI) R(EIE - EIE
RNEEEMRE)  AREEAS BERE
RENEXBNRITHBARBLRAEMD

B o

RITIE S RIEST BRITERMRILZZEHF
TBEEFE - WHATFBERIBHETE
H—RE=EATE  RELAEEHE
BN Sk i - WIRER S B 805 2 E B
TR F R (N F2.99% E 5.45%) B B F
B o RITEBTIONMEE R I B\ B
RFIBFLERHIRTT o

B 5 B0

HSmREARE - A—RARWOEN
5 -

RBERRENEERHRNE F RN KA
BREEDTIAT -

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T T AREFT

Within 90 days 90 XA 34,815 85,395
91 to 180 days 91 E 180K 966 1,875
181 to 365 days 181 £365X 17 740
More than 365 days 365 KA 504 106
Total “aEt 36,302 88,116
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31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

=+ =
26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND 26. HMtEFIE - BFTEA
==
CONTRACT LIABILITIES ReEHNEaE
2023 2022
2023 &£ 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
P5E AR¥T T ARBTIT
Contract liabilities — current AHBEE - RE 69,856 96,044
Payables for salary and welfare e T ® R AEN 11,056 15,439
Payables for services FEI BRTS & 8,266 2,233
Accruals for sales rebates FERTSHEITE 1,560 2,489
Other tax payables HAbERTIIE 2,196 4,119
Product warranty provision EmRIEERE () 5,729 7,388
Others Hh 8,708 5,268
Total #Et 107,371 132,980
Contract liabilities — non-current aREaE — IERY 17,264 32,027
Contract liabilities represent advances received from customers for SHBAEERREHE T HEE RN
provision of digital educational resources and services. MR UEE R -

Other payables and accruals are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and
expected to be settled within 12 months. HEtENFIBEREFERARSELRR 28
NIEERE R+ B A RNEEF -
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26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND
CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

(i) Product warranty provision

6. HMLEIFIR - BETEH

)N E= IN=RAC §)
() EmrRiEERE

RMB’000

ARET R

At 1 January 2022 R2022%1H1H 8,019
Additional provision REINE A 20,184

Amounts utilised during the year FANEAFHIA (20,815)

At 31 December 2022

and at 1 January 2023 7R2022% 12 431 H &M 20283F1 A1H 7,388
Additional provision REINEE 22 481
Amounts utilised during the year FANBAKIE (24,140)
At 31 December 2023 720234 12 31 B 5,729

The Group provides one-year warranties to the end users
on devices for general repairs of defects occurring during
the warranty period. The amount of the warranty provision is
estimated based on sales volumes and past experience of the
level of repairs and returns. The estimation basis is reviewed on
an ongoing basis and revised where appropriate.

27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

2023
2023 F
Effective
interest rate Maturity

BRA= B8R

AEBE N E (R AEE R R —RAERE
AREHRRBPREE—FER - HRE
BEREIRBHE KBERE FREIKF
M SR e - ARERFER A E
ENEBEERRELERT -

27. T RIRITIER

2022
2022
Effective
RMB’000 interest rate Maturity RMB’000

ARBTR ERME HER ARETE

Current BN
Bank loan-unsecured BITER — BIEA 3.0%-3.2% 2024

55,310 - - -
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31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

28. SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES

28. IRA N EfF IR

2023 2022
2023 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Authorised: VAT ¢
10,000,000,000 10,000,000,000 fi% (2022 £ :
(2022: 10,000,000,000) 10,000,000,000 %) X HE &
ordinary shares of HKD0.001 0.001 B TH) E ik
each 10,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITREE -
352,000,000 (2022: 352,000,000) 352,000,000 fi% (2022 % : 352,000,000
ordinary shares of HKDO0.001 %) SRR E(E 0.001 oA A
each 302 302
The movements in the Company’s share capital are as follows: RAFIRAEE AT -

Number of Treasury
shares in issue Share capital shares
2RITREEE &N EFRS

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

BisE ARBTT ARBTF T

At 31 December 2021 R2021F12 431 H @) 1,067,288 1 -
Issue of ordinary shares upon TR T2 EiBR

listing @) 52,000,000 45 -
Issue of ordinary shares upon ~ REMMLILIEHITZ &l

capitalisation & (4) 298,932,712 256 -

At 31 December 2022 2022412 A31H 352,000,000 302 -

Shares repurchased [mhiEEdgr) (5) - - (131,202)

At 31 December 2023 2023412 A31H 352,000,000 302 (131,202)
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28. SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES

(Continued)

Notes:

)

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Act as an exempted company with limited liability on 8
February 2021 with authorised share capital of HKD380,000 divided
into 380,000,000 shares with par value of HKDO0.001 per share. At the
time of incorporation, the issued share capital of the Company was
HKDO0.001, with one share of HKD0.001 and held by Charlotte Cloete,
an independent third party for a consideration at par value. On the same
date, the aforementioned one share was transferred to Eminent Future
Holdings Limited, and an aggregate of 999,999 shares with par value
of HKDO0.001 per share were allotted and issued to (i) Chance High
Developments Limited, (i) Driving Force Global Limited, (iiij Eminent
Future Holdings Limited, (iv) Excellent Zone Holdings Limited, (v) Rapid
Gains Developments Limited, (vi) Robbinsville Limited, (vii) Sky Focus
Holdings Limited, (viii) Trade Honour Holdings Limited, (ix) Glorious
Achievement, (x) Golden Genius, and (xi) Mr. Cheng Yangshi. On 24
March 2021, 44,403, 18,308 and 4,577 shares with a par value of
HKDO0.001 per share were allotted and issued to Glorious Achievement,
Golden Genius and Mr. Cheng Yangshi, respectively.

On 21 June 2022, the authorised share capital of the Company was
increased from HKD380,000 divided into 380,000,000 Shares of
HKDO0.001 each to HKD10,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000
Shares of HKD0.001 each by the creation of additional 9,620,000,000
new shares of a par value of HK$0.01 each, all of which shall rank pari
passu in all respects with the existing Shares.

On 24 March 2021, the Company issued an aggregate of 67,288
shares with a par value of HKD0.001 each to Glorious Achievement,
Golden Genius, and Mr. Cheng Yangshi, for a total consideration of
USD22.7 million (equivalent to RMB147.0 million).

In connection with the listing of the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange, 52,000,000 new ordinary shares with a nominal value of
HKDO0.001 each were issued at a price of HKD7.60 per ordinary share
for a total cash consideration of HKD395,200,000, before deducting
underwriting fees, commissions and related expenses. In addition,
298,932,712 shares were issued by way of capitalisation. Dealings in
the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange commenced on 12
July 2022.
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28. IRAN EF IR &

QA R2021 62 A8H R A RE
EREREIMKNLIAEREARR
Al A TE R AN /380,000 T 9D A
380,000,000 f% & A% ™ {E0.001 7 7T #Y
Bt o MM IE - AARBEEITR
7N /0.001 % 7o (— R &20.001 % 7T ) I
M ¥ 37 5 = 5 Charlotte Cloete % ® &
REFE-FAA - Fl—REROEET
Eminent Future Holdings Limited * 3716 ()
Chance High Developments Limited - (ii)
Driving Force Global Limited - (i) Eminent
Future Holdings Limited - (iv) Excellent
Zone Holdings Limited ~ (v) Rapid Gains
Developments Limited - (vi) Robbinsville
Limited ~ (vii) Sky Focus Holdings
Limited * (viii) Trade Honour Holdings
Limited * (ix) Glorious Achievement * (x)
Golden Genius & (xi) 2 /¥ )& 5t 4 B 3 &
%17 & $£999,999 % & % M 18 0.001 7
TR R D o R2021F3 H248 + o 7l
44,403 % - 18,308 % K& 4,577 % & ik
[ {80.001 8 7T & i {0 & i 3 2 397 T
Glorious Achievement + Golden Genius
BARSAE -

MR20226E6 A21H & R 7%k E K
78 F3380,00078 Jt( % A380,000,000
% = BX E E0.001 78 ST AR 1) 1 N =
10,000,000 7T ( % /A 10,000,000,000 A%
FIREE.001 B ITHG,) » HAH
1#9,620,000,000 B¢ &A% E E0.01 B TR
Ftn - HIBEFRGOENE A EERE
B = EMHERER -

R2021F3A24H A2 A % Bl M
Glorious Achievement * Golden Genius
IR AERITA 67,288 B EE
0.001 BTk - BRER27THESE
TL(HENRARB147088T) °

MARABRDRB AT ETmE -
52,000,000 % & A% & 0.001 B 7T K #T
BREREREBR7.60BTZERT
LABE1T » 4838 (8 A& 395,200,000 7 7T
(RINBEHEER - B RAEBRS) © 11t
Gh 208,982, 712 KRR D E B BE AR
N FIAEETT o AR A RHD R 2022%7 A
12 BRBRRTES -



Notes to the Financial Statments

B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

28.

29.

SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

5) During the reporting period, the Company repurchased 17,301,600 of
its shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange at a total consideration
of approximately HKD144,216,586 (equivalent to approximately RMB
131,202,000) for a share award scheme which has not been granted
up to the year ended 31 December 2023.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statements of changes in equity on pages 192 to 193 of this annual
report.

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the par value
of the shares issued and the consideration received.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group represents (i) the capital
contributions from the then equity holders of the Group’s subsidiaries,
after elimination of investments in subsidiaries and (i) the waiver of an
amount due to a shareholder.

Statutory reserve

Pursuant to the relevant laws in the PRC, the Company’s subsidiaries
in the PRC shall make appropriations from after-tax profit to non-
distributable reserve funds as determined by the boards of directors
of the relevant PRC subsidiaries. In accordance with the Company
Law of the PRC, certain subsidiaries of the Group which are domestic
enterprises are required to allocate 10% of their profit after tax,
as determined in accordance with the relevant PRC accounting
standards, to their respective statutory surplus reserves until the
reserves reach 50% of their respective registered capital.

28.

29.

PRAR EFRG @)

BEE - (F

B)  RIREHE - AARBRRDERHERE
8 B <2 BT BE 1@ 17,301,600 A% B 1+ 42
KRB A4144,216,58678 7T (FHE R LA
R #131,202,0007T) - BEHEEEREZE
2023F 12 A31 BIEFEHARS -

fié 78

RERRERNFEASBENHFREEEIE
BN AFREINRE1NBELGAERE
BRET -

AR RE

Bt s (BiE 2 BT Y E E R B WA
B2 MHEHE

Ot

AEE A GHREEE ) HHEN T AR
BiEREREETFRAAEREREE AN
EE R (i) TR e R FRIA

EEEE

RBEFEBEEE  AABFETRARA
BEAESSETNSRERRNBER
ETADRFEBESD - BREFEARLRM
BRFE AKREETFRARRNED
X ARRBEAEETEEI ERMEEHR
BABEMI0%BREEE BNEERBRF
B BEERHFEEDSBEEMEARNS0% °
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30. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

30. HEF A H]

2023
2023
Notes RMB’000
B E ARBT T
Net assets disposed of: EHEEEFE
Property, plant and equipment M - WE MR 13 22
Cash and bank balances W& RIRTTEERR 1,077
Trade receivables H 5 EWGIA 86
Prepayments and other TR R I B Ath R R IR
receivables 1,210
Inventories PENSS 3,074
Trade payables B P ENFIR (1,733)
Accruals and other payables FEHE A K HoAd 5 500 (318)
Subtotal /NEE 3,418
Non-controlling interests IR (1,537)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEFARE 5 241
Total consideration BB 2,122
Satisfied by: SRTE
Cash Re 2,122

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect
of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows:

FHEEFRARNRE MRS EEYRAF
BT

2023
2023 F
RMB’000
AR%T
Cash consideration — received BUEIR S RE 800
Cash and bank balances disposed =~ 2 HER S RIRTTHEER
of : (1,077)
Net outflow of cash and cash REEFATANBEERREEEY
equivalents in respect of the TR e
disposal of a subsidiary (277)
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS
OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

(b)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had
non-cash additions to both right-of-use and lease liabilities of
approximately RMB4,793,000 (2022: RMB70,000), respectively,
in respect of lease arrangements for office premises.

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

3. At R ERERMEE

() EBFREXRSH

HE2023F12A31HIEFE - K
SEE@ENAEYENEELZHNGE
AREERMEBENIFREAED
B4 B AR 4,793,0007T (20224 -
AR 70,0007T) °

(b) REBEEBELENEEEZH

2023 2023 F
Interest-
bearing
bank Treasury Lease
borrowings shares liabilities
FEMITER EFRG HEAR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥TR ARMT T
At 1 January 2023 202351 A 1H - - 811
Changes from financing HERGMEF
cash flows 54,266 (131,202) (1,346)
New leases EARiED) = = 4,793
Interest expenses BiEEMNRAFE
charge to profit or loss FisZ 1,044 - 140
At 31 December 2023 202312 H31H 55,310 (131,202) 4,398
==

e s
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

3. EHBEERERMT @

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b) BETHELENEEES @)
(Continued)
2022 2022 F
Financial
liabilities at fair Amounts
value through due to Lease
profit or loss shareholders liabilities
BRANEE
T B
TRERl ENREFHE HEBE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARETTT ARETT
At 1 January 2022 R20224%1 F1H 120,365 117,561 3,253
Changes from financing cash ~ BERE MEE
flows - (117,561) -
Capital element of lease HEBEERS
liabilities - - (1,522)
New leases FARAY - . 70
Changes in fair value of financial RAEEF AR TR
liabilities at fair value through BENAAEBEEZD
profit or loss (8,635) - -
Transferred to share capital and 8B E AN # i
reserves (116,730) - -
Disposal & - - (1,124)
Interest expenses charge to BRGNS
profit or loss - - 134
At 31 December 2022 1 2022F 12 431 H - - 811
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS  31. §HIRE&RERMT @
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

() Total cash outflow for leases () EEAHEENERERH
Total cash outflow for leases included in the statements of cash AR ERERNEHEENRIRS
flows is as follows: T
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARBTT

Within operating activities REEEFEEN 289 372
Within financing activities REVEREIR 1,346 1,522
Total 5T 1,635 1,894
32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 32. ABE
As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant MN2023FE 12 A31H - AEBEWEEME
contingent liabilities (2022: Nil). RREME (20224 « £) ©
33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 33. B A R B R &R
BALANCES
The directors are of the view that the following companies are related BEERE U TRAARAFEHANER
parties that had material transactions or balances with the Group BEAX SSGEBHIREE T -

during the year.

(a) Names and relationships of related parties () B AHEE HaARBE
Name Relationship
B BE B%

Zhuhai Dreamcatcher Network Technology Company A company owned as to 51.02% by Mr. Chen Zhiyong and

Limited (“Zhuhai Dreamcatcher”) the remaining 48.98% by Mr. Qin Shuguang
WETESEENMRERAR ([HREEE]) B% DB AEMER 51.02% MR LA TR FI# 48.98% HY
~a]
Zhongshan Huitong Enterprise Investment A company owned as to 80% by Mr. Qin Shuguang and the
Management Center (Limited Partnership) remaining 20% by Ms. Liu Zhilan
RILTERPEREEEPL(BRERE) B TR 80% M BB A - HE A FIER 20% &I A 7]
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 33. @M ARG &R @
BALANCES (Continued)
(b) The Group had the following transactions with related parties (b) AEERARFFEERBETETUATR
during the year: 2
2023 2022
2023 2022 FF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARET T

Rental income from a related BB AESBA
party
Zhongshan Huitong Enterprise FLTERPEREETESRD
Investment Management Center (BRER) (W)
(Limited Partnership) (Note (i) 3 3
Lease expense paid to M BA R 5 XSS X
a related party
Zhuhai Dreamcatcher (Note (ii)) g E (5L (i) 350 344

Jianzhi (Hangzhou) Equity Investment 218 (F/l) g EE S &%
Fund Partnership Enterprise (Limited B3 (AR &R ) (M5 (i)

Partnership) (Note (iii)) - 1,108
350 1,452
Interest income from 1en [B8 B 75 U B 9 ) S A
a related party
Zhuhai Dreamcatcher (Note (iv)) B (M (v) 209 -
Purchase the share from B — & s B R G
a related party
Zhuhai Dreamcatcher (Note (v)) B (M v) - 28,000
Notes: P5T
()  The Group leased a property to Zhongshan Huitong Enterprise 0] AEEMFPILTMEBRDEREEE
Investment Management Center (Limited Partnership) for office Pl (BRER) BE— B EENR
use. REMRE -
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

(i

V)

The Group leased properties from the Zhuhai Dreamcatcher
for office and dormitories use. The monthly lease payable was
determined on a basis mutually agreed by both parties with
reference to the prevailing market rent of similar properties
located at the surrounding area available to independent
third parties. As at 31 December 2023, right-of-use assets
of RMB414,000 (2022: RMB714,000) and lease liabilities of
RMB492,000 (2022: RMB810,000) in respect to the leases
were recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position. During the year, depreciation of right-of-use assets of
RMB300,000 (2022: RMB300,000) and an interest expense
on the lease liabilities of RMB31,000 (2022: RMB45,000) were
charged to profit or loss.

The Group leased properties from Jianzhi (Hangzhou) Equity
Investment Fund Partnership Enterprise (Limited Partnership) for
office use Since 25 November 2021. The monthly lease payable
was determined on a basis mutually agreed by both parties
with reference to the prevailing market rent of similar properties
located at the surrounding area available to independent third
parties. The lease has been ceased in 31 December 2022 as a
result of the deregistration of Readboy New Media Technology
(Hangzhou) Company Limited.

The loan to Zhuhai Dreamcatcher is unsecured and bears interest
at 3.95% per annum. The maturity of the loan is 31 December
2024.

The Group entered into the Share Transfer Agreement with the
Zhuhai Dreamcatcher pursuant to which the Group has agreed
to purchase, and the Zhuhai Dreamcatcher has agreed to sell
approximately 2.81% of the issued shares of the Guangzhou Aoyi
Electronic Technology Company Limited (B 8 E E 7 RHZAR (%D
BFR/AF]) at the consideration of RMB28,000,000 in 2022. The
consideration was determined after an arms’ length negotiation
between both parties.

33. B

(b)

(&)

e

(i)

(i

)

R RiEtk

(&)

REBRKGESHEMEENA
ENEERR - BRAEMHESIH
EHsEREEBREUMER
FRAUFEZHAMRTMIBHESE
RARGENELEETE - 7$2023
F12A31H BEAMENGRE
B E AR 414,000 7T (2022 4 -
AR®ET714,000)7T) RHEGEA
R #492,000 7 (20224 : AR
810,0007T) E R & Of B i Ak R &
PRER - RAFE - FREEER
B AR300,0007C (20224 : A
R #300,0007T) RFEEEERNF
BT AR®31,0007T (2022 F :
ABR#45,0007T) BB IR o

B2021 11 B25 B # > K& E
MRS (M) REREES SRR
2 (BERAER)HEMEERLE
®oBAENMHES I BREHESE
REZEEUMERFELE=
FEORITHSEHESREERBEN
EAEET - OB MN2022F 12 A
31 HEFEE I EE M (BN)
BIRARGHHMARLE ©

MG ESRECERAERTA
BEFEI.95%EE - EFREEHA
B2024F12 A31H »

NEE 2022 FEIR GBS E] 7
BRHERGE  BUHASEERE
BE mxeBZERELENRE
MBERETRBEROBERAFE
BIRMNE281%  REBARE
28,000,000 7T ° FRABHALET & T
NEEEBEE -
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BB ERZ RER =
BALANCES (Continued)
(c) Outstanding balances with related parties: () EEEEE A HIARERLEER
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARBTT

Amounts due from a related party FEULBFEE 5 7B

Zhuhai Dreamcatcher (Note (iv)) wgBE (M v) 5,123 -
2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARBT T

Amounts due to a related party PEA{S BB R 5 FE

Zhuhai Dreamcatcher (Note (vi)) g2 (FIEE Vi) 128 -
Notes: (Continued) MisT - (4&)
(vl The above related party transaction was conducted in i)  LutBEEE AR S TiRIEE S KRR
accordance with the terms mutually agreed between the R TRETT ©
both parties.
(d) Compensation of key management personnel of the (d) AEEFEEEABREHEN
Group
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Salaries, allowances and e EMREYES
benefits in kind 2,808 2,313
Pension scheme contributions RIRSETEIMHR 49 63
Total et 2,857 2,376
Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s BENRRITRABHFMAHE—FF
emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial statements. IBE TS RRMFES ©
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 4. RERESNEMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RAHZEHER  SEFESRTAMNER
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (ERCENE
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Financial assets at REBENTTENEREE
amortised cost
Other non-current assets HEMIERBEE 485 751
Trade receivables B 5 EWIA 15,122 28,330
Financial assets included in FFATE R - EfthEGRIA R At
prepayments, other receivables EENSRERE
and other assets 8,779 9,311
Amounts due from a related party — FEUEAEE 5 FRIE 5,123 _
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEY 351,522 149,041
Time deposit 7E BT 5R - 345,889
Total st 381,031 533,322
Financial assets at fair value BARBEFAEBZNESREE -
through profit or loss - MEEER LR
Mandatorily designated as
such
Financial assets at fair value through R A EEFT ABZNTREE
profit or loss 15,110 34,226
Financial assets at fair value BROAAEEFAHB2EKEN
through other comprehensive THEE - RERE
income - Equity investments
Equity investments designated EEZAAEEGT AR MR
at fair value through other iR &
comprehensive income 28,000 28,000
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34.

35.

296

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMET T AREF T
Financial liabilities at amortised REBHERATENSREE
cost
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTERITER 55,310 -
Trade payables B S IR 36,302 88,116
Financial liabilities included in other FTAEMENASRIARETERN
payables and accruals TRAE 24,263 17,378
Amounts due to a related party JE 1T A Bk 75 KT8 128 -
Total st 116,003 105,494

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets, amounts due
from a related party, trade payables, amounts due to a related
party, financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals and
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term
maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the financial controller is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The financial controller
reports directly to the chief financial officer. At each reporting date, the
finance department analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation.
The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial officer.
The valuation process and results are discussed with the board of
directors for annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:
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REESR

EEEDE  ReRR2FEY  E5
FEMGRIR ~ St ATER SR - B UG IR K
HibBEEMSREE - UM T30 -
BHRMNKIA G AR FKIA R &
ERNSREBEN A AEERAREER
5 EEARZETATNEBRARTE -

AEBERMHLEEENT BRI BE S
EERMTAAABENENBRLERF
MHRRERAERVBEER - RER
SRH - BBHIEsMeRTAEEN
B LEEHEMRNIEGARE &
FHBEeEMA M ERE  BERFEY
BREREFENmAERRIER -

ERMEERBBENAABERENRS (8
BB E L ERSN R8T BRETTTAR
BOSBAR - WA RBRARER
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35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 35. @RITENAABERA

Varay
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) REBEZH @
The fair values of listed equity investments are based on the closing ETRERE 2 AAEETAERT IS
price quoted in the active stock market. The fair value of the unlisted MPTHERAEM - ELTREZREN AR
equity investment has been estimated by using the market approach, EEDBARAMSEETER - ZEE
using the recent transaction price of the unquoted investments, in EERERERERIHZSHE - ST
arriving at an indicated value of the unlisted equity interest. LR AR 2 FRIR(EE -
Fair value hierarchy NABESHR
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of TRIVFALrEER TENAABENE
the Group’s financial instruments: ST
Assets measured at fair value: BARBEMNEE :
As at 31 December 2023 A2023F12A31H
Fair value measurement using
AREEFAERAUTEE
Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
IR RT S EATHE BEATTEE
HRE [IDN ¢ BWABE
(E—#) (B=#) (B=#) #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT AR®TR AR®TR AR¥TR

Equity investments EERANEBEA

designated at fair Hofth 2 T W 2 0 AR

value through other R E

comprehensive income - 28,000 - 28,000
Financial assets at fair value B AR BEF AlER

through profit or loss RSB E 15,110 - - 15,110
Total #Et 15,110 28,000 - 43,110
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35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

3. EMT AR ABERR

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022

AEEESK @
NREESHKE)

7A2022%F 12 31 H

Fair value measurement using

NABEERAATEE

Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
NGRS BAAEE BANAEE
BB AR B A BUR
(B—8) (B=%) (B=&) wst
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETIT ARBTT ARBTT
Equity investments EERANBEGT AHM
designated at fair 2EREHRERE
value through other
comprehensive income - 28,000 - 28,000
Financial assets at fair BARBEABED
value through profit or TREE
loss 34,226 - - 34,226
Total HE 34,226 28,000 - 62,226
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 36. TRIAEERE A ERBE

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash
equivalents, time deposit, and interest-bearing bank borrowings. The
main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as other receivables, other non-current assets, other
payables and accruals which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The directors of the
Company review and agree policies for managing each of these risks
and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s main businesses are located in Chinese Mainland and
the transactions are conducted in Renminbi. Most of the Group’s
assets and liabilities are denominated in Renminbi, except for certain
cash and bank balances, and time deposits denominated in HKD and
USD. The Group has not hedged its foreign exchange rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the
reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the Renminbi
against the relevant currencies, with all other variables held constant,
of the Group’s loss/profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value
of monetary assets).

FEENTIESRIAREREKRESE
BY - EMIFER M BRITER - %FE
MTANTIEZEENER/AKENZESHE
BE  ARENEBGLEERELSEH
heREENRE  WMEMEBYRHE  H
fIFREEE - HMENFUAREAER -

ARETRIAELENTERRAINER
% FEEEABRRAPDAESER - NARE
SEHLBTEEEZSEBROBOR - Hi#f
SN

S7INEEE JEL B

AEENEEXBHURNPBEKRERR S
BUAAREE - ARBREDEERR
B UARBE - R TRERIRITHE
BIANEHIFERAB TR ETTAHE - A&
[ 30 8 e EL NS [ Rl o

TERBREN AL EHEBTRHER
T AREGEMEEERMAIRA 2
B 95 85 AR BB AT S 4 R
B (R EAENAABERZD) -
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36.

300

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 36. RlAMEEEEREBEER
AND POLICIES (continuea) (#&)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) SN BBk (48)
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) in
(decrease) in loss/profit
USD/HKD rate before tax
Ex/BrEER BlAEE FE
EFH(FER) ®i Cfa)
% RMB’000
ARBTFT
2023 2023 F
If the RMB weakens against the USD MAREHETRE 5 11,523
If the RMB strengthens against the USD M AR HETHE (5) (11,523)
If the RMB weakens against the HKD i AR X B TiE 5 1,620
If the RMB strengthens against the HKD i AR H B THE (5) (1,620)
2022 2022 F
If the RMB weakens against the USD M AR HETRE 5 9,980
If the RMB strengthens against the USD M AR HETHE (5) (9,980)
If the RMB weakens against the HKD M AR H B Tz (E 5 8,972
If the RMB strengthens against the HKD i AR H B THE (5) (8,972)
Credit risk EERR

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties.
It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on
credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure
to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly
based on ageing information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification. The
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.
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31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain
concentrations of credit risk as 26% (2022: 31%) and 57% (2022:
59%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due from the Group’s
largest customer and five largest customers, respectively.

31 December 2023

36. TRIEREIEEERBER

(#)

EER MR ®E)

e Rk R FERMEER (&)

RBERR AEEGFE—TEWNEPE
EER - D RIB26%(20224F : 31%) &
57% (2022 4F : 59% ) K& ZEWGRIER B
RAEBSEATERAKXEF °

2023%F 1231 H

12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12BARHEEFR 2HRAEERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E-RE E-RE FER ki b
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETr AR®Tn ARETrn
Trade receivables BAENTE = = = 20,051 20,051
Financial assets included in prepayments, stATERH - B EAGIEREME
other receivables and other assets ERNSREE
- Normal* - [#” 8,170 - - - 8,170
- Doubtful* - WR - - 850 - 850
Amounts due from a related party eV R R 5123 - - - 5123
Cash and cash equivalents Be RS EEN
—Not yet past due - KO 351,522 - - - 351,522
Other non-current assets HtndEnggE
- Not yet past due - A 485 - - - 485
Total et 365,300 - 850 20,051 386,201
* The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other * EBETATEMNR - Efo R GRIE R E M E E

receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal” when they
are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be

“doubtful”.

MERAEET SN AYEENBERER
BEBVIRERNRNEERRERZE L
Ty REEEEWARIER] - BRI
CREENEELERRAS (] -
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

31 December 2022

36. e REMREIE B ERBER

(#)
EEER &)
BERBREREE @)

7A2022%F 12 31 H

12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
RERELREESE PEENEESE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-MRR FRE E Bz @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARBTT  AR®TR  ARETT ARBTR
Trade receivables EHRYE - - - 30,480 30,480
Financial assets included in prepayments, T AR - Kt EIFEL
other receivables and other assets EENEREE 9,311 - - - 9,311
Cash and cash equivalents BeRREEEN
- Not yet past due A 149,041 - - - 149,041
Time deposit THER
- Not yet past due R 345,889 - - - 345,889
Other non-current assets EdEngEE
—Not yet past due B 751 - - - 751
Total @t 504,992 - - 30480 535,472
Liquidity risk MENE &Rk
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring AEBRALEUHRBDES RS TAER

liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its
financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade receivables) and
projected cash flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity
of funding and flexibility through the use of internally generated cash
flows from operation and interest-bearing bank borrowings.
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36. TRLE R EIE B 2
(#&)

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 2 NIBUER

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESRER &)

AEEFE MR HERES AN AERE
AV ERBEITEMBELL

The Group regularly reviews its major funding positions to ensure that

it has adequate financial resources in meeting its financial obligations.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at the end of the
reporting period, based on contractual undiscounted payments, was

as follows:

31 December 2023

AEERREHRIRBE FARTIRA DN

TRAE

FEERAT

2023512 A 31H

Within 1 year 1to 5years Total

—FR —-ZREF @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ETR ARETR ARETR

Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTRIRITER 55,994 = 55,994

Trade payables B S B RIA 36,302 = 36,302

Financial liabilities included in other & AEAD R FRIE K fEAT &

payables and accruals AMeraE 24,263 - 24,263

Amounts due to a related party eI RS 75 FRIE 128 - 128

Lease liabilities HEAE 2,326 2,386 4,712

Total HEt 119,013 2,386 121,399

31 December 2022 2022% 1231 H

Within 1 year 1to 5 years Total

—FR —ERF et

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFTT AREFT ARETTT

Trade payables B S e IR 88,116 - 88,116
Financial liabilities included in other &t AELAth & (- 5018 &2 g 51 &

payables and accruals AremasE 17,378 - 17,378

Lease liabilities HEBE 350 512 862

Total “aEt 105,844 512 106,356
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 36. SRIEEEERENRBE

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it
in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject
to any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

The Group monitors capital using a debt-to-asset ratio which is total
liabilities divided by total assets. The debt-to-asset ratios as at the
end of the reporting periods were as follows:

(#)
EXEE

AEBEEANEENEIRZ B ERERASE
SEEENRIUARERBRNERNL
Ko PUSFREERH R ABRRF I AEE

REEZELBER A RBBEERNR
BRI BREBEEAREB W EHAESR
Woﬁfﬁh%ﬂﬁé$ g AEBESNE
FAREL A TFREMRS - RREREER
REITHIRG - NEEBTZERINPER
TR - REZE20283F12 A31B &
2022F 12 A1 HIEFE  AEEMNER
EEEEZ  BURIEFARBEZL -

AEERBEERBERERER » %X
BRABRMBEENE - REMSHR
MEERBRINT

2023 2022

2023 & 2022 £

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®F T ARETIT

Total liabilities weE 229,690 262,783
Total assets BEE 723,828 962,362
Debt-to-asset ratios BEBEX 32% 27%
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B R AR AL

31 December 2023 202312 A 31 H

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  37. ANA BB iEAR R &R
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company BEERRBRNHRERRYFARNEZOER
at the end of the reporting period is as follows: W
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARET T

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RFRAINRE 3,234 3,234
Total non-current assets BIERENE E 3,234 3,234
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Due from subsidiaries R A RIFUE 174,829 43,500
Prepayments, other receivables and  FEftER « Efh R UL kI8 K2 H & &

other assets 543 3,385
Financial assets at fair value through Z AR EBE AR S REE

profit or loss 15,110 34,226
Time deposit TEERTF - 325,563
Cash and cash equivalents Re kAeEEY 263,676 55,801
Total current assets WRENEE 454,158 462,475
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEEE
Other payables and accruals HEAuE R FRIB R EETE R 293 -
Total current liabilities BREAE 293 -
NET CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE 453,865 418,975

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #EERABER

LIABILITIES 457,099 465,709
Net assets FEE 457,099 465,709
EQUITY R
Share capital &N 302 302
Reserves (note) s (B sE) 456,797 465,407
Total equity AR 457,099 465,709

EEHBERARAT 305
2023 F FEHE



Notes to the Financial Statments

PR R AR AL

31 December 2023 2023F 12 A 31 H

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  37. A GBI AR R R @)
COMPANY (Continued)

Note: FHeE -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AARIEGBERENT -
Share Retained
premium profits Total
B 1 58 REBAE #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARET T ARET T

At 1 January 2022 Mm202241A1H - 13,317 13,317
Profit for the year FRHE - 18,730 18,730
Issue of shares BITRRD 338,712 - 338,712
Share issue expenses D EEITHZ (21,826) - (21,826)
Issue of ordinary share upon

capitalisation REREEEITEBR (256) - (256)
Transfer from ordinary shares

with redemption right A B BRI 116,730 - 116,730

At 31 December 2022 and 1 R 2022412 831 B 202341 A1H

January 2023 433,360 32,047 465,407
Loss for the year FAEE - (8,610) (8,610)
At 31 December 2023 R2023F 12 A31H 433,360 23,437 456,797

38. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 38. BT R‘RAVHLAE

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by S MERAESTR2024F3 27 8L
the board of directors on 27 March 2024, e RS T)EE o
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DEFINITIONS

In this annual report, the following expressions have the meanings set out below unless the context requires otherwise.

RAFFEREAN - RXESBPIEIN -

“2022 Annual”
[2022 F & |

“2023 Annual”
[2023 F4F[Z |

“Articles of Association”

[ EFZAHA ]

“Audit Committee”

EREI TS

“Auditor”
[ 2= ETAm ]

“Board”
a0

“BVI”
[(REBEARES]

“Capitalization issue”

[EAR 2T

“CG Code”
[EEERTA

“China” or “the PRC”

[ B

THARAERATEE -

for the year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12 A31 HIEFE

for the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 BILFE

the articles of association of Readboy Education Holding Company Limited
EEMHEERERATAMERMAA

the audit committee of the Board

EFEgETZBE

Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants
LOKGETEVEIGET - BMEGFHAD

the board of Directors of the Company

RAREEE

the British Virgin Islands
REEARHS

the issue of 298,932,712 Shares to be made upon capitalization of certain sums
standing to the credit of the share premium account of our Company as referred to
in the paragraph headed “Statutory and General Information — A. Further Information
About our Group — 4. Written Resolutions of the Shareholders Passed on June 21,
2022” in Appendix V to the Prospectus

AR FIIR & B BR A A T HEBRRR B 5T & AN 3517 298,932,712 ik AR fn - iRk =
BHEER DEER—KREH — A BEAEENE—FTER — 4.702022F 6 A 21
HEBnRREMRER ] —BRmt

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
LR AIMTERC1 FrEi 2 E AP R

the People’s Republic of China, for the purpose of this Annual report, excluding
Hong Kong, Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan

PEARANE  pliAFEREME TEEEE - FEIRFIFHTRENAE
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Definitions

“Company”
[ARAF]

“Contractual Arrangements”
[&#=HE]

“Consolidated Affiliated Entity”
[EHHEER]

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[ER AR

“Director(s)”

[E%]

“Driving Force”

[ Driving Force |

“ESG”
[ESG]

“Global Offering”
[ZIREE ]

“Group”
[AEHE ]

Readboy Education Holding Company Limited (8 £ B8 2k 5 4% % B R 2 7)), an
exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 8
February 2021
EERBHEERARA
[ NE|

C —EHR 2021 F2 A8 A ER SRS EMK I MER A

the series of contractual arrangements entered into by and among WFOE, Zhuhai
Readboy and the Registered Shareholders
HINEBEDE IWEEEBRE LRI LN — RIS HLH

the entity we control through the Contractual Arrangements, namely Zhuhai
Readboy
BIVEBENLHENMER - AIREEEM

has the meaning ascribed to it in the Listing Rules and unless the context requires
otherwise, refers to the controlling shareholders of our Company, namely Mr. Chen,
Mr. Qin, Sky Focus, Kimlan Limited and Trade Honour, and a Controlling Shareholder
shall mean each or any one of them

AR FTHRAETHRE - MXESEAEIN - IBARRFINIERAER - BIREAE
Z 5t~ Sky Focus * Kimlan Limited & Trade Honour » M —Z{ZAE AR RIS sk H
fEE—7

the director(s) of the Company
KARES

Driving Force Global Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI with limited liability
on 13 November 2020 and for holding certain Shares reserved for any future grant
of RSUs under the RSU Scheme, which is wholly-owned by Ms. Liu Zhilan, who is in
turn acting as the RSU Trustee

Driving Force Global Limited * —5R % 2020F 11 A 13 B E A B H R RS MK
VEBERAT - A BRIBEXRHIRG B SR OB HIRDEAMEE
5 TR - AEEE LT (HIEAZRIROBEMTZTAN) 2EHS

environmental, social and governance
R g NER

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Prospectus

BAEHBRERM THRE

the Company and its subsidiaries from time to time
RABRETENF AR
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Definitions

“HKD”
&l

“Hong Kong”
[&E]

“|CP License”
[ICPFFA] &
“Kimlan Limited”

[ Kimlan Limited ]

”

“Latest Practicable Date
[EERRAITHE ]

“Listing”
[T

“Listing Date”
[ 7 B A7

“Listing Rules”
[ Em#RAl]

“Main Board”

EXd
“Model Code”

[

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BREEEEET

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
FREB BT

Internet content provider license, a value-added telecommunications business
operation license issued by the relevant PRC government authorities with a service
scope of information service

EEEARITHET A E - BERT BRI RENIEETEXBREET
AR - HIIHE BRI EY ARG & E

Kimlan Limited, a company established in the BVI with limited liability and one of the
Controlling Shareholders being wholly-owned by Maples Trustee Services (Cayman)
Limited

Kimlan Limited * —RERBER REFSKINBRAR - BRERERRZ— " A
Maples Trustee Services (Cayman) Limited & & # 45

27 March 2024, being the latest practicable date for ascertaining certain information
for inclusion in this report

20243 27 B - A RHEEAREEFHEE TERNSKEERATAH

the listing of Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 12 July 2022
2022 7 A 12 BIRMHFEB R PAEIR L

12 July 2022 being the date on which the Shares were listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange
202257 4128 BIIRRBE A Fr AR _ TR B HA

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

B X FreE s L AR R

the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
B X FTER

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
LR AIMT 8 CIFT®E LT AZE T HITESF X HAIRLESFE
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Definitions

“Mr. Chen”

[BREAE]

“Mr. Qin”

(=54

“PRC Operating Entity”
[HPEE TR
“Prospectus”
[BRER]

“Readboy Technology”

[FEERRI

“Registered Shareholders”

[BRCRCR

“RSU(S)”
[ 2 BR &l A0 B |

“RSU Scheme”

[ SZBR FIR D BB fzat &)

“RSU Trustee”
[ ZBR BN B ZFEA

Mr. Chen Zhiyong, founder of our Group, a non-executive Director and one of our
Controlling Shareholders

REBSLLE  AEERIMA  SERITESREMNIERER 2 —

Mr. Qin Shuguang, chairman of the Board, chief executive officer, an executive
Director and one of our Controlling Shareholders

RENRL  BEFEELF  AFERTE WTEEREMOERERZ—

the entity which we control through the Contractual Arrangements, namely, Zhuhai
Readboy
BFERAOTHHERNELR - BINGEER

the prospectus issued by the Company dated 29 June 2022 in connection with the
Global Offering
AAREEH A A2022F6 420 HEHEE B ENBRER

Readboy Educational Technology Co., Ltd* (EZE#H BRI AR A R]), a company
established in the PRC with limited liability and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company

EEBHEREBRAR  —KEFRBKIMBERARF  AAARNEEZETA
Al

Mr. Shen Jianfei and Mr. Qin
LRIREERFTE

a restricted share unit to be granted under the RSU Scheme
RIS IR I A BE A2 51 819 0 S PR I A BE 2

the post-IPO restricted share unit scheme of the Company approved and adopted
by our Board on 21 June 2022, the principal terms of which are set out in the
paragraph headed “Statutory and General Information — D. Share Incentive
Schemes — 1. Post-IPO RSU Scheme — Summary of the Post-IPO RSU Scheme” in
Appendix V to the Prospectus
EEEN202246 A21 BHUEW KM AR R A B RARBEERZRBIRG ELLET
g EEXZRFENBRERZNMEE A DEER—MKER — D.RMHEDE — 1.5
RARBEERZRHBMEMTE — BARAREERZRHBOENFERE ]
—B&

Ms. Liu Zhilan, the trustee of the RSU Scheme
BIEBL LT - ZRHIRMDECGTEIZFTA
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Definitions

“Secretary”
[ ]

“SFO”
[ R85 N B 15 |

“Shareholder(s)”
&R |

“Share(s)”

[R5 ]

“Share Award Scheme”

[ B0 22t &1

“Share Option Scheme”

[FERcHE Rt &)

“Sky Focus”

[ Sky Focus |

4

“Stock Exchange’
[ B 32 P J

any person, firm or corporation appointed by the Board to perform any of the duties
of secretary of the Company and includes any assistant, deputy, temporary or acting
secretary.

BEF2ZARBRTARNAARWMERENTAEA - REHSCEE - BIEEMAEE -
BIF  EZAFEWE -

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEEDIEST1 BERHF REEERD - QTRER] - Fm s A B M7 R ek

holder(s) of Share(s)
BIVESZEPUN

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company with nominal value of
HKDO0.001 each
R BIR AR GAXEE 0.001 B TR iR

the share award scheme adopted by Company on 28 April 2023. The principal terms
of which are summarized in the announcement of the Voluntary Announcement -
adoption of the Share Award Scheme dated 28 April 2023.

RRRR 20234 4 B 28 BRI (0 BBEN AT 81 « H T 24BN 2023 4 A28
HERASE — ARG 2R8NS

the share option scheme adopted by our Company on 21 June 2022, the principal
terms of which are summarized under the paragraph headed “Statutory and General
Information — D. Share Incentive Schemes — 2. Post-IPO Share Option Scheme” in
Appendix V to the Prospectus

AR 2022466 A 21 BERMREBAERT ) - B F 2RFEANBRERM ST
DEER—MER — D.RMHEEEE — 2. B R REERERETS] —&

Sky Focus Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI with limited liability
on 9 November 2020 and one of our Controlling Shareholders, being wholly-owned
by Kimlan Limited

Sky Focus Holdings Limited * —Z %X 20204 11 B9 B ERBHER R B8 AT
AERAR - BEFZERER 2 — » B Kimlan Limited 2 & A

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEABMAERSMERAR
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Definitions
“Trade Honour”

[ Trade Honour |
“WFOE”

(S EE R
“Zhuhai Dreamcatcher”
[TREhIEE

“Zhuhai Readboy”

[TREEER]

Trade Honour Holdings Limited, a company established in the BVI with limited
liability on 13 November 2020, is one of our Controlling Shareholders and is wholly-
owned by Mr. Qin

Trade Honour Holdings Limited * —ZX 720206 11 B 13 BE X B#R R A B
WARDT - REMOIERKRE S — BREE2EHRE

Readboy Technology (Zhongshan) Co., Ltd* (:BZBEHE (1) BRAF]), a limited
liability company established in the PRC on March 22, 2021 and an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company

BEMRE (P BBRAT - —RN2021E3 A 22 BEFTERIMERAT A
RABHELEHEENF LA

Zhuhai Dreamcatcher Network Technology Co., Ltd* (JK/E B2 HERIFRAR QD
A]), a company established in the PRC with limited liability, is wholly-owned by the
Controlling Shareholders and hence a connected person of the Company
HKETMESREREBRAR  —REFENIMBERAT - BIERERRE2EH
B MARARIEEAT

Zhuhai Readboy Network Education Co., Ltd* (k)G B Z B PLEHUEFHR L 7)), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on November 24, 2017 and is our
PRC Operating Entity controlled via Contractual Arrangements
WEEENREEREER AR —KR2017F 11 A24 BEFRBEKZHER AR
RRIAE ORYIERIN PR L TS
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